
 
 

CABINET 

CYNGOR GWYNEDD 
 

DATE Tuesday, 28th March, 2023 

TIME 1.00 pm 

LOCATION Hybrid Meeting - Siambr Hywel Dda, Council Offices, 

Caernarfon, Gwynedd, LL55 1SH and on Zoom 

This Meeting will be webcast https://gwynedd.public-

i.tv/core/l/en_GB/portal/home    

CONTACT POINT Sioned Mai Jones 

01286 679665 / cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

 

GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET MEMBERS 
 

Members 

Dyfrig Siencyn Leader of the Council 

Nia Wyn Jeffreys Deputy Leader 

Craig ab Iago Cabinet Member for Housing 

Beca Brown Cabinet Member for Education 

Berwyn Parry Jones Cabinet Member for Highways, 
Engineering and YGC 

Dafydd Meurig Cabinet Member for Environment 

Dilwyn Morgan Cabinet Member for Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Elin Walker Jones Cabinet Member for Children and 
Young People 

Ioan Thomas Cabinet Member for Finance 

Menna Jones Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Support 

 

Complete Agenda

https://gwynedd.public-i.tv/core/l/en_GB/portal/home
https://gwynedd.public-i.tv/core/l/en_GB/portal/home


 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

 Item Submitted 
by 

Officer Page 

1   APOLOGIES 

 

   

2   DECLARATION OF PERSONAL 
INTEREST 

 

   

3   URGENT ITEMS 

 

   

4   MATTERS ARISING FROM OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY 

 

   

5   MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 7 
MARCH 

 

  4 - 10 

6   PENYBERTH, PENRHOS CARE HOME 
BUSINESS CASE 

Cllr. Dilwyn 
Morgan 

Aled Davies, 
Head of 
Adults, 
Health and 
Well-being 
Department 

11 - 
118 

 Appendix B and C are separate for Cabinet 
Members only.  
 
Both appendices are exempt under Paragraph 
14 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that 
information). 
 
The contents of the item includes commercially 
sensitive information regarding financial 
aspects of the project. This is relevant to a 
number of independent sector residential and 
nursing homes, particularly Appendix B and C. 
 

 

   

7   ONE-OFF BIDS 2023-24 

 

Cllr. Dyfrig 
Siencyn 

Dafydd 
Gibbard, 
Chief 
Executive 

 

119 - 
125 



 

8   YSGOL FELINWNDA 

 

Cllr. Beca 
Brown 

Garem P. 
Jackson, 
Head of 
Education 
and Gwern 
ap Rhisiart, 
Assistant 
Head of 
Department: 
Primary 

126 - 
186 

9   GWYNEDD LANGUAGE STRATEGY 
2023 

 

Cllr. Menna 
Jones 

Ian Jones, 
Head of 
Corporate 
Support, 
Llywela Haf 
Owain, 
Senior 
Language 
and Scrutiny 
Advisor and a 
Gwenllian 
Williams, 
Language 
Advisor 

187 - 
218 

10   GWYNEDD CIRCULAR ECONOMY 

 

Cllr. Dyfrig 
Siencyn 

Sioned E. 
Williams, 
Head of 
Economy and 
Community 
and Anwen 
Davies, 
ARFOR 
Regional 
Manager 

219 - 
224 

11   CYNGOR GWYNEDD'S RESPONSE TO 
THE WELSH GOVERNMENT'S 
CONSULTATION ON ESTABLISHING A 
STATUTORY LICENSING SCHEME IN 
WALES FOR HOLIDAY 
ACCOMMODATION 

 

Cllr. Dyfrig 
Siencyn 

Sioned E. 
Williams, 
Head of 
Economy and 
Community, 
Sian Pennant 
Jones, 
Tourism, 
Marketing 
and Events 
Manager and 
Gareth 
Jones, 
Assistant 
Head of 
Department - 
Environment 

225 - 
239 



Y CABINET  

 
THE CABINET TUESDAY 7 MARCH 2023 

 

 
Present - 
Councillors: Dyfrig Siencyn, Nia Jeffreys, Beca Brown, Berwyn Parry Jones, Elin Walker 
Jones, Menna Jones, Dafydd Meurig, Dilwyn Morgan and Ioan Thomas. 
 
Also present - 
Dafydd Gibbard (Chief Executive), Geraint Owen (Corporate Director), Huw Dylan Owen 
(Corporate Director), Iwan Evans (Head of Legal Services), Dewi Morgan (Head of Finance 
Department) and Sioned Mai Jones (Democracy Team Leader).  
 
Item 7: Garem Jackson (Head of Education Department) and Debbie Jones (Assistant 
Head: Corporate Services).  
Items 8 and 9: Sioned E. Williams (Head of Economy and Community Department).  
Item 10: Catrin Thomas (Assistant Head of Supporting Families).  
  
 
1. APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies had been received from Councillor Craig ab Iago. 
 
Cabinet Members and Officers were welcomed to the meeting.  
 

2. DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST 
 
A declaration of personal interest was received for Item 8 by the Head of Finance since 
his wife was a chief librarian in another local authority. This was not a prejudicial interest 
and therefore he did not withdraw from the meeting.  

 
3. URGENT ITEMS 

 
There were no urgent items.  

 
4. MATTERS ARISING FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
There were no matters arising from overview and scrutiny.  

 
5. MINUTES  

 
The minutes of the meetings held on 14 February 2023 were accepted as a true record.  

 
6. FFORDD GWYNEDD PLAN 2023-28   

 
The report was submitted by Cllr Dyfrig Siencyn.       
 
DECISION 
 
To approve the adoption of the Plan for the next five years (Appendix 1) which builds 
on the development of the work culture within the Council. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 5



Y CABINET  

 
DISCUSSION 
 
The report was submitted, explaining that "Ffordd Gwynedd" referred to the way of 
working that had been adopted within the Council in order to place the people of 
Gwynedd at the centre of everything. It was noted that it had been operational since 
2015 when the Plan had been adopted originally and that the previous Chief Executive 
had been a Ffordd Gwynedd champion. It was added that the current Chief Executive 
also wished to develop Ffordd Gwynedd further. 
 
It was noted that it was a journey to attempt to realise this culture and it was 
acknowledged that the Covid period had slowed down the progress that had been 
made. Gratitude was expressed to the Chief Executive and the Corporate Director, 
Geraint Owen, for their guidance and enthusiasm.  
 
The Corporate Director explained that the latest review of the Ffordd Gwynedd Plan 
had been held in 2019 when the current Plan was approved. It was believed that it was 
timely to update, amend and improve the Plan.  
 
It was reported that the Council's Departments had conducted a self-assessment of the 
progress as a basis to the latest review and that these self-assessments had been 
challenged by a working group of members of the Governance and Audit Committee. It 
was noted that the conclusions and recommendations had been submitted to the 
Education and Economy Scrutiny Committee in October 2022. 
 
To close, the proposed Plan for the next five years was submitted, which summarised 
what had been achieved to date and identified the main matters for the 2023-28 period. 
It was expressed that 9 sub work streams had been submitted in the Plan which could 
be seen in appendix 1 of the Report. 
 
The Chief Executive expressed his gratitude to the Corporate Director for leading on 
this work, as well as the working group. It was added that the Plan reflected on the 
lessons and barriers of the past, continuing with the basic principle of attempting to find 
better ways of providing what the people of Gwynedd need.   

 
Observations arising from the discussion 

 It was asked how this Plan corresponded with equality and ensured fairness to 
the people of Gwynedd, who were central to the Council's culture.  

 In response, it was noted that everything that had been included in the Ffordd 
Gwynedd Plan had been considered in the context of equality. It was noted that 
one of the Council's specific improvement priorities was Women in Leadership, 
which was an important part of this Plan. It was noted that equality and language 
main-streamed through all of the Plan's activities and was a part of the culture 
of the Council which had developed over a number of years. Pride was 
expressed in being able to support and promote this. 

 One of the Cabinet Members expressed that he had been a part of a working 
group that had been looking at Ffordd Gwynedd many years ago and that he 
strongly believed in this way of working. It was reiterated that everything needed 
to be looked at through the eyes of the people of Gwynedd. 

 The consideration of short processes and making improvements to them was 
welcomed.  

Page 5



Y CABINET  

 Enquiries were made about working across departments or with external 
partners, commenting that this could be cumbersome, considering the systems 
of some of the Council's key partners. It was asked how the discussion would be 
held with external partners should they ask the Council to provide something that 
is contrary to the Ffordd Gwynedd culture.  

 In response, it was noted that collaboration was essential, particularly in the Care 
field. There would be a need to ensure that the systems work well enough and 
focus on the customer. It was added that some of the Council's external partners 
had invested in the "Systems Thinking" system and that the Council would 
continue to attempt to influence its partners.  

 It was believed that the commitment to look at Council services through the eyes 
of the users deserved praise. It was acknowledged that this change would not 
happen overnight, however, praise was expressed that the Council was taking 
the opportunity to review and learn in order to ensure continuous improvement.  

 It was noted that attempting to overturn bureaucratic arrangements and returning 
to the principles of Ffordd Gwynedd was a task.  

 
 

7. ARFON POST-16 EDUCATION PROJECT  
 
The report was submitted by Cllr Beca Brown. 
 
DECISION 
 
To authorise further work to be done with the stakeholders who make up the Gwynedd 
and Anglesey Post-16 Education Consortium in order to develop possible models for 
post-16 education in Arfon which derives from the informal engagement undertaken on 
post-16 education in Arfon in the Autumn term 2020. 

 
DISCUSSION 
 
The report was submitted, which requested Cabinet approval to carry out further work 
with stakeholders which form the Gwynedd and Anglesey Post-16 Education 
Consortium in order to develop potential models for post-16 education in Arfon.  
 
A request was made to revisit the discussions held in the Autumn term 2020, and to 
encompass them into themes. It was noted that the experiences of the pandemic 
were likely to steer some consultations and now there were new considerations, 
bearing in mind that some time had passed since the original discussions. It was 
proposed to revisit the work in order to come to a conclusion in order to be able to 
offer the best education and experiences for the young people in the County.  
 
It was added that this matter had been under consideration for some time. It was 
reported that good consultation had happened with the Schools before the pandemic, 
but that the pandemic period had changed things, e.g. by finding different ways of 
teaching. Therefore, it was felt that it was timely to revisit the discussions and give a 
direction to the Schools in the County. 

 
Observations arising from the discussion 

 Reference was made to the observations that had been received from the 
consultation which noted that travelling far had a negative impact on the 

Page 6



Y CABINET  

education of post-16 learners as well as on the environment. It was asked 
whether things had changed since the Covid period and whether every option 
was still on the table.  

 In response, it was noted that the picture had changed since the pandemic, e.g. 
the distance learning that had happened during this period had expanded the 
possibilities. It was confirmed that every option would be considered but it was 
assumed that people would wish to see something in between, which 
strengthened the procedure. 

 It was expressed that the Cabinet had rectified one issue by abolishing the post-
16 travel pass. Now, it was believed that the choice had been expanded to the 
children and young people by enabling them to give consideration to provisions 
that are more appropriate to their needs, instead of restricting them to a specific 
location. 

 It was asked whether there were plans to look at the post-16 Education in Dwyfor 
and Meirionnydd. It was reported that no sixth form provision existed in these 
parts of the County and that many as a result travelled from Dwyfor to the Arfon 
area. It was believed that there was a need to look at the provision across the 
County. 

 In response, it was noted that the first step was to look at the Arfon area as this 
was where the sixth form existed. It was reported that it was proposed in the 
future to look more extensively across the County in order to reach the aim of 
rationalising the procedure across Gwynedd.   

 The proposal to revisit the provision was welcomed and it was believed that it 
was relevant to look at all ideas. It was asked whether demography would be 
considered as there was less funding for the primary schools. It was believed that 
it was important to look at the impact in the future. 

 In response, it was noted that it could take years for pupils to settle in secondary 
education and that small primary education establishments were at a 
disadvantage in terms of funding. It was confirmed that the Education Department 
was looking at this carefully and was seeking to make more efficient use when 
funding. 

 
 
8. CYNGOR GWYNEDD AS THE LEAD AUTHORITY FOR LMS CYMRU (LIBRARY 

MANAGEMENT SYSTEM) 
 
The report was submitted by Cllr Nia Jeffreys. 
 
DECISION 
 
Cyngor Gwynedd was authorised to act as the Lead Authority for LMS Cymru which 
means:  

 

 That the Cyngor Gwynedd Procurement Unit will undertake the procurement 
process for a new LMS which involves procuring a system on a framework, not 
only for the north Wales Library Consortium but for the Wales Library Authorities 
which are eager to be members of the LMS Cymru Consortium for the duration of 
the contract which will last 7 years from 2023/2024. 

 That the LMS Cymru arrangement is based on a Consortium Agreement that will 
commit every member to pay their full proportion of the costs, and any potential 

Page 7



Y CABINET  

costs such as redundancy costs, for the duration of the new consortium 
agreement.  

 As a part of the Consortium Agreement, to employ a LMS Support Unit staffed by 
3 full-time officers (neutral location) for the duration of the agreement. 

 
DISCUSSION 
 
The report was submitted, reiterating that the Council was asking to act in a lead role 
once again, but this time across Wales. Pride was expressed in the work of the Head 
of Economy and Community Department and the Libraries Service Manager and that 
they were ready to lead on the LMS Cymru work.  
 
The Head of Economy and Community noted that close collaboration had occurred with 
Libraries across north Wales, as well as the work of planning a new system. It was 
confirmed that it would be more effective for every County to work off the same system. 
 
It was reiterated that the Department was asking for the right to put themselves forward 
formally to be a lead body for LMS Cymru and consequently was asking for a formal 
procedure. 

 
Observations arising from the discussion 

 It was expressed that it was good to see Cyngor Gwynedd taking the lead again, 
and it was confirmed that the new system was being implemented across the 
whole of Wales.  

 It was assumed, in terms of resources, that the rest of the Local Authorities across 
Wales were contributing. 

 It was confirmed that this was correct; although it would not involve additional 
money for Cyngor Gwynedd there would not be additional costs for the Council 
either. It was added that the new procedure would ultimately be more effective 
for Local Authorities. 

 Gratitude was expressed for the report, noting that it was good to see Cyngor 
Gwynedd being progressive across Wales.  

 The Cabinet sent its best wishes to the Libraries Service Manager. 
 
 
9. LIVING LIBRARIES - GWYNEDD LIBRARIES PLAN 2023-28 

 
The report was submitted by Cllr Nia Jeffreys. 
 
DECISION 

 
To approve the Gwynedd Library Service Plan - Living Libraries 2023-28. 
 
DISCUSSION 

 
The report was submitted, noting that it was a pleasure to present it and everyone was 
encouraged to read the clear strategy which showed the work and roles of Libraries. It 
was reiterated that the Libraries played an important part in the lives of the County's 
children and the provision for children was reflected upon. It was added, following a 
recent visit to Porthmadog Library, that broader provisions existed within the Libraries, 

Page 8



Y CABINET  

such as games and Technological provisions, and that it was nice to see the Plan in 
real terms. 
 
Reference was made to the statistics in the 2023-28 Library Plan, reporting that almost 
30,000 people were members of Gwynedd Libraries. Over 1,500 free reusable period 
product packs had been distributed through the libraries; it was believed that this 
showed the difference in terms of the well-being of the lives of the people of Gwynedd 
which was being delivered by the Libraries.  
 
A report was given on the observations received from service users, which was included 
on pages 5 and 6 of the 2023-28 Library Plan, which showed the importance of the 
service for the people of Gwynedd. It was noted that the Libraries were evolving and 
changing by lending goods and providing advice to the County's residents. Pride was 
expressed in the strategy which ensured that the service was developing and providing 
for the benefit of the people of Gwynedd. 
 
The Head of Economy and Community added that it was a requirement on the Council 
under the Wales Public Library Standards to be publishing a Plan for Libraries. It was 
reported that the More than Books strategy used to exist but this Plan goes a step 
further and dispels the myth of libraries being quiet places. It was noted that the Plan 
showed that Libraries were places that are full of life and highlighted the recent 
developments and the variety within the Libraries. It was emphasised that reading 
continued to be important in the Plan as well as health and welfare matters, the Welsh 
Language, receiving information and the digital element. 
 

Observations arising from the discussion 

 It was believed that many saw Libraries as cosy and warm places to go during 
periods of cold weather, as well as places to socialise and read. 

 The report was welcomed. A comment was made that the word "Library" 
nowadays did not convey the provision, liveliness or enthusiasm existing around 
them.  

 It was asked whether the Libraries in Gwynedd provided PECS resources, a 
visual resource for autistic children or who had additional learning needs.  

 It was confirmed that a printing service was available in the Libraries, but there 
would be a need to check regarding the PECS resources and the Department 
would report back to the Cabinet Member.  

 The work of the Head of Economy and Community Department and the Libraries 
Service Manager was praised, noting that they were an example of implementing 
the principles of Ffordd Gwynedd and that they had pushed the Libraries' service 
forward. They were congratulated on the work.  

 
 
10. SUPPORTING PEOPLE'S WELL-BEING PROGRAMME 

 
The report was submitted by Cllr Nia Jeffreys. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
1.1. To approve the finalisation of establishing Supporting People Hubs in the 13 
regeneration areas.  

 

Page 9



Y CABINET  

1.2. Authorisation was given to commission the Supporting People's Well-being Service 
to assist residents with their well-being needs in the hub and in the area. 

 
DISCUSSION  
 
The report was submitted and it was noted that the Assistant Head of Supporting 
Families was key to this work and that she would explain more about the hubs and work 
that was being done. It was noted that the Supporting People's Well-being Programme 
was an example of cross-departmental work across the Council and that it had derived 
from the work of many services as well as external agencies or organisations such as 
Citizens' Advice.   
 
A summary was provided of the work and journey of the Supporting People's Well-being 
Programme by the Assistant Head of Supporting Families. It was reported that this 
report referred specifically to the network of hubs that had been located in Communities. 
It was explained that the hubs were attempting to bring the services of the Council and 
its partners closer to the residents of Gwynedd. It was noted that by now there were 11 
hubs operational in the County and that a large number of the needs coming through 
the doors of the hubs related to the cost-of-living crisis as well as matters involving 
benefits, council tax, access to fuel vouchers and advice on homelessness. 

 
It was reiterated that not everyone was involved with the hubs and that work needed to 
be done with some of the residents in order to assist them to re-connect with local 
networks. It was added that there was a desire to move on to commission the new 
service and finish the work of establishing the Supporting People Hubs in the 13 
regeneration areas in order to correspond with the regeneration framework.   

 
Observations arising from the discussion 

 It was believed that the hubs were very popular, and an example was provided 
of people queuing in Dolgellau to see the Energy Officer. It was felt that it was 
easy to gain access to the service and the work that had been done to establish 
the community hubs was praised.  

 It was believed that the hubs made accessing the Council's services easier, 
ensuring that people in the community obtained the information and support they 
need.  

 Gratitude was expressed for the report, and the Programme was welcomed, 
particularly considering the challenges facing residents in the community as a 
result of the cost-of-living crisis. 

 The reference to supporting community groups to establish Supporting People 
Hubs was praised, as well as the local knowledge associated with this, and the 
extension of this type of provision was welcomed.  

 It was noted that it was important to remember about the children and young 
people in the community and seek to attract and include them, keeping their 
needs in mind. It was believed that the Hubs could assist to provide somewhere 
for the children and young people to meet after School. 

 Pride was expressed in the collaboration with other stakeholders and that this 
was a step forward. Attention was drawn to recent praise by an external agency 
for the work of the Finance Department, specifically relating to the work of Council 
Tax and our collaboration with the County's residents.  The Head of Finance and 
the Officers were thanked for their work. It was reiterated that the praise for the 

Page 10



Y CABINET  

Finance Department was very high and that observations had been received from 
Citizens' Advice and that this work was an example for the rest of Wales. 

 Gratitude was expressed for the work and members were excited to see the Hubs 
developing and the Plan going ahead.  

 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 1:00pm and concluded at 2:00pm. 
 
 

 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 11



 

 CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 
Cyngor Gwynedd Cabinet meeting report 

 
1 DECISION SOUGHT 

1.1 The Cabinet is asked to approve the Strategic Business Case in Annex A, subject thereto, to 

 

1.2 Authorise the Head of Adults, Health and Wellbeing to submit the Strategic Outline Business 

Case to Welsh Government to seek £14.6million of Health and Social Care Integration and 

Rebalancing Capital Fund (IRCF) funding to create a public sector partnership development 

at the Penyberth, Penrhos site, in partnership with Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

(BCUHB) and move forward to develop an Outline Business Case. 

 

2 BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT 

 

2.1 Members will be aware that Gwynedd Council is already a residential provider of care for our 

residents. We have seen it as an important part of our responsibility as a Council towards 

our most vulnerable residents. In terms of residential provision for older people, the Council 

currently provides 50% of the total provision, with the independent sector providing the rest. 

 

2.2 Nevertheless, as members will be aware, all nursing home provision for our residents is 

provided entirely by the independent sector. The main reason for this is that it has not been 

legally possible for Local Authorities to actively provide nursing care. We are therefore totally 

dependent on the independent sector to provide this necessary nursing care to the 

population. 

 

2.3 The Government's views on the need to externalise provisions nationally have changed 

significantly recently. Members will be familiar with the White Paper on Rebalancing Care 

and Support which sets out the benefit of a more balanced care market. 

 

2.4 The Penrhos care home closed in 2020, and the site has transferred to Clwyd Alyn Housing 

Association and there is an agreement to transfer 2 acres of land to Gwynedd Council for the 

construction of a new care home on the site.  

 

2.5 As evidenced by the work of the Population Needs Assessment there are a total of 130 

residential beds in the Llŷn and Eifionydd Area, but after the Penrhos Nursing Home closed 

at the beginning of December 2020 there is no provision of nursing beds in the Llŷn area.  

The most recent data shows that an increasing number of our residents are in nursing 

Date of meeting: 28 March 2023 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Dilwyn Morgan 

Contact officer: Aled Davies 

Contact email: aled@gwynedd.llyw.cymru  

Item title: Penyberth, Penrhos Care Home Business Case 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consutation-document.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consutation-document.pdf
mailto:aled@gwynedd.llyw.cymru


 
settings outside Gwynedd, and many of these will be due to a shortage of beds in their 

community.   

 

2.6 A report was presented to you on 19 July 2022 to endorse the case for a change to create a 

public sector partnership development at the Penyberth site, Penrhos, in partnership with 

BCUHB. 

 

2.7 In that report the legal opinion outlined, “that the Council can provide Nursing care with the 

permission of the Health Board or by working in partnership with the Health Board”. 

 

2.8 Ongoing discussions with the Health Board indicate their support in principle for the change 

and are of course dependent on a viable business case.  The Health Board will discuss the 

business case during March. 

 

3. THE CASE FOR CHANGE 

Executive summary 

3.1 Currently there is an under-provision of nursing home places in Gwynedd, which is more 

acute in the Llŷn area, which has no nursing provision.  As commissioners, the Local 

Authority and the Health Board are therefore keen to explore how they can improve the 

current situation by themselves becoming providers of a care home with nursing. 

 

3.2 The new model of partnership working between Cyngor Gwynedd and Besti Cadwalader 

University Health Board (BCUHB) will support the rebalancing of the residential and nursing 

care market (for the Gwynedd area) by increasing delivery from the public / not for profit 

sector focused on delivering person centred outcomes for all. 

 

3.3 The Partnership would see a new care home with nursing being built on the Penyberth, 

Penrhos site to accomodate 32 residential dementia beds as well as 25 nursing beds of which 

15 would be prioritised for nursing dementia care. 

 

3.4 This Strategic Outline Case looks to bid for £14.6million of IRCF funding from the Welsh 

Government to build the new care  home, which would then be run by Cyngor Gwynedd and 

BCUHB through current revenue funding streams. 

 

3.5 The care home would be built on the Penyberth site which houses new housing with care 

developments undertaken by Clwyd Alyn Housing Association.  Both projects will be 

interdependent. 

 

3.6 The Penyberth, Penrhos Care Home with Nursing is a new kind of partnership that 

recognises the importance of cross sector collaboration to deliver the best outcomes for local 

residents and communities.  The project will be undertaken as a Partnership between Cyngor 

Gwynedd and Betsi Cadwalader University Health Board.  

 

3.7 A local, sustainable, and quality provision of care homes is an essential part of any health 

and care system.  Without such a provision, individuals will not be able to secure the best 

health and wellbeing possible; and the health and care system as a whole will be inefficient 

and ineffective in delivering on the health outcomes of the wider population. 

 

Page 12



 
3.8 As commissioners of care provision, Local Authorities and Health Boards therefore need to 

ensure that they have the appropriate number of homes in the right location and providing 

the right level and quality of care. 

 

3.9 For older people services in Gwynedd, in-house, public-sector provision has been a 

cornerstone of residential and residential dementia services within care homes. However, for 

nursing provision in care homes, all provision is currently provided within the independent 

sector. 

 

3.10 Currently there is an under-provision of nursing home places in Gwynedd, which is worse in 

some parts of Gwynedd, namely Llŷn and Meirionnydd.  As commissioners, the Local 

Authority and the Health Board are therefore keen to explore how they can improve the 

current situation by themselves becoming providers of a care home with nursing. 

 

3.11 The vision, objectives and scope of the project are closely aligned with the strategic 

objectives of the Welsh Government: 

 The Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act (2015) - the collaborative 

partnership project described in this SOC is particularly well aligned with the five ways of 

working, and this is reflected in the project’s Investment Objectives which are described 

in this SOC 

 A Healthier Wales: Our Plan for Health and Social Care – the partnership will address 

the key aims of working collaboratively and making the best use of resources to deliver 

the care closer to home 

 Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act – the act states the need to promote co-

operation and partnership working to promote integration of care and support.  The act 

also gives the powers to local authorities, with permission or working in partnership with 

the Health Board, to provide residential and nursing care  

 Rebalancing Care and Support – this project addresses the issues raised in the 

government White paper to rebalance the care and support market away from cost to 

quality and from outputs to outcomes. 

3.12 They are also in alignment with a number of strategic and policy documents referenced 

below, which have a significant impact and influence on the current and future direction and 

design of services in Wales and for this development including: 

 NHS Wales Planning Framework 2022 – 2025 

 Decarbonising Social Care in Wales 

 Health and Social Care Integration and Rebalancing Capital Fund (IRCF) – Priority 2 

 Living Healthier Staying Well: Working in Partnership to Improve Health and Deliver 

Excellent Care across North Wales. 

 

Gwynedd population needs assessment 

3.13 There are a total of 130 residential beds in the Llŷn and Eifionydd area but following the 

closure of the Penrhos Nursing Home at the beginning of December 2020 there is no 

provision of nursing beds in the Llŷn area.  

 

3.14 This means that people must travel to find suitable and qualified provision, increasing 

pressure on housing in the areas they would move to. We also know that some individuals 

Page 13



 
must look for locations outside the county which creates difficulty in terms of visiting and 

maintaining contact with families and it can be more difficult to receive a service in Welsh.  

 

3.15 75% of the Llŷn residential provision can be provided in the Dwyfor area, a figure which falls 

to 45.5% for nursing provision. In the County, 58.7% of nursing provision can be provided 

within the area, so a greater number of Llŷn residents must travel out of their community to 

receive nursing care. It is also likely that they must travel further to gain access. Llŷn is able 

to meet 75% of residential provision within an area, which is comparable to the County 

average of 75%. 

 
 

3.16 This Council continuously reviews the care home provision across Gwynedd and the impact 

of this development at Penyberth will be monitored in the surrounding area. 

 

4. WORKFORCE ISSUES  

4.1 It is acknowledged nationally that the care sector is facing huge challenges in staff 

recruitment and retention.  This project will look at workforce best practice to ensure high 

quality staff in the Llŷn area. 

 

4.2 Cyngor Gwynedd carries out recruitment campaigns regularly and uses various methods 

to do so. The campaigns are held locally by targeting specific areas and towns.  

 

4.3 Alongside our partners Cyngor Gwynedd are constantly seeking to change the perception 

that exists in terms of jobs in the care sector. Cyngor Gwynedd take opportunities to seek 

to highlight the wide range of opportunities that exist, the flexibility of the contracts that are 

available and also the benefits for staff.  

 

4.4 One aspect in particular that should be highlighted is the collaboration that is ongoing with 

partners to seek to further develop career pathways within the field. Cyngor Gwynedd 

appointed an officer in December 2021 to lead on this aspect and also to support the work 

programme in terms of holding events, various marketing methods, creating original and 

bespoke material, and identifying opportunities to improve work processes.  

 

 

 

Page 14



 
5. THE VISION 

5.1 The Llŷn community is known for its resilience and independence borne out of the 

surrounding geography and rurality. Traditionally, children have settled as adults nearby 

close to family members which has meant families have been able to step in to provide care 

for older relatives when necessary. However, this trend is becoming less prevalent and is 

likely to continue. This element of unmet need has to be considered within the overall 

service model. 

 

5.2 There is also wide recognition that the former Penrhos Polish Home model of care was very 

innovative in terms of keeping its residents well, independent, and out of care. It will be 

important to maintain and build on this ethos in terms of the future plans for the site. 

 

5.3 The service model should: 

 Maintain the current overall ethos - promoting quality of life, maintaining independence, 

ensuring wellbeing and reducing reliance on dependent care for as long as possible; 

 Deliver a spectrum of supported care - from minimal dependence (independent living 

apartments) to assisted living, with access to step-up/down care, to residential care and 

to nursing and end of life care, as determined by an individual’s needs; 

 Promote a flexible approach to the care home beds allowing flexibility in bed usage 

where possible to meet local needs rather than fixed / designated bed provision, thereby 

improving efficiency; 

 Recognise the importance of relationships (contracting) with the Third Sector to ensure 

service resilience (for example Mental Health); 

 Future-proof the overall provision taking into account older people population projections 

and current unmet need. 

 

5.4 The project’s vision is for a new kind of partnership, which thinks differently about the 

relationship between services and the community for the future.   

 

5.5 The project’s Investment Objectives are:   

Investment Objectives 

One To support the rebalancing of the residential and nursing care market (for the 

Gwynedd area) by increasing delivery from the public / not for profit sector 

focused on delivering person centred outcomes for all. 

Two To support the provision of care closer to home by improving the accessibility of 

residential and nursing care, ensuring provision of services in the Welsh 

language. 

Three To support sustainability of local residential and nursing care provision through a 

collaborative, partnership approach which will integrate with the wider spectrum 

of care delivered from the Penyberth, Penrhos site. 

Four To develop an innovative workforce model that will support the long-term health 

and social care sector with the potential for application in other areas of North 

Wales and create opportunities for training through Welsh Language. 

Five To ensure purposefully designed accommodation which will meet the care needs 

of individuals both now and into the future. 

Page 15



 
Six To deliver value for money through the efficient use of resources and delivery of 

environmentally sensitive accommodation that is carbon neutral.  

 

5.6 Key service requirements are the service changes required to meet the investment 

objectives described above.  The key service requirements for this business case are 

summarised in the table below.   

 

5.7 The site should be designed with flexibility for the future in mind. 

 Requirement Desirable 

Residential 
requirements 

 32 beds for dementia care 

 2 beds for respite care 

 Space on site to accommodate 

future needs.   

 Consideration given to Covid 

management, easy to isolate 

residents, air circulation, manage 

infection.  

 Consideration to RNIB 

requirements. 

 Toilet facilities close to communal 

areas but also private.  

 Proximity to nursing station and 

staffing. 

 Consideration given to planning for 

dementia residents, colour contrast 

etc 

 Safe outside space and visual 

interest.  

Nursing care 
requirements 

 25 beds of which 15 would 

be prioritised for nursing 

dementia care 

 2 beds for respite nursing 
care 

 A modular design approach to allow 

for Single Rooms and to be 

Dementia friendly 

 Dedicated garden for walking and 

exercising / keeping fit 

 Robust design for challenging 

behaviour. 

 Generic design to meet 
requirements for Dementia and 
General Nursing to ensure flexibility 
in use, and to adapt in changes to 
demand and needs. 

This project does not address the need for extra care housing, step down flat, sheltered housing, 

Discharge to Recover then Assess (D2RA) beds as they form part of the Penyberth, Penrhos 

Redevelopment Project.  End of life beds would be offered at Bryn Beryl hospital. 

5.8 The Benefits Criteria are aligned with the Investment Objectives and are shown 

below. These will be further developed at next stage business case. 

 

 

Page 16



 
Investment Objectives Main Benefits Criteria 

1 To support the rebalancing of 
the residential and nursing 
care market (for the Gwynedd 
area) by increasing delivery 
from the public / not for profit 
sector focused on delivering 
person centred outcomes for 
all. 

 Securing of nursing provision in local area 

within LA and CHC rates 

 Flexible health and care provision (“seamless 

care” as described in A Healthier Wales) 

 Partnership approach between Health and 

Local Authority may provide further 

opportunities for integrated approaches 

2 To support the provision of 
care closer to home by 
improving the accessibility of 
residential and nursing care, 
ensuring provision of services 
in the Welsh language. 

 No-one stays longer than they need to in acute 

inpatient care. There are no “delayed transfers 

of care” due to lack of provision of residential 

and nursing beds 

 

3 To support sustainability of 
local residential and nursing 
care provision through a 
collaborative, partnership 
approach which will integrate 
with the wider spectrum of 
care delivered from the 
Penyberth, Penrhos site. 

 By having public sector provision in nursing – 

ability to understand more acutely the 

pressures of sector and ability to support 

smaller providers 

 

4 To develop an innovative 
workforce model that will 
support the long-term health 
and social care sector with the 
potential for application in 
other areas of North Wales 
and create opportunities for 
training through Welsh 
Language. 

 Employment opportunities for local 
residents  

 Provide local residents with the right 
skills for long term employment 

 Provide school leavers with career 
aspirations meaningful and long-term 
employment 

 Local supply chain is supported and grown 

 Ability to train and develop medical, nursing 

and care staff through secondment and 

shadowing opportunities within the provision 

 Welsh language skills of all staff will be part of 

the recruitment policy of Council. 

5 To ensure purposefully 
designed accommodation 
which will meet the care needs 
of individuals both now and 
into the future. 

 Resilient and more appropriate buildings and 

infrastructure 

 The new development will be well integrated 

into the character of the surrounding area 

 Providing a modern, accessible working 

environment that motivates different 

professional groups to operate 

collaboratively 

 Provides a demenstrable vision for service 

integration 

 Positive contribution towards decarbonisation 
/ net zero agenda; Accommodation that 
meets current building recommendations 
(e.g. HBN / DDA / ventilation / infection 
prevention) 

 Meets BREEAM aspirations. 

 

Page 17



 
6. PREFERRED WAY FORWARD 

6.1 The Economic Case sets out the details of the option development and option appraisal 

process completed by the project partners. A preferred way forward has been identified. 

 

6.2 We have engaged with Lovelock Mitchell and Wakemans to do the initial design, planning 

and estimation. The Table below provides our best estimates for the overall project 

development, excluding VAT. 

Description of Component Cost £'000 

New Build Care Home with Nursing 9,655 

Other Costs (Pre-construction, Preliminaries – 15% of Construction cost) 1,284 

Fit out  250 

15% contingency and Optimism Bias 1,708 

15% Inflation Uplift and Risk Allowance 1,498 

OBC Development phase costs (Project Manager, Design, Planning, OBC 

development) 

200 

TOTAL COST  14,595 

Note:  

A. Including Inflation Uplift and Risk Allowance, allowance for OBC development phase the 

total cost estimate amounts to £14.6 Million 

B. Seek grant funding of £200,000 in 2023-24 (highlighted in red font in the table above) to 

develop a fully detailed plan, estimate and a comprehensive Outline Business Case. 

 
6.3 The next step is for this Strategic Outline Case to be processed and submitted for approval 

and for the Outline Business Case to be developed which will assess the economic costs 

and benefits in more detail. In conjunction with this, detailed design and planning processes 

will be established. A Full Business Case follows from this.  

 

6.4 These are the project milestones: 

# Project Milestones Indicative Dates 

A Partnership Approval of SOC March 2023 

B WG review of SOC and approval to proceed May 2023 

C Planning process commenced August 2023 

D Outline Planning permission May 2024 

E Completion of OBC inc. internal approval to proceed July 2024 

F WG review of OBC and approval to proceed September 2024 

G Formal Planning Application September 2024 

H Completion of FBC inc. internal approval to proceed March 2025 

I WG review of FBC and approval to proceed April 2025 

J Construction, Completion and Handover September 2025 – March 2027 

K Occupation April 2027 

Page 18



 
Equalities Act 2010 
The Council is subject to public sector duties under the Equalities Act 2010 (including specific 
Welsh public sector duties). Pursuant to these legal duties Councils must in making decisions 
have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of 
opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis of protected characteristics and having 
due regard to the socio economic duty under Section 1 of the Act. An equalities impact 
assessment has been prepared and is appended at Appendix E. The Cabinet will need to 
have regard to its findings when coming to a decision. The assessment does not identify any 
particular negative impacts stemming from the decision.  
 
 

7. NEXT STEPS AND TIMESCALES 

 

7.1 The Welsh Government has earmarked Capital Grants to promote the integration of Health 

and Social Care, and to support work on the second modelling of the care sector. The 

Health and Social Care Integration and Rebalancing Capital Fund (IRCF) will give us the 

opportunity to apply for £14.6million of funding to fund the development. Discussions have 

already begun with the Welsh Government about accessing the funds in a timely manner. 

 

7.2 Move forward to develop an outline business case while also developing a design for the 

home and initiating the planning process. 

 
8. VIEWS OF THE STATUTORY OFFICERS 

 
Monitoring Officer: 
“The recommendation reflects the work which has been undertaken with specialist advice  on 
the Legal feasibility of  the model which is recommended. I would refer specifically to 
paragraph 2.3.2 of the Strategic Business Case which highlights then nature of the 
model  which will require establishing a close and formal partnership  arrangement with the 
Health Board.   This work will continue as the Business Case is developed as well as 
supporting land and property aspects. I am satisfied with the propriety of the 
recommendation.”  
 
 
Head of Finance: 
 
“The approach taken in developing these documents follows the recognised methodology of 
the Five Case Model.  As highlighted in the documents, the development of the Strategic 
Business Case is the first of three key stages.  If Cabinet approves this document, work will go 
on to develop the Outline Business Case.  Developing that stage will require further input from 
a Finance perspective as very close attention is needed at that time to the Financial Case. 
 
In the meantime, I am satisfied that the contents of the Strategic Business Case show that 
detailed analysis has been undertaken to reach the current point.  I have no objection to the 
decision sought, and I believe it is timely to make a case to the Welsh Government in the form 
of a grant application.” 

 
 

 

 
 

Page 19



 

 

 

 

 

 

Strategic Outline Business Case  

Nursing and Residential Care Home at Penyberth, Penrhos 

a Public Sector Partnership in Gwynedd 

 

 

Date: 17/03/2023  

Version: 0.10 

 

 

Page 20



 

Version Control 

Version Date issued Notes Issued to 

0.1 12/08/2022 Comments from Hawis Jones and Alun 
Gwilym Williams, Gwynedd Council 

Dafydd Gibbard, Aled 
Davies, Hawis Jones, Alun G 
Williams, Rhion Glyn 

0.2  Updated to reflect comments from Maria 
Bell, WLGA 

Maria Bell, WLGA 

0.3  Updated to reflect comments BCUHB Chris Rudgley, Viv 
Vandenblink, Jane 
Trowman 

0.4  Updated to reflect comments BCUHB Chris Rudgley, Jane 
Trowman, Ian Howard, 
Darren Smith 

0.5  Updated to reflect comments RPB Siobhan and Joseph, North 
Wales Regional Partnership 
Board 

0.6 28/02/2023 Final drafft issued – updated to reflect 
financial analysis 

 

0.7 01/03/2023 Final version issued Comments received from 
Huw Dylan Owen, Cyngor 
Gwynedd 

0.8 08/03/2023  Comments received from 
Huw Dylan Owen, Cyngor 
Gwynedd and Director of 
Finance, BCUHB 

0.9 10/03/2023   

  

Page 21



 

CONTENTS 

 

1. Executive Summary ............................................................................................................................................ 1 

Structure and Contents of the Document ................................................................................................................. 9 

2. Strategic Case ...................................................................................................................................................... 10 

2.1 Organisation Overview.................................................................................................... 10 

2.2 Strategic and Organisational Context ............................................................................. 10 

2.3 National poLicies and strategies ..................................................................................... 12 

2.4 Local Policy and Strategies .............................................................................................. 18 

2.5 The Case for Change ....................................................................................................... 22 

2.8 Scope and key service requirements .............................................................................. 31 

2.9 Benefits ........................................................................................................................... 32 

2.10 Risks, Constraints and Dependencies ........................................................................... 33 

3. Economic Case ................................................................................................................................................ 36 

3.1 Critical success factors .................................................................................................... 36 

3.2 Options ............................................................................................................................ 36 

4. Commercial ........................................................................................................................................................ 40 

4.1 Introduction .................................................................................................................... 40 

4.2 Required services ............................................................................................................ 40 

4.3 Potential for risk transfer ................................................................................................ 40 

4.4 Personnel implications (including TUPE) ........................................................................ 40 

4.5 Procurement strategy and implementation timescales ................................................. 41 

5. Financial .............................................................................................................................................................. 42 

5.1 Introduction .................................................................................................................... 42 

5.2 Capital Costs .................................................................................................................... 42 

5.3 Funding............................................................................................................................ 43 

5.4 Affordability: Impact on Financial Sustainability of the Project and on Partner 

Organisation’s Revenue Positions ......................................................................................... 43 

6. Management Case .......................................................................................................................................... 45 

6.1 Introduction .................................................................................................................... 45 

6.2 Project Management and Governance Arrangements ................................................... 45 

6.3 Professional Advisors ...................................................................................................... 46 

6.5 Risk Management ........................................................................................................... 46 

 

Page 22



 

Tables 

 

Figures 

 

 

Appendicies 

Appendix A - Risk Register 

Appendix B - Capital estimates 

Appendix C - Revenue estimates 

Appendix D – Equality Impact Assessment 

Appendix E – Health Impact Assessment 

Page 23



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

1 
 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

Synopsis 

Currently there is an under-provision of nursing home places in Gwynedd, which is more acute in the 

Llŷn area, which has no nursing provision.  As commissioners, the Local Authority and the Health Board 

are therefore keen to explore how they can improve the current situation by themselves becoming 

providers of a care home with nursing. 

The new model of partnership working between Cyngor Gwynedd and Besti Cadwalader University 

Health Board (BCUHB) will support the rebalancing of the residential and nursing care market (for the 

Gwynedd area) by increasing delivery from the public / not for profit sector focused on delivering 

person centred outcomes for all. 

The Partnership would see a new care home with nursing being built on the Penyberth, Penrhos site 

to accomodate 32 residential dementia beds as well as 25 nursing beds of which 15 would be 

prioritised for nursing dementia care. 

This Strategic Outline Case looks to bid for £14.6million of IRCF funding from the Welsh Government 

to build the new care  home, which would then be run by Cyngor Gwynedd and BCUHB through current 

revenue funding streams. 

The care home would be built on the Penyberth site which houses new housing with care 

developments undertaken by Clwyd Alyn Housing Association.  Both projects will be interdependent. 

The Penyberth, Penrhos Care Home with Nursing is a new kind of partnership that recognises the 

importance of cross sector collaboration to deliver the best outcomes for local residents and 

communities.  The project will be undertaken as a Partnership between Cyngor Gwynedd and Betsi 

Cadwalader University Health Board.  

A local, sustainable, and quality provision of care homes is an essential part of any health and care 

system.  Without such a provision, individuals will not be able to secure the best health and wellbeing 

possible; and the health and care system as a whole will be inefficient and ineffective in delivering on 

the health outcomes of the wider population. 

As commissioners of care provision, Local Authorities and Health Boards therefore need to ensure that 

they have the appropriate number of homes in the right location and providing the right level and 

quality of care. 

For older people services in Gwynedd, in-house, public-sector provision has been a cornerstone of 

residential and residential dementia services within care homes. However, for nursing provision in 

care homes, all provision is currently provided within the independent sector. 

Page 24



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

2 
 

 

Currently there is an under-provision of nursing home places in Gwynedd, which is worse in some 

parts of Gwynedd, namely Llŷn and Meirionnydd.  As commissioners, the Local Authority and the 

Health Board are therefore keen to explore how they can improve the current situation by themselves 

becoming providers of a care home with nursing. 

The vision, objectives and scope of the project are closely aligned with the strategic objectives of the 

Welsh Government: 

 The Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act (2015) - the collaborative partnership project 

described in this SOC is particularly well aligned with the five ways of working, and this is reflected 

in the project’s Investment Objectives which are described in this SOC 

 A Healthier Wales: Our Plan for Health and Social Care – the partnership will address the key 

aims of working collaboratively and making the best use of resources to deliver the care closer to 

home 

 Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act – the act states the need to promote co-operation and 

partnership working to promote integration of care and support.  The act also gives the powers to 

local authorities, with permission or working in partnership with the Health Board, to provide 

residential and nursing care  

 Rebalancing Care and Support – this project addresses the issues raised in the government White 

paper to rebalance the care and support market away from cost to quality and from outputs to 

outcomes. 

They are also in alignment with a number of strategic and policy documents referenced below, which 

have a significant impact and influence on the current and future direction and design of services in 

Wales and for this development including: 

 NHS Wales Planning Framework 2022 – 2025 

 Decarbonising Social Care in Wales 

 Health and Social Care Integration and Rebalancing Capital Fund (IRCF) – Priority 2 

 Living Healthier Staying Well: Working in Partnership to Improve Health and Deliver 

Excellent Care across North Wales. 

Gwynedd Population Needs Assessment  

There are a total of 130 residential beds in the Llŷn and Eifionydd area but following the closure of the 

Penrhos Nursing Home at the beginning of December 2020 there is no provision of nursing beds in the 

Llŷn area.  

This means that people must travel to find suitable and qualified provision, increasing pressure on 

housing in the areas they would move to. We also know that some individuals must look for locations 

outside the county which creates difficulty in terms of visiting and maintaining contact with families 

and it can be more difficult to receive a service in Welsh. 

75% of the Llŷn residential provision can be provided in the Dwyfor area, a figure which falls to 45.5% 

for nursing provision. In the County, 58.7% of nursing provision can be provided within the area, so a 

Page 25



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

3 
 

 

greater number of Llŷn residents must travel out of their home to receive nursing care. It is also likely 

that they must travel further to gain access. Llŷn is able to meet 75% of residential provision within an 

area, which is comparable to the County average of 75%. 

 

This Council continuously reviews the care home provision across Gwynedd and the impact of this 

development at Penyberth will be monitored in the surrounding area 

Workforce issues  

It is acknowledged nationally that the care sector is facing huge challenges in staff recruitment and 

retention.  This project will look at workforce best practice to ensure high quality staff in the Llŷn area. 

Cyngor Gwynedd carries out recruitment campaigns regularly and uses various methods to do so. The 

campaigns are held locally by targeting specific areas and towns.  

Alongside our partners Cyngor Gwynedd are constantly seeking to change the perception that exists 

in terms of jobs in the care sector. Cyngor Gwynedd take opportunities to seek to highlight the wide 

range of opportunities that exist, the flexibility of the contracts that are available and also the benefits 

for staff.  

One aspect in particular that should be highlighted is the collaboration that is ongoing with partners 

to seek to further develop career pathways within the field. Cyngor Gwynedd appointed an officer in 

December 2021 to lead on this aspect and also to support the work programme in terms of holding 

events, various marketing methods, creating original and bespoke material, and identifying 

opportunities to improve work processes.  

 

 

Page 26



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

4 
 

 

The Vision 

The Llŷn community is known for its resilience and independence borne out of the surrounding 

geography and rurality. Traditionally, children have settled as adults nearby close to family members 

which has meant families have been able to step in to provide care for older relatives when necessary. 

However, this trend is becoming less prevalent and is likely to continue. This element of unmet need 

has to be considered within the overall service model. 

There is also wide recognition that the former Penrhos Polish Home model of care was very innovative 

in terms of keeping its residents well, independent, and out of care. It will be important to maintain 

and build on this ethos in terms of the future plans for the site. 

The service model should: 

 Maintain the current overall ethos - promoting quality of life, maintaining independence, 

ensuring wellbeing and reducing reliance on dependent care for as long as possible; 

 Deliver a spectrum of supported care - from minimal dependence (independent living 

apartments) to assisted living, with access to step-up/down care, to residential care and to 

nursing and end of life care, as determined by an individual’s needs; 

 Promote a flexible approach to the care home beds allowing flexibility in bed usage where 

possible to meet local needs rather than fixed / designated bed provision, thereby improving 

efficiency; 

 Recognise the importance of relationships (contracting) with the Third Sector to ensure 

service resilience (for example Mental Health); 

 Future-proof the overall provision taking into account older people population projections 

and current unmet need. 

 

The project’s vision is for a new kind of partnership, which thinks differently about the relationship 
between services and the community for the future.   

 

Investment Objectives 

The Investment Objectives for the project are:   
 

Investment Objectives 

One To support the rebalancing of the residential and nursing care market (for the Gwynedd 

area) by increasing delivery from the public / not for profit sector focused on delivering 

person centred outcomes for all. 

Two To support the provision of care closer to home by improving the accessibility of 

residential and nursing care, ensuring provision of services in the Welsh language. 

Three To support sustainability of local residential and nursing care provision through a 

collaborative, partnership approach which will integrate with the wider spectrum of care 

delivered from the Penyberth, Penrhos site. 

Page 27



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

5 
 

 

Four To develop an innovative workforce model that will support the long-term health and 

social care sector with the potential for application in other areas of North Wales and 

create opportunities for training through Welsh Language. 

Five To ensure purposefully designed accommodation which will meet the care needs of 

individuals both now and into the future. 

Six To deliver value for money through the efficient use of resources and delivery of 

environmentally sensitive accommodation that is carbon neutral.  

 

Key service requirements  

Key service requirements are the service changes required to meet the investment objectives 
described above.  The key service requirements for this business case are summarised in the table 
below.  

The site should be designed with flexibility for the future in mind. 

 

 Requirement Desirable 

Residential 
requirements 

 32 beds for dementia care 
 2 beds for respite care 

 Space on site to accommodate future 
needs.   

 Consideration given to Covid 
management, easy to isolate residents, 
air circulation, manage infection.  

 Consideration to RNIB requirements. 
 Toilet facilities close to communal areas 

but also private.  
 Proximity to nursing station and 

staffing. 
 Consideration given to planning for 

dementia residents, colour contrast etc 
 Safe outside space and visual interest.  

 

Nursing care 
requirements 

 25 beds of which 15 would be 
prioritised for nursing 
dementia care 

 2 beds for respite nursing care 

 A modular design approach to allow for 
Single Rooms and to be Dementia 
friendly 

 Dedicated garden for walking and 
exercising / keeping fit 

 Robust design for challenging 
behaviour. 

 Generic design to meet requirements 
for Dementia and General Nursing to 
ensure flexibility in use, and to adapt in 
changes to demand and needs. 

This project does not address the need for extra care housing, step down flat, sheltered housing, 

Discharge to Recover then Assess (D2RA) beds as they form part of the Penyberth, Penrhos 

Redevelopment Project.  End of life beds would be offered at Bryn Beryl hospital. 

Page 28



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

6 
 

 

The Benefits Criteria  

The Benefits Criteria are aligned with the Investment Objectives and are shown below. These 

will be further developed at next stage business case. 

 

Investment Objectives Main Benefits Criteria 

1 To support the rebalancing of the 
residential and nursing care 
market (for the Gwynedd area) 
by increasing delivery from the 
public / not for profit sector 
focused on delivering person 
centred outcomes for all. 

 Securing of nursing provision in local area within LA 
and CHC rates 

 Flexible health and care provision (“seamless care” 
as described in A Healthier Wales) 

 Partnership approach between Health and Local 
Authority may provide further opportunities for 
integrated approaches 

2 To support the provision of care 
closer to home by improving the 
accessibility of residential and 
nursing care, ensuring provision 
of services in the Welsh language. 

 No-one stays longer than they need to in acute 
inpatient care. There are no “delayed transfers of 
care” due to lack of provision of residential and 
nursing beds 

 

3 To support sustainability of local 
residential and nursing care 
provision through a collaborative, 
partnership approach which will 
integrate with the wider 
spectrum of care delivered from 
the Penyberth, Penrhos site. 

 By having public sector provision in nursing – ability 
to understand more acutely the pressures of sector 
and ability to support smaller providers 

 

4 To develop an innovative 
workforce model that will 
support the long-term health and 
social care sector with the 
potential for application in other 
areas of North Wales and create 
opportunities for training through 
Welsh Language. 

 Employment opportunities for local 
residents  

 Provide local residents with the right skills 
for long term employment 

 Provide school leavers with career 
aspirations meaningful and long-term 
employment 

 Local supply chain is supported and grown 
 Ability to train and develop medical, nursing and 

care staff through secondment and shadowing 
opportunities within the provision 

 Welsh language skills of all staff will be part of the 
recruitment policy of Council. 

5 To ensure purposefully designed 
accommodation which will meet 
the care needs of individuals both 
now and into the future. 

 Resilient and more appropriate buildings and 
infrastructure 

 The new development will be well integrated into 
the character of the surrounding area 

 Providing a modern, accessible working 
environment that motivates different 
professional groups to operate 
collaboratively 

 Provides a demenstrable vision for service 
integration 

Page 29



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

7 
 

 

 Positive contribution towards decarbonisation / 
net zero agenda; Accommodation that meets 
current building recommendations (e.g. HBN / 
DDA / ventilation / infection prevention) 

 Meets BREEAM aspirations. 

 

Preferred way forward 

The Economic Case sets out the details of the option development and option appraisal process 

completed by the Project partners. A preferred way forward has been identified. 

We have engaged with Lovelock Mitchell and Wakemans to do the initial design, planning and 

estimation. The Table below provides our best estimates for the overall project development, 

excluding VAT. 

Description of Component Cost £’000 

New Build Care Home with Nursing 9,655 

Other Costs (Pre-construction, Preliminaries – 15% of Construction cost) 1,284 

Fit out  250 

15% contingency and Optimism Bias 1,708 

15% Inflation Uplift and Risk Allowance 1,498 

OBC Development phase costs (Project Manager, Design, Planning, OBC development) 200 

TOTAL COST  14,595 

Note:  

A. Including Inflation Uplift and Risk Allowance, allowance for OBC development phase the 

total cost estimate amounts to £14.6 Million 

B. Seek grant funding of £200,000 in 2023-24 (highlighted in red font in the table above) to 

develop a fully detailed plan, estimate and a comprehensive Outline Business Case. 

 

Next steps and timesccales 

The next stage is for this Strategic Outline Case to be processed and submitted for approval and for 

the Outline Business Case to be developed which will examine the economic costs and benefits in 

more detail. In conjunction with this, detailed design and planning application processes will be 

instigated. A Full Business Case follows from this.  

The following project timeline in terms of programme milestones is as follows: 

 

 

Page 30



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

8 
 

 

# Project Milestones Indicative Dates 

A Partnership Approval of SOC March 2023 

B WG review of SOC and approval to proceed May 2023 

C Planning process commenced August 2023 

D Outline Planning permission May 2024 

E Completion of OBC inc. internal approval to proceed July 2024 

F WG review of OBC and approval to proceed September 2024 

G Formal Planning Application September 2024 

H Completion of FBC inc. internal approval to proceed March 2025 

I WG review of FBC and approval to proceed April 2025 

J Construction, Completion and Handover September 2025 – March 2027 

K Occupation April 2027 

 

Governance 

The partners have established a Project Board to oversee the Care Home with Nursing project, and 

provide progress reports to the Programme Board as well as the North Wales Regional Partnership 

Board as required. 

Existing partner organisation Boards retain the power to sign off the business case, at each stage of 

the development process through their organisational governance arrangements. 

 

  

Page 31



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

9 
 

 

STRUCTURE AND CONTENTS OF THE DOCUMENT 

 

There are three key stages in the development of the business case for the Penyberth, Penrhos Care 

Home with Nursing development in the Llŷn area.  

With the above in mind, this Strategic Outline Case (SOC):  

 Establishes the strategic context;  

 Makes a robust case for change; and  

 Provides a suggested way forward, rather than a definitive preferred option.  

The Outline Business Case (OBC): will identify the option which optimises value for money; prepares 

the scheme for procurement; and puts in place the necessary funding and management arrangements 

for the successful delivery of the scheme.  

The Full Business Case (FBC): will set out the negotiated commercial and contractual arrangements for 

the delivery of the project, including the engagement and management of the construction 

supplier(s); demonstrates that it is ‘unequivocally’ affordable in capital terms on the basis of a 

guaranteed maximum contract price from the supplier(s) and in terms of revenue costs; and puts in 

place the detailed management arrangements for the successful delivery of the scheme.  

This SOC has been prepared using the agreed standards and format for business cases, as set out in 

the NHS Wales Infrastructure Investment Guidance. This approved format is the Five Case Model, and 

comprises the following:  

 The Strategic Case - this sets out the strategic fit and case for change, together with the 

supporting investment objectives for the scheme;  

 The Economic Case - this explores the suggested way forward – or how best to deliver the 

objectives of the scheme;  

 The Commercial Case - this assesses the ability of the market place to deliver the required 

goods and services, and summarises the organisation’s commercial strategy;  

 The Financial Case - this gives outline estimates of the capital and revenue implications of the 

scheme, and a view of affordability 

 The Management Case - this demonstrates that the scheme is achievable and can be delivered 

successfully in accordance with accepted best practice 

 

At SOC stage the focus is on the Strategic and Economic Cases.  

 

  

Page 32



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

10 
 

 

2. STRATEGIC CASE  

2.1 ORGANISATION OVERVIEW  

The Penyberth, Penrhos Care Home with Nursing is a new kind of partnership that recognises the 

importance of cross sector collaboration to deliver the best outcomes for local residents and 

communities. 

The project has two key partners and they are briefly introduced below.  

 

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board  

 

The Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board [BCUHB] is the largest health organisation in Wales, with 

a budget of £1.8 billion and a workforce of over 19,000 staff. It provides primary, community, mental 

health and acute hospital services for the population of North Wales.  

As well as three main hospital sites at Ysbyty Gwynedd in Bangor, Glan Clwyd Hospital in Bodelwyddan 

and Wrexham Maelor Hospital, it is responsible for community hospitals, health centres, clinics, 

mental health units, community teams, GP practices and other NHS services provided by dentists, 

opticians and pharmacists.   

  

   Cyngor Gwynedd 

 

Cyngor Gwynedd (CG) is the governing body for the principal area of Gwynedd, made up of the ancient 

counties of Caernarfonshire and Merionethshire. Aside from its political and local government role, 

the Council operates a wide range of services through more than 10 Departments. These include: 

 Adults, Health and Well-being 

 Children and Supporting Families 

 Economy and Community 

 Education 

 Environment 

 Housing & Property. 

 

2.2 STRATEGIC AND ORGANISATIONAL CONTEXT 

A local, sustainable, and quality provision of care homes is an essential part of any health and care 

system.  Without such a provision, individuals will not be able to secure the best health and wellbeing 

possible; and the health and care system as a whole will be inefficient and ineffective in delivering on 

the health outcomes of the wider population. 

Page 33



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

11 
 

 

As commissioners of care provision, Local Authorities and Health Boards therefore need to ensure that 

they have the appropriate number of homes in the right location and providing the right level and 

quality of care. 

The providers of such care can be varied, and indeed there are great benefits to having a mixed 

economy of care providers. However, relying on independent providers wholly for certain parts of the 

provision can place commissioners in a difficult position if said providers are unable or unwilling to 

provide in an area.   

For older people services in Gwynedd, in-house, public-sector provision has been a cornerstone of 

residential and residential dementia services within care homes. However, for nursing provision in 

care homes, all provision is currently provided within the independent sector. 

Currently there is an under-provision of nursing home places in Gwynedd, which is worse in some 

parts of Gwynedd, namely Llŷn and Meirionnydd.  As commissioners, the Local Authority and the 

Health Board are therefore keen to explore how they can improve the current situation by themselves 

becoming providers of a care home with nursing. 

This Strategic Outline Business Case considers the case for change and how feasible it is for the Council 

in partnership with the Health Board to provide in house care home with nursing for the future.  Given 

the current opportunity at the Penyberth, Penrhos Site in Gwynedd, this SOC looks at this specific site, 

but many of the assumptions and policy context will apply to more than this specific site. 

North Wales Market Stability Report (draft 2022)  

Key Local Messages - Residential and nursing  

• The demand for placements in care homes and care homes with nursing is likely to increase with 

a growing older population  

• We are continuing to develop dementia units in the Council's residential care homes  

• There is a need for specialist dementia care; there is no nursing / dementia provision in 

Meirionnydd nor Llŷn  

• There is a lack of specialist residential and nursing placements for older people with a learning 

disability who also have physical health and dementia needs  

• There is a need for sustainable and sufficient (independent sector) care home fees  

• There is a lack of community support workers in the learning disability field  

• There is no specialist mental health provision including severe mental illness  

• There is a gap in residential and nursing care for young people with physical and sensory needs. 

Adroddiad blaen.pdf (llyw.cymru) – Item 9 

 

 

 

Page 34

https://democracy.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/documents/s34174/Adroddiad%20blaens.pdf


 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

12 
 

 

2.3 NATIONAL POLICIES AND STRATEGIES 

2.3.1 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act (2015) 

The Well Being of Future Generations Act (Wales) set out seven connected well-being goals for Wales, 

supported by five ways of working. These are summarised in figure below.  The collaborative 

partnership project described in this SOC is particularly well aligned with the five ways of working, and 

this is reflected in the project’s Investment Objectives which are described in section 2.5.5 of this SOC. 

 
The seven goals The five ways of working 
 A prosperous Wales 
 A resilient Wales 
 A healthier Wales 
 A more equal Wales 
 A Wales of cohesive communities 
 A Wales of vibrant culture & thriving Welsh language 
 A globally responsible Wales 

 

 

1. Long term 
The importance of balancing short-term needs with the 
need to safeguard the ability to also meet long-term needs. 
 
2. Prevention 
How acting to prevent problems occurring or getting worse 
may help public bodies meet their objectives. 
 
3. Integration 
Considering how the public body’s well-being objectives 
may impact upon each of the well-being goals, on their 
other objectives, or on the objectives of other public bodies. 
 
4. Collaboration 
Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different 
parts of the body itself) that could help the body to meet its 
well-being objectives. 
 
5. Involvement 
The importance of involving people with an interest in 
achieving the well-being goals, and ensuring that those 
people reflect the diversity of the area which the body 
serves. 

  

Figure xx: Summary of The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 

The goals  Alignment of the project to these goals 

 Propserous 

Wales  

This project wil contribute to the employment of local residents and aim 

for a zero carbon building.  

 A Resilient 

Wales  

Improving holistic wellbeing of the community including economic 

regeneration will contribute to building a more resilient local community 

in Llŷn. 

 A more equal 

Wales  

The project will provide education and employment opportunities within 

the rural area of Llŷn. 

 A Healthier 

Wales  

The care home will provide residents with access to care closer to home as 

well as involvement in a more engaged and involved community on the 

wider site. 

Page 35



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

13 
 

 

 A Wales of 
Cohesive 
communities 

 

The project will focus on community well-being and work closely with 

community initiatives to ensure vulnerable people are not isolated. 

 A Wales of 
vibrant culture 
and thriving 
Welsh 
Language 

 

The care home will provide a space to accommodate trainee Welsh 
speaking staff so that the care services can be offered in Welsh language 
by default in a sustainable way as well as promoting the Welsh and Polish 
heritage. 

 A golbally 
responsible 
Wales 

 

The project wil ensure, through it’s procurement of services on site, that 
our supply chains are fair, ethical and sustainable whilst ensuring that 
financial decisions now enable future generations to thrive. 
 

Alignment with the 5 ways of working are deeply embedded in the project right from it’s inception as 

a concept.  

1. Long Term – The project by its very nature of being a community and care hub, is a long term 

investment, which will cater to the residents of Llŷn and Eifionydd for several years to come 

2. Prevention and Integration – The project is driven by a partnership of the local Health Board 

and the Local Autority to ensure the provision of a robust, sustainable care facility in the Llŷn 

area to meet current and future local needs that meets the objectives of both partners 

3. Collaboration – The project is a result of collaboration between the Local Authority and the 

local Health board over an extended period of time to ensure a local nurisng and residential 

service fit for the future and meet the needs of local residents  

4. Involvement – Public involvement through multiple engagements have shaped our views on 

the needs of the community. Our lived experiences of the challenges in our communities are 

also reflected in our vision and scope definition. The involvement of the Local Authority and 

the Health Board have further added to a sense of joint vision and ownership of this proposed 

development. 

2.3.2 Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act (2014) 

The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act focuses on the need to enhance co-operation and 

partnership. The Act: 

 Requires local authorities to make arrangements to promote co-operation with their relevant 

partners and others in relation to adults with needs for care and support, carers and children; 

 Imposes a duty on the relevant partners to co-operate with, and provide information to, the 

local authorities for the purpose of their social services functions; 

 Makes provision about promoting the integration of care and support with health services; 

 Provides for partnership arrangements between local authorities and local Health Boards for 

the discharge of their functions; 

 Makes provision for pooled funds which is made up of contributions by the authority and the 

relevant partner or partners concerned, and out of which payments may be made towards 

Page 36



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

14 
 

 

expenditure incurred in the discharge of functions of the authority and functions of the 

relevant partner. 

Section 47(6) of the Act states:  

“a local authority may, despite subsections (1), (2), (4) and (5), arrange for the provision of 

accommodation together with nursing care by a registered nurse-  

a. if the authority has obtained consent for it to arrange the provision of the nursing care from 

i. whichever Local Health Board regulations require in the case of accommodation in 

Wales…, or   

b. in an urgent case and where arrangements are temporary.”  

Having received the legal advice, we have been given confirmation that the Council can provide 

Nursing care with the permission of the Health Board or by working in partnership with the Health 

Board. Therefore, it is considered possible, under the provisions of the Social Services and Wellbeing 

(Wales) Act 2015 to establish a collaborative procedure between the Council and the Health Board 

that will lead to a provision to include nursing care. Suitable and robust collaboration arrangements 

will need to be developed to support such arrangements. More detailed work will be part of the 

development of the Outline Business Case. 

2.3.3 A Healthier Wales: our Plan for Health and Social Care (Welsh Government, 2018) 

Welsh Government has announced its plans to introduce a strategic National Framework for care and 

support, which will set standards for commissioning practice, reduce complexity, and rebalance 

commissioning to focus on quality and outcomes. What matters to people will be at the heart of the 

Framework, and it will encourage partnership working at a cluster, local, regional, and national level.  

It is anticipated that the existing Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act, Part 9 statutory guidance 

for co-operation and partnership, will be revised as part of the Framework. 

Welsh Government have stated that when all partners work effectively together it improves outcomes 

for people. It also means that resources are used in the most effective and efficient way. The key aims 

of partnership and integration they describe as follows:  

• To improve care and support, ensuring people have more voice and control;  

• To improve well-being outcomes;  

• To provide co-ordinated, person centred care and support; and  

• To make more effective use of resources, skills, and expertise. 

Responding to the Parliamentary Review, this strategy aims to address the wider influences on health 

and wellbeing, tackling the wider social and economic influences such as housing, parenting, 

education, and employability. The strategy explains the overall Welsh Government vision: 

“We will build on the philosophy of Prudent Healthcare, and on the close and effective relationships 

we have in Wales, to make an impact on health and wellbeing throughout life. We will have a greater 

Page 37



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

15 
 

 

emphasis on preventing illness, on supporting people to manage their own health and wellbeing, and 

on enabling people to live independently for as long as they can, supported by new technologies and 

integrated health and social care services which are delivered closer to home.” 

This plan sets out the Welsh Governments’ long-term vision of a ‘whole system approach to health 

and social care’, which is focussed on health and wellbeing, and on preventing illness. Of relevance to 

this business case: 

• The health and social care system will work together so that people using them won’t notice 

when they are provided by different organisations. New ways of joined-up working will start 

locally and scale up to the whole of Wales. 

• Shift services out of hospital to communities, with a greater focus on prevention, helping 

people manage their own health, and manage long term illnesses. 

2.3.4 NHS Wales Planning Framework 2022-2025 

Building on ‘Prosperity for All’, the cross-government national strategy, the NHS Wales Planning 

Framework 2021/22 reinforced the need for health organisations to focus on the populations for 

which they are responsible, with an emphasis on prevention and early interventions, reducing health 

inequalities and working with wider partners to deliver the best possible services for citizens in Wales. 

Integrated planning with partners that provides care closer to people’s communities and avoids 

admissions to hospital whenever possible should be the norm. 

2.3.5 Rebalancing Care and Support (Welsh Government White paper) 

There is growing need for care and support in all population groups. This relates to the biggest 

underlying challenge which is the sector’s funding position.  

Social care in Wales is provided through a marketplace of over 1,000 providers, mostly from the 

independent sector, who often compete for the same contracts. People’s care and support is 

commissioned through Local Authorities, local Health Boards or directly by themselves. It is funded 

through national and local government and through fees and charges people may pay to their Local 

Authority or directly to a care provider. In this context of a fragmented system, partners working 

together is vital. There is evidence of good practice here, but equally there are concerns about the 

progress of integration. There is little space for social value organisations, and limited data sharing as 

a basis for system-wide learning. This is the system we have, rather than the system that would be 

designed by choice.  

From the case for change, three critical areas emerge where focused action is needed to deliver 

improvement:  

 refocusing the fundamentals of the care market – away from price towards quality and value;  

 reorientation of commissioning practices – towards managing the market and focusing on 

outcomes; and  

 evolution of integration mechanisms – simplifying joint planning and delivery.  

Page 38



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

16 
 

 

Through action in these three areas, this White Paper seeks to rebalance the care and support market 

based on a clear national framework where services are organised regionally and delivered locally. In 

doing so we aim to rebalance social care so that there is neither an over reliance on the private sector, 

nor a monopoly in the other direction. This White paper defines ‘rebalancing’ broadly as a set of 

descriptions of the system change, we want to see. 

Rebalancing means… 

…Away from complexity. Towards simplification. 

Away from price. Towards quality and social value. 

Away from reactive commissioning. Towards managing the market. 

Away from task-based practice. Towards an outcome-based practice. 

Away from an organisational focus. Towards more effective partnership… 

… to co-produce better outcomes with people. 

2.3.6 Decarbonising Social Care in Wales 

The UK Climate Change Act formally committed decarbonisation targets into law in 2008.  This was 

later enacted within the Welsh legislation in the environment (Wales) Act in 2016. 

The Welsh Government is committed to a carbon neutral public sector by 2030 and a 100% reduction 

in emission of greenhouse gases in Wales by 2050.   

Decarbonising Social Care in Wales | GOV.WALES 

Also, of note is the NHS Wales Decarbonisation Strategy Delivery Plan, which covers the period 2021 

– 2030 and describes how the NHS will meet the net zero 2050 target in Wales 

The strategic objectives of the sustainability strategy will be established at the next stage of the 

development and will include: 

 Whole Life Approach; 

 Decarbonisation; 

 Reduction in Travel between Sites; 

 Sustainable Procurement; 

 Digital Integration; 

 Workflow Optimisation; 

 Agile Working. 

Page 39

https://gov.wales/decarbonising-social-care-wales


 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

17 
 

 

This project offers an opportunity for embarking on a decarbonisation strategy. The design solution 

will seek to provide the optimum balance between the benefits in diminishing carbon emissions and 

the associated capital cost to ensure value for the public money invested. 

NHS Wales Decarbonisation Strategic Delivery Plan (gov.wales) 

BCUHB Decarbonisation Strategy and Action Plan 
  

The Health Board has worked with the Carbon Trust and a Health Board wide stakeholder group to 

develop a five-year Decarbonisation Action Plan which proposes a list of actions and programmes of 

works to ensure that there is a robust and deliverable action plan in place to reduce carbon emissions 

by 2030 in compliance with Welsh Government’s decarbonisation targets. 

A decarbonisation programme board will lead the implementation of the action plan and will engage 

across BCUHB; spanning estates and facilities, planning, transport, procurement, clinical/nursing and 

other wider stakeholder groups. This will ensure that the actions and commitments contained within 

this Decarbonisation Action Plan are taken forward and implemented. 

Cyngor Gwynedd Decarbonisation Strategy 

Cyngor Gwynedd are currently working on their Decarbonisation Plan which will specifically address 

decarbonisation in the social care sector.  New developments and refurbishments of social care 

buildings will  be designed and built according to Net Zero Building standards. 

2.3.7 Health and Social Care Integration and Rebalancing Capital Fund (IRCF)  

The Health and Social Care Integration and Rebalancing Capital Fund (ICRF) is a new programme set 

up to directly support the Programme for Government (PfG) commitments of developing 50 

integrated health and social care hubs and to support rebalancing the residential care market.   

This project meets the second priority of the fund to: 

“rebalance the residential social care market”. 

Priority 2 - Rebalancing the residential care market 

The White Paper to rebalance care and support sets out Ministerial ambitions to rebalance the sector 

away from cost to quality, from outputs to outcomes and from profit towards social value. Capital 

investment is available to support local authorities and not for profit organisations, including housing 

associations to make this shift in the following ways:- 

 Investing in community settings/residential/nursing care premises to ensure they can meet 

individuals more complex needs closer to home i.e., nursing, allied health professional and 

intermediate care capacity. This could include Increasing access to NHS services, (such as 

community therapy, rehabilitation/ reablement and podiatry) for residents, recognising they 

remain members of the Health Board population 

Page 40

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/nhs-wales-decarbonisation-strategic-delivery-plan-2021-2030-summary.pdf


 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

18 
 

 

 Supporting and incentivising local authorities and not for profit providers to grow in house 

provision - which could include expansion of in-house care homes (additional beds), 

upgrades to facilities to bring them in line with regulation to enable them to be re-registered 

as a not for profit provision. 

 Support for local authorities to bring failing provision back under local government 

management. 

 Increasing residential and nursing care capacity where there are identified gaps/shortages of 

provision. 

 Support for smaller independent care homes to borrow resources for investment (on a case 

by case basis - further advice to follow). 

 

2.4 LOCAL POLICY AND STRATEGIES  

 

2.4.1 Living Healthier Staying Well: Working in Partnership to Improve Health and Deliver Excellent 

Care across North Wales 

BCUHB sets out its strategy for North Wales in two key documents:  the 10 Year Strategy for Future 

Health, Well-being and Healthcare – ‘Living Healthier, Staying Well’ and its three-year rolling Plan. At 

time of writing a review and update of the three-year plan is underway. However, until such time as 

this is completed and signed off the current three-year plan is used to set the context for this SOC.  

Living Healthier, Staying Well 

This strategy is structured around three main programmes to be delivered through working in 

partnership with people and organisations from across North Wales.  These programmes are:   

 Health Improvement and Health Inequalities – focusing on the broader aspects of health 

improvement and prevention and seeking to support those with the greatest health needs 

first. 

 Care Closer to Home - when people need support or health care to stay healthy, providing as 

much of this as close to people’s homes as it is safe and effective to do so.  Care will be 

developed around local areas, which will form the building block of future planning.  An 

equitable range of services will be provided for all, although the way they are delivered will 

be tailored to meet local circumstances or geography.  Some services will cover more than 

one area.  

 Care for More Serious Health Needs - when health needs are more serious and people need 

hospital care, or care from more specialist teams working in the community. People want the 

safest and highest quality of care possible and a good experience. They will be treated by the 

right person, in the right place, at the right time and with the right facilities 

 

 

Page 41



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

19 
 

 

Three Year Plan  

This Three-year Plan set out the challenges it faces in the coming years which will affect the way 

services are provided: 

 People are living longer which is good. 

 Health needs are changing and need to be responded to in a different way. 

 People need support to make informed choices about a healthy lifestyle. 

 More people have conditions like diabetes or heart disease. 

 More people are experiencing mental health issues.  

 More people are living with dementia. 

 Waiting times are too long and patients need to be seen sooner. 

 The workforce is changing and the Health Board face challenges in recruiting staff in a number 

of specialties and staff groups. 

 Public money is tight, so the Health Board needs to be efficient and spend wisely.  

 

There are other challenges which are affecting all public services - such as poverty, inequalities, jobs 

and economic growth, and climate change.  These make the context in which the Health Board is 

working more difficult and make it more important that the Health Board understands the impact of 

its actions on other organisations as well as the population. 

 
2.4.2 Integrated Medium Term Plan 2022-25 

Health Board support for the Penyberth, Penrhos Public Sector Partnership scheme is set out within 

the current year’s Welsh Government approved IMTP.   

2.4.3 A thematic review by CIW, Prevention and promotion of independence for older people, in 

September 2020 

Based on inspections and fieldwork undertaken during 2019, found that progress towards partnership 

and integrated service delivery for older people remains very mixed. Strategic commissioning through 

population assessments and area plans is still in its infancy and delivering limited impact. The report 

says that partners do not share a clear strategic vision of sustainable health and social care services, 

and leaders and senior managers are still focusing on service delivery within their own areas of control, 

rather than on people and outcomes. 

2.4.4 National review of care homes for people living with dementia (Care Inspectorate Wales) 

CIW looked at the care received by people living with dementia in care homes in Wales, and how they 

are supported in this important stage of their lives (164 inspections were carried out in a range of care 

homes). They wanted to make recommendations to improve people’s lives. They spoke to 

commissioners and providers of care home services as well as people living with dementia and their 

families, and they saw the care they received.   

 

Page 42



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

20 
 

 

Recommendations 

1. Choice – people need clearer information about the location and types of service available. 

People who arrange care in local authorities need to look at gaps in care home provision.   

2. Training – people who provide care services, and those who arrange it in local authorities, need 

to make sure that training involves people living with dementia who receive care.  

3. Environment – new care homes should be designed and built to give good care, based on 

information about what good care looks like.  

4. Welsh language – there should be better information about how many staff speak Welsh in care 

homes; more staff should be able to speak Welsh. 

5. Antipsychotic medication – groups who are involved with care for people should work together 

to improve the way that antipsychotic medication is given out and checked. 

6. Rights – staff need better training around people’s rights when they receive care and support. 

7. Working together to provide support – support from mental health services, and the way that 

people enter and leave hospital, should both be improved. 

 https://careinspectorate.wales/our-reports/national-and-thematic-reports 

2.4.5 Review of healthcare support provided by BCUHB for older people living in care homes in 

North Wales (Joint Healthcare Inspectorate Wales and Care Inspectorate Wales review) 

In response to “A Place to Call Home?”, Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) and Healthcare Inspectorate 

Wales (HIW) decided to carry out a pilot project to review how they could work together to ensure 

the healthcare needs of older people living in care homes are met.  

The aim of this work was to investigate:  

 how Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (BCUHB) meets the healthcare needs of older 

people living in residential and nursing care homes, either directly through the provision of 

services, or through its contracting arrangements with primary care providers; 

 the experience of care home managers in accessing healthcare support for people from the 

NHS; 

 how CIW and HIW can work in a more integrated way to improve outcomes for people living 

in care homes. 

This review has looked at the provision of healthcare support for care home residents from the 

perspectives of both health and social care providers. Feedback has been variable across most of the 

service areas considered, but some common issues have emerged across services which need to be 

addressed in order to provide seamless, good quality care, to individual residents and patients, 

specifically: 

 Clear roles and responsibilities: the part that each organisation/ profession/ individual plays 

in the system of care and support needs to be clearly articulated and understood by all 

Page 43

https://careinspectorate.wales/our-reports/national-and-thematic-reports


 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

21 
 

 

 Training: training should be available to support everybody to play their part in the system 

effectively and every effort should be made to ensure that staff can be released to undertake 

that training 

 Access routes: when additional advice or support is required in response to changing needs, 

access should be as easy as possible, and it should be clear to whoever requests the support 

the response they should expect 

 Feedback: processes should be in place to enable ongoing feedback on issues and concerns in 

order that patterns can be identified, and matters resolved 

 Collaboration and partnership: organisations should work together in the best interests of 

the populations they serve. When issues arise, they should be tackled collaboratively to 

achieve a practical and sustainable solution. 

Areas for improvement 

 The Health Board should work with the care home sector to identify and support the training 

needed for care home workers to maintain their confidence and competence to manage the 

routine health needs of residents and know how and when to seek additional support. 

 Care home managers should ensure staff are able to attend relevant training, for example in 

relation to continence care. 

 The Health Board must ensure that sufficient resources are made available to meet the needs 

of people with dementia accommodated within care homes and that services are provided in 

a timely and consistent way across North Wales, in line with the Health Board’s recently 

published dementia care strategy. 

Review of healthcare support for older people living in care homes in North Wales | Care Inspectorate 

Wales 

2.4.6 Care Home Commissioning for Older People (Audit Wales report)  

After recently completing a review of commissioning care-home placements for older people in North 

Wales, this report draws together issues of wider national significance and makes recommendations 

for the Welsh Government to consider. 

The costs of care-home commissioning for older people in Wales run into several hundreds of millions 

of pounds each year and many thousands of people are affected. 

Care-home commissioning is the result of assessing population need, planning, shaping, procuring, 

and sometimes providing care-home services. It should be undertaken with the aim of delivering good-

quality care-home capacity to meet current and future need. It should focus on value for the taxpayer 

and outcomes for service users. 

 Current arrangements for commissioning older people’s care-home placements are not 

resolving some long-standing issues; the Welsh Government must assure itself that 

proposed policy reforms go far enough 

Page 44

https://www.careinspectorate.wales/review-healthcare-support-older-people-care-homes-north-wales-nov-2018
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/review-healthcare-support-older-people-care-homes-north-wales-nov-2018


 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

22 
 

 

 The Welsh Government expects Local Authorities and Health Boards to collaborate 

effectively as they deliver their care-home commissioning duties. 

Audit Wales 

2.5 THE CASE FOR CHANGE  

2.5.1 Gwynedd Population Needs Assessment 

The proportion of people over the age of 75 in Wales is projected to increase by more than 53 per 

cent by 2040. Likewise, those over 65 will rise to one in four of the population before 2050. Although 

future demand for formal care cannot simply be linked to an ageing population, the projected growth 

in the numbers of older people with complex care needs (including severe dementia) is highly likely to 

result in increased pressure on formal care services – for example, the number of older adults living 

with severe dementia is predicted to double to 53,700 by 20401. 

Numbers of people with long term, life limiting, and chronic conditions are increasing, largely due to 

the ageing population. There will be a 57% increase in people age over 75 with life limiting long term 

illness by 2035. Older age is the leading cause of deaf/blindness, this is likely to increase as the over 

85 population continues to grow. In the UK, 29,000 adults with a learning disability live with parents 

aged 70 or over, many of whom are too old or frail to continue in their caring role1. 

The population of Gwynedd is ageing, with the population over 65 years having increased by 28% in 

Gwynedd, and the population over 85 years having increased by 156% since the 1981 census. 

 

It is a huge challenge to ensure that there is provision and support throughout the county for people 

to continue to live independently at home as the population ages, and we are aware of the significant 

problems that care providers face with barriers to recruiting high quality carers, which leads to gaps 

in provision. This is a big problem in Gwynedd and especially in the Llŷn area. 

 

There is an aging population with implications for housing design and the support for people to live 

independently for as long as possible. 

 

Dementia 

Due to the nature of the condition (and the fact that symptoms manifest over time as the condition 

worsens, and a low rate of diagnosis) it is difficult to accurately calculate how many people live with 

the condition. There are national studies which estimate the proportion of the population of different 

age groups who have the condition and based on that and the age profile of Gwynedd, it can be 

estimated that there are 2,015 individuals with dementia in Gwynedd in 2020. The number of people 

with dementia aged over 65 years is expected to increase to 3,085 by 2040. 

                                                           
1 Rebalancing Care and Support White Paper 

Page 45

https://www.audit.wales/publication/care-home-commissioning-older-people
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consutation-document.pdf


 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

23 
 

 

The graph below assumes the growth in the population living with Dementia in Gwynedd between 

2020 up to 2040.  

 

In the future, as the older population increases, the numbers suffering from dementia will increase 

alongside this. Dementia UK has estimated that the current number with dementia in Britain will rise 

from 850,000 to 1,683,000 by 2039. Assuming dementia rates (by age group) remain the same, we 

project that the number with dementia in Gwynedd will rise from 2,049 to 3,494 by 2039 - an increase 

of over 70%. The projection presented here is driven by demographic ageing. 

This increase will not only affect the quality of life of those who suffer from dementia but will also 

affect the main streams such as carers, health care and community care. 

This Council continuously reviews the care home provision across Gwynedd and the impact of this 

development at Penyberth will be monitored in the surrounding area. 

Key messages from the Gwynedd Population Assessment (2019) 

Residential Care 

 The number of people aged 65 and over in Gwynedd who receive residential services is 

expected to increase by 63% by 2035. 

 Delays in the discharge of people aged over 65 from hospital lead to a loss of independence 

and cost the NHS significant sums. If they were released and had (short-term) care in a 

residential or nursing home, this would be beneficial. 

Nursing Care 

 There is a lack of care homes with nursing provision in some areas - and particularly in Llŷn. 

 This means that people must move to other areas increasing the pressure and reducing 

provision in those areas. 

Page 46



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

24 
 

 

 The average split of Continuous Health Care (CHC) to Funded Nursing Care (FNC) and Fast 

Track / end of life is: 50% CHC to 40% FNC to 10% Fast Track.   

Dementia Care / Mental health 

 There are no specialist nursing respite locations available in Gwynedd, nor any specialist 

assessment units. 

 There is a gap in the availability of male carers to meet specific needs such as the challenging 

behaviour associated with the condition. 

The Health Service needs to support specialist nursing homes to maintain the placement of individuals 

with intense needs and foster the ability of Community Psychiatric Nurses to work in the community 

to support and maintain people in the community. 

The joint CIW and HIW report: Review of healthcare support provided by Betsi Cadwaladr Health 

Board for older people living in care homes in North Wales stated that: 

 Waiting times for Community Psychiatric Nurse support were generally considered to be a 

problem, although the standard of care when support was available was well regarded. 

Discussions with care home managers illustrated the potential impact of delays on residents 

and relatives and it is important that systems are in place to ensure ongoing communication 

with the Health Bboard on incidents and issues in order to support service improvement 

 The Health Board must ensure that sufficient resources are made available to meet the needs 

of people with dementia accommodated within care homes and that services are provided in 

a timely and consistent way across North Wales, in line with the Health Board’s recently 

published dementia care strategy 

 CIW inspectors interviewed 18 care home managers about their experience of accessing 

healthcare support. The timeliness of support being provided remained an issue for some and 

overall, support for people with continence and/or mental health or dementia needs 

remained the areas of greatest concern.  

2.5.2 Current arrangements 

There are a total of 130 Residential beds in the Llŷn and Eifionydd District but following the closure of 

the Penrhos Nursing Home at the beginning of December 2020 there is no provision of nursing beds 

in the Llŷn area.  

This means that people must travel to find suitable and qualified provision, increasing pressure on 

housing in the areas they would move to. We also know that some individuals must look for locations 

outside the county which creates difficulty in terms of visiting and maintaining contact with families 

and it can be more difficult to receive a service in Welsh. 

 

 

Page 47



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

25 
 

 

Map of current residential care homes and care homes with nursing in the Llŷn and Eifionydd area 

 

Figure xX : 

75% of the Llŷn residential provision can be provided in the Dwyfor area, a figure which falls to 45.5% 

for nursing provision. In the County, 58.7% of nursing provision can be received within the area, so a 

greater number of Llŷn residents must travel out of their home to receive nursing care. It is also likely 

that they must travel further to gain access. Llŷn is able to meet 75% of residential provision within an 

area, which is comparable to the County average of 75%. 

Current barriers to service provision 

Waiting lists 

The data on 25 October 2022 shows that 50+ were on waiting lists for residential and nursing beds in 
the Llŷn and Eifionydd area (data is incomplete as we do not have the full picture for private nursing 
beds).  The 50 broken down as follows: 

 

Number on waiting list Bed Type 

24 Residential 

5 Dementia Residential 

21 Nursing  

Table XX:  

 

Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) 

We see problems arising in finding suitable locations for individuals in the community after spending 

time in hospital. 

Page 48



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

26 
 

 

The main reasons for delay are: 

 Patients waiting for residential or nursing beds 

 Hospital unable to discharge patients to a safe environment  

 No suitable Home Care package in place. 

The following table shows the delay in transfer of care from Ysbyty Gwynedd to the Llŷn and Eifionydd 
area:     

Waiting for a residential or nursing bed 
Period  – 1 January 2021 – 31 December 2021   

Waiting for a 
Home Care 

package 
  Residential 

Dementia 
residential 

Nursing 
Dementia 
nursing 

Total 

Number in Llŷn 
area 

28 7 15 7 57 130 

Number in 
Eifionydd area 

8 4 23 10 45 130 

Table XX:  

Over the above periods we see that many of the delays are in trying to discharge patients from the 

hospital, because they are waiting for a bed in a residential or nursing home setting.  In addition, high 

numbers of people had to wait for a care package to enable them to live at home.  

 We know that some Gwynedd residents were struggling to return home following a hospital 

stay, due to a lack of home carers as well as waiting lists for equipment. 

 

 Delays in the discharge of the over 65s from hospital result in independence being lost at a 

significant cost to public services.  If they were discharged and had (short-term) care in a care 

home, this would be beneficial.  

 

 There is no care home with nursing provision in Llŷn.  So, there is pressure on care homes with 

nursing in the area that is closest, as everyone wants to stay as close to their community as 

possible.  

The current fragility of the care home sector is well recognised across North Wales, with the loss of 

over 150 beds since January 1st this year.  Although we have not seen home closures in the West, the 

Health Board and Cyngor Gwynedd are being challenged weekly in relation to care home fees for all 

levels of care.  We are also seeing high numbers of in-patients who are clinically optimised who are 

delayed in hospital due to awaiting care home placements. Delays in the West account for more than 

63% of North Wales care home related delays (February 2023 Census data). 

 

 

Page 49



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

27 
 

 

CARE HOME RELATED DELAYS (February 2023 Pathway of Care Delays Validated by LAs) 

  

Number of 

patients delayed  

% of Care 

Home 

Delays 

Number of Bed 

days lost  % of Delays  

  

Anglesey 14 20% 337     

Gwynedd 30 43% 1052     

Conwy 7 10% 246     

Denbighshire  7 10% 281     

Flintshire 4 6% 101     

Wrexham  8 11% 450     

Total North Wales 

Number & % 70 33% 2467 35% 
  

In terms of delayed hospital discharges, the census shows that there were a total number of 214 

Pathways of Care Delays (validated) for February 2023, with care home delays accounting for 70 

patient delays and totalling 2,467 bed days lost.  The table below shows clearly that Gwynedd has by 

far the highest % of care home delays. 

2.5.3 Workforce issues 

Workforce sustainability - Rebalancing Care and Support (Welsh Government White paper) 

The delivery of social care is rightly labour-intensive and the availability of a skilled workforce plays a 

key role in delivering high quality of care.  

The social care workforce is typically ageing and gendered, with the vast majority of staff of 

commissioned care providers are female and over a half of the workforce is aged over 40. 

The staff turnover rate for all of the adult social care workforce in Wales is reported by the ONS at 30 

per cent in Wales.  In addition to high turnover, current issues include high vacancy rates, costly 

recruitment and training of new staff, growing use of (more expensive) agency staff, and churn within 

the sector with staff frequently moving between employers often for financial incentives or improved 

working conditions. Recent research by the Welsh Institute for Health and Social Care noted there is 

competition from employers outside the social care sectors (e.g. retail). These employers are 

considered to provide similar or better pay, with roles carrying less responsibility. Competition within 

and between social care employers and the NHS was thought to contribute to retention problems in 

the social care workforce.  

Page 50



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

28 
 

 

As part of the Fair Work Commission, the Fair Work Wales report noted that despite the sector being 

a core industry that contributes to individual and social well-being, it is a sector which displays various 

features associated with insecurity and poor working environment. In response to the 

recommendations of the report, the Welsh Government has recently convened a Social Care Forum 

which is considering how best to improve pay and other conditions of employment in the social care 

sector.  

Research indicates that pay, terms and conditions are regarded as key factors that relate to job 

satisfaction, and there is an important link between job satisfaction, service quality and the 

achievement of outcomes. Improving pay, terms and conditions is considered to be an important part 

of attracting, recruiting and retaining workers in the sector. 

The case for change underpinning the Project is based upon the need to firstly address the local 

challenges described in section 2.5 above, and secondly to support the delivery of the national and 

local strategies and wishes of local people described in the sections above.  

2021 Census data 

The first census results published in August 2022 stated that “The population of working age has 

decreased in the last ten years – there were 64,900 people aged 20-64 in 2021, which was 55.3% of all 

usual residents.  This compares to 68,800 or 56.4% in 2011.  The population aged 20-64 in Wales as a 

whole in 2021 = 56.5%; in England and Wales = 58.4%”. 

Cyngor Gwynedd  

For some years, social care staff recruitment and retention has been problematic and challenging. A 

report was submitted to the Scrutiny Committee on recruitment difficulties back in June 2019. Since 

then, the pandemic has exacerbated the situation, and we see that the pressures that staff have been 

under and continue to face has led to people leaving the sector.  

A subsequent report was recently presented to the Cyngor Gwynedd Care Scrutiny Committee 

highlighting the issues and the gaps, and reports on what Cyngor Gwynedd are doing in response in 

order to limit the impact as much as possible.  

What is being done to respond to the situation?  

Cyngor Gwynedd carries out recruitment campaigns regularly and uses various methods to do so. The 

campaigns are held locally by targeting specific areas and towns.  

Alongside our partners Cyngor Gwynedd are constantly seeking to change the perception that exists 

in terms of jobs in the care sector. Cyngor Gwynedd take opportunities to seek to highlight the wide 

range of opportunities that exist, the flexibility of the contracts that are available and the benefits for 

staff.  

One aspect in particular that should be highlighted is the collaboration that is ongoing with partners 

to seek to further develop career pathways within the field. Cyngor Gwynedd appointed an officer in 

Page 51



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

29 
 

 

December 2021 to lead on this aspect and to support the work programme in terms of holding events, 

various marketing methods, creating original and bespoke material, and identifying opportunities to 

improve work processes.  

There is a recognition nationally that staff shortage has now reached crisis point. Cyngor Gwynedd 

have recently seen efforts made nationally such as the commitment to increase the salary levels of all 

care workers to the Real Living Wage of £9.90 an hour as well as one-off financial contributions. On a 

promising note, the latest pay settlement agreed in October 2022 i.e an additional £1,925 per annum.  

We have not seen such an increase in salaries for some time.  

It should be noted that salaries in this field are recognised as a matter that needs to be addressed on 

a Wales and UK level. The problem is therefore not unique to Gwynedd and it should highlight that 

there is collaboration on a national level in Wales to seek to address these matters.  

There are differences in the way other Local Authorities provide care services, with some of them 

mainly reliant on commissioning the independent sector, however we can report from ongoing 

discussions and collaboration that other authorities are also experiencing increasing difficulties in 

recruiting and retaining staff.  

The report highlights that the situation has deteriorated in recent years, and it appears that the 

situation is not likely to improve any time soon. There is now a need for national guidance and 

intervention on the matter. 

Key Messages: Case for Change 

 Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act – the act states the need to promote co-operation and 

partnership working to promote integration of care and support.  The act also gives the powers to 

Local Authorities, with permission or working in partnership with the Health Board, to provide 

residential and nursing care.  

 Rebalancing Care and Support – this project addressess the issues raised in the government White 

Paper to rebalance the care and support market away from cost to quality and from outputs to 

outcomes. 

 Current arrangements – there is currently no nursing or dementia care provision in the Llŷn area 

so people have to travel to receive the care they need. It is anticipated an increase in the 

proportion of people over the age of 75, as well as an increase in the number of people living with 

dementia.  There are currently waiting lists for residential and nursing care services in Llŷn and 

Eifionydd of over 50 people. There is also a high number of people seeing delayed transfers from 

hospital due to lack of provision in the Llŷn and Eifionydd area.  

 Workforce issues – it is acknowledged nationally that the care sector is facing huge challenges in 

staff recruitment and retention.  This project will look at workforce best practice to ensure high 

quality staff in the Llŷn area. 

 

 

Page 52



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

30 
 

 

2.5.4 The vision 

The Llŷn community is known for its resilience and independence borne out of the surrounding 

geography and rurality. Traditionally, adult children have settled nearby close to family members 

which has meant families have been able to step in to provide care for older relatives when necessary. 

However this trend is becoming less prevalent and is likely to continue. This element of unmet need 

has to be considered within the overall service model. 

There is also wide recognition that the former Penrhos Polish Home model of care was very innovative 

in terms of keeping its residents well, independent and out of care. It will be important to maintain 

and build on this ethos in terms of the future plans for the site. 

The service model should: 

 Maintain the current overall ethos - promoting quality of life, maintaining independence, 

ensuring wellbeing and reducing reliance on dependent care for as long as possible; 

 Deliver a spectrum of supported care - from minimal dependence (independent living 

apartments) to assisted living, with access to step-up/down care, to residential care and to 

nursing and end of life care, as determined by an individual’s needs; 

 Promote a flexible approach to the care home beds allowing flexibility in bed usage where 

possible to meet local needs rather than fixed / designated bed provision, thereby improving 

efficiency; 

 Recognise the importance of relationships (contracting) with the Third Sector to ensure 

service resilience (for example Mental Health); 

 Future-proof the overall provision taking into account older people population projections 

and current unmet need. 

 

The project’s vision is for a new kind of partnership, which thinks differently about the relationship 
between services and the community for the future.   

Our vision can be summarised as follows: 

 

Penyberth, Penrhos Vision 
 

To provide high quality, energy efficient (low carbon) homes and health and care services in a 
unique village setting. The development will mainly provide homes for people with care/ healthcare 
needs; but will also provide some affordable housing for local people and for people who will work 
on site in the new care home.   
 

 

2.5.5 Investment Objectives  

The Investment Objectives are the ‘targeted’ outcomes for the project. They reflect the rationale for 

the project and are used as part of the option appraisal process described in the Economic Case.  The 

Investment objectives for this business case are set out in the figure, below. These objectives: 

Page 53



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

31 
 

 

 Support the achievement of our vision 

 Respond to the Case for Change described above. 

 

Investment Objectives 

One To support the rebalancing of the residential and nursing care market (for the Gwynedd 

area) by increasing delivery from the public / not for profit sector focused on delivering 

person centred outcomes for all. 

Two To support the provision of care closer to home by improving the accessibility of 

residential and nursing care, ensuring provision of services in the Welsh language. 

Three To support sustainability of local residential and nursing care provision through a 

collaborative, partnership approach which will integrate with the wider spectrum of care 

delivered from the Penyberth, Penrhos site. 

Four To develop an innovative workforce model that will support the long-term health and 

social care sector with the potential for application in other areas of North Wales and 

create opportunities for training through Welsh Language. 

Five To ensure purposefully designed accommodation which will meet the care needs of 

individuals both now and into the future. 

Six To deliver value for money through the efficient use of resources and delivery of 

environmentally sensitive accommodation that is carbon neutral.  

Figure XX: Investment Objectives 

These investment objectives have been used throughout the SOC development process: 

 As the option evaluation criteria for the capital option appraisal process described in the 

Economic Case.  

 To help us to define and identify the programme benefits, described below and in the 

Economic Case. 

Further work will be completed at Outline Business Case stage to quantify the investment objectives.  

2.8 SCOPE AND KEY SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 

Key service requirements are the service changes required to meet the investment objectives 
described above.  The key service requirements for this business case are summarised in the table 
below.  

The site should be designed with flexibility for the future in mind. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

32 
 

 

 Requirement Desirable 

Residential 
requirements 

 32 beds for dementia care 
 2 beds for respite care 

 Space on site to accommodate future 
needs.   

 Consideration given to Covid management, 
easy to isolate residents, air circulation, 
manage infection.  

 Consideration to RNIB requirements. 
 Toilet facilities close to communal areas 

but also private.  
 Proximity to Nursing station and staffing. 
 Consideration given to planning for 

dementia residents, colour contrast etc 
 Safe outside space and visual interest.  

 

Nursing care 
requirements 

 25 beds of which 15 would 
be prioritised for dementia 
care 

 2 beds for respite nursing 
care 

 A modular design approach to allow for 
Single Rooms and to be Dementia friendly 

 Dedicated garden for walking and 
exercising / keeping fit 

 Robust design for challenging behaviour. 
 Generic design to meet requirements for 

Dementia and General Nursing to ensure 
flexibility in use, and to adapt in changes 
to demand and needs. 

Naturally with such a need for the number of beds the design will also consider the communal and 

additional areas required. 

Table XX: Scope and Key Service Requirements 

This project does not address the need for extra care housing, step down flat, sheltered housing, 

Discharge to Recover then Assess (D2RA) beds as they form part of the Penyberth, Penrhos 

Redevelopment Project.  End of life beds would be offered at Bryn Beryl hospital. 

2.9 BENEFITS 

The Benefits Criteria are aligned with the Investment Objectives and are shown below. These 

will be further developed at next stage business case. 

 

Investment Objectives Main Benefits Criteria 

1 To support the rebalancing of the 
residential and nursing care 
market (for the Gwynedd area) 
by increasing delivery from the 
public / not for profit sector 
focused on delivering person 
centred outcomes for all. 

 Securing of nursing provision in local area within LA 
and CHC rates 

 Flexible health and care provision (“seamless care” 
as described in A Healthier Wales) 

 Partnership approach between Health and Local 
Authority may provide further opportunities for 
integrated approaches 

 

Page 55



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

33 
 

 

2 To support the provision of care 
closer to home by improving the 
accessibility of residential and 
nursing care, ensuring provision 
of services in the Welsh language. 

 No-one stays longer than they need to in acute 
inpatient care. There are no “delayed transfers of 
care” due to lack of provision of residential and 
nursing beds 

 

3 To support sustainability of local 
residential and nursing care 
provision through a collaborative, 
partnership approach which will 
integrate with the wider 
spectrum of care delivered from 
the Penyberth, Penrhos site. 

 By having public sector provision in nursing – ability 
to understand more acutely the pressures of sector 
and ability to support smaller providers 

 

4 To develop an innovative 
workforce model that will 
support the long-term health and 
social care sector with the 
potential for application in other 
areas of North Wales and create 
opportunities for training through 
Welsh Language. 

 Employment opportunities for local 
residents  

 Provide local residents with the right skills 
for long term employment 

 Provide school leavers with career 
aspirations meaningful and long-term 
employment 

 Local supply chain is supported and grown 
 Ability to train and develop medical, nursing and 

care staff through secondment and shadowing 
opportunities within the provision 

 Welsh language skills of all staff will be part of the 
recruitment policy of Council. 

5 To ensure purposefully designed 
accommodation which will meet 
the care needs of individuals both 
now and into the future. 

 Resilient and more appropriate buildings and 
infrastructure 

 The new development will be well integrated into 
the character of the surrounding area 

 Providing a modern, accessible working 
environment that motivates different 
professional groups to operate 
collaboratively 

 Provides a demenstrable vision for service 
integration 

 Positive contribution towards decarbonisation / 
net zero agenda; Accommodation that meets 
current building recommendations (e.g. HBN / 
DDA / ventilation / infection prevention) 

 Meets BREEAM aspirations. 

Table XX: Initial Benefits Analysis 

2.10 RISKS, CONSTRAINTS AND DEPENDENCIES 

As with any major project there are several strategic risks, which if they remain unmitigated might 

jeopardise the delivery of the project.  The Project Group has completed an initial risk analysis and 

identified some high level mitigating actions that can be put in place to address these strategic risks. 

The full risk register is enclosed as Appendix A to this SOC and a summary of key strategic risks is 

included in Table below.  

Page 56



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

34 
 

 

 

Risk description Impact Likelihood Score Mitigation Mitigated 
score 

Workforce availability – recruiting the staff (numbers and skills 

/ competencies) required to support this model in a rural area 

(including nursing, primary care, therapies) will be a significant 

challenge, so an innovative, sustainable, and flexible approach 

is required which needs to ensure that further workforce 

problems are not exasperated in the home care sector. 

 

 

5 4 20 A workforce subgroup is currently 
exploring a potential model. There is an 
opportunity here to ensure that nursing 
placements within care homes become a 
more integral part of the career of nursing 
staff. By seconding nursing staff to the 
employment of the Council, whilst 
retaining oversight by the Health Board’s 
clinical staff would be essential in terms of 
governance. 

3 

Capital Funding availability – There is potential to access capital 

monies from WG funds for the care home - the Housing with 

Care Fund (HCF) and the Integration & Rebalancing Capital 

Fund (IRCF), as well as the option for Cyngor Gwynedd to take 

out a loan / part loan. 

5 3 15 The Penyberth, Penrhos project has been 
included on the regional funding 
requirement list as well as regular 
conversations with the Welsh Government 
highlighting the need. 

1 

Destabilisation of the Independent Market – we need to fully 

understand the impact on local independent providers of 

nursing care of an intervention by a public sector partnership 

in terms of in-house nursing care provision and the potential 

for nursing home closures. However, by allowing this 

important provision to be delivered solely by the independent 

sector, it is creating a risk to the Health Board and the Local 

Authority and fails to build upon new opportunities set out by 

Welsh Government. 

4 2 8 Robust communication and engagement 
plan to ensure that local care home 
providers are fully engaged.   
 
This is a new model of care providing a 
wider range of opportunities  / choice for 
residents, families, staff. 

2 

P
age 57



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

35 
 

 

Risk description Impact Likelihood Score Mitigation Mitigated 
score 

Location / site availability - The Penyberth, Penrhos site is 

extensive and initial plans from Clwyd Alyn show the various 

phases of development for supported and independent living 

apartments, affordable local housing, as well as a specific 

location identified for the future care home. 

 

5 1 5 A site has already been identified for the 
Care Home, following an assessment of 
available land on the Penyberth, Penrhos 
site by Clwyd Alyn. The Penyberth, Penrhos 
site is now in the ownership of Clwyd Alyn 
and is of suitable size to meet the 
accommodation needs of the care home 
project. Heads of Terms agreed between 
Cyngor Gwynedd and Clwyd Alyn regarding 
the 2-acre site identified. 

1 

Revenue Funding availability – Whilst a financial assessment 

has not been completed to date, the proposal will need to 

demonstrate efficiencies and value for money and in 

affordability terms will need to be either revenue neutral or 

have a clear indication of where additional funding will come 

from. This will include an evaluation of CHC and FNC costs.  

Viability – it may be necessary to widen the catchment area for 

the proposed care home facility to ensure optimum occupancy 

levels and value for money. 

3 1 3 Risk appetite to make this work 2 

Table Xx: Summary of Strategic Risks and Mitigations 

P
age 58



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

36 
 

 

3. ECONOMIC CASE 

3.1 CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS  

Critical Success Factors (CSFs) are the attributes essential for successful delivery of the project, against 

which the options for the delivery of the project should be appraised, alongside the investment 

objectives. We considered the following Critical Success Factors:  

 

Critical Success Factor Description 

Strategic fit and business needs Meets agreed spending objectives, related business needs 
and service requirements. 
Align with local and national strategic direction. 

Potential Value for Money Optimises public value (social, economic, and environmental) 
in terms of potential costs, benefits, efficiencies and risks. 

Potential achievability The ability of the Cyngor Gwynedd / BCUHB partnership to 
deliver the required services and deliverables. 

Supply-side capacity and 
capability 

The partnership’s ability to innovate, adapt, introduce, 
support, and manage the required level of change, including 
the management of associated risks.  
The partnership’s ability to further develop progressive and 
collaborative working within and across boundaries. 

Potential affordability The partnership’s ability to fund the required level of 
expenditure – namely, the revenue consequences associated 
with the proposed investment and service delivery model. 

Table XX: Initial Benefits Analysis 

3.2 OPTIONS 

This project is a response to explore the opportunity for Cyngor Gwynedd and BCUHB to work in 

partnership to establish and maintain a care home with nursing at Penyberth, Penrhos, Llanbedrog. 

This site in particular has been identified following the transfer of the ‘Polish Village’ to Clwyd Alyn 

and the closure of the care home on the site. 

The following simple scoring systems was used to evaluate the options against the Critical Success 

Factors and the Investment Objectives. 

Rating Description 

 Not met 

 Partially met 

 Fully met 

The following options have been considered in the context of the current market namely, that the 

Health Board does not directly provide residential care with nursing and the lack of private providers 

in the Llŷn area.

Page 59



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

37 
 

 

Key  Option 1: 
Business 
as usual 

Option 2: 
Commission 
all beds 
from a 
private 
provider  

Option 3: 
Re-
purposing 
community 
hospitals 

Option 4: 
24/7 
home care 
for 
nursing 
and 
residential 
provision 

Option 5: 
LA provider 
only, HB 
provider 
only or LA, 
HB, Private 
Provider 
partnership 

Option 6: 
Partnership 
with LA and 
HB 

 
Not met 
 

 
Partially 
met 

 Fully met 

Investment objectives 

Rebalancing the 
residential and 
nursing care 
market  

      

Support the 
provision of care 
closer to home  

      

Support 
sustainability of 
local residential 
and nursing care 
provision  

      

Develop an 
innovative 
workforce 
model  

      

Ensure 
purposefully 
designed 
accommodation 
which will meet 
the care needs 
of individuals  

      

Deliver value for 
money through 
the efficient use 
of resources  

      

Critical Success Factors 

Strategic fit and 
business needs 

      

Potential VFM       

Potential 
achievability 

      

Supply-side 
capacity and 
capability 

      

Potential 
affordability 

      

Page 60



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

38 
 

 

The Board reviewed this long list of options in order to create a shortlist of the options believed to 

best deliver the project scope and Service Requirements. The outcome of these shortlisting 

discussions is set out in the Table below.  

Option Strengths & 
Opportunities 

Weaknesses & Threats Decision 

Option 1: Business as 
usual  

   Does not meet service 
requirements or deliver 
associated benefits 

Retain option 
for 
comparative 
purposes only 

Option 2: 
Commission all beds 
from a private 
provider 

 Meets some of the 
service requirements 

 No private provision 
currently in place in the 
Llŷn area 

 Does not meet service 
requirements  

Ruled out 

Option 3: Re-
purposing  
community Hospitals 

 Meets some of the 
service requirements 

 The Bryn Beryl site 
would have to be 
repurposed to ensure 
care closer to home 

Ruled out 

Option 4: 24/7 home 
care for nursing and 
residential provision 

 Meets some of the 
service requirements 

 AvaiIability of 
workforce in the area 
to meet demand 

 Risk of people with high 
needs living alone 

Ruled out 

Option 5: LA provider 
only, HB provider 
only or LA, HB, 
Private Provider 
partnership 

 Meets some of the 
service requirements 

 Cannot provide nursing 
care without the 
partnership of the 
Health Bboard 

Ruled out 

Option 6: Partnership 
with LA and HB 

 Meets all of the service 
requirements 

 Availability of capital 
funds 

 Availability of 
workforce 

Explore 
further 

Table XX: Summary of options shortlist 

It was concluded that Options 1 and 11 should be further developed for more detailed evaluation 

against the Investment Objectives described in the Strategic Case and the Critical Success Factors set 

out in 3.1.  

The following simple scoring system was used to evaluate the shortlisted options against the Critical 

Success Factors and the Investment Objectives. 

Rating Description 

0 Negative or no impact on criteria 

1 Substantially meets criteria 

2 Fully meets criteria 

 

Page 61



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

39 
 

 

A summary of the shortlisting exercise is set out on Table XX, below. This shows that at SOC stage the 

preferred way forwards is Option 11. This is a balanced investment option, which meets each of the 

Service Requirements.  

 Option 1: Business as usual Option 11: Partnership 
with Local Authority and 
the Health Board 

Investment Objectives   

Rebalancing the residential and 
nursing care market  

0 2 

Support the provision of care closer to 
home  

0 2 

Support sustainability of local 
residential and nursing care provision  

0 2 

Develop an innovative workforce 
model  

0 2 

Ensure purposefully designed 
accommodation which will meet the 
care needs of individuals  

0 2 

Deliver value for money through the 
efficient use of resources  

0 2 

Critical Success Factors   

Strategic fit and business needs 0 2 

Potential VFM 0 2 

Potential achievability 0 2 

Supply-side capacity and capability 0 2 

Potential affordability 0 2 

Figure XX: Options shortlist review 

 

  

Page 62



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

40 
 

 

4. COMMERCIAL 

4.1 INTRODUCTION 

This section of the SOC outlines the proposed deal in relation to the preferred way forward 

outlined in the economic case. It gives a high level, preliminary view. Detailed analysis will take 

place within the next stage business case. 

 

4.2 REQUIRED SERVICES  

Given the estimated levels of capital expenditure, the scheme will procure within the guidance set out 
in the Notice for Framework Agreements the Welsh Public Sector (2017) by the Welsh Government.  

 

4.3 POTENTIAL FOR RISK TRANSFER  

This section provides an initial assessment of how the associated risks might be apportioned between 
the Project Partners and the contractor. The general principle is to ensure that risks should be passed 
to ‘the party best able to manage them’, subject to value for money (VFM). Figure XX below outlines 
the potential allocation of risk, which is the standard distribution at this stage in the development of 
a scheme. 

  

# Risk Categories Potential Allocation 

  Public Private Shared 

1 Design      

2 Construction & Development    

3 Transition & Implementation    

4 Availability and Performance    

5 Operating    

6 Variability of Revenue    

7 Termination    

8 Technology and Obsolescence    

9 Control    

10 Residual Value    

11 Financing    

12 Legislative    

13 Other Project Risks    

Figure XX, Potential risk allocation 

4.4 PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS (INCLUDING TUPE) 

It is anticipated that the TUPE – (Transfer of Undertakings Protection of Employment) Regulations 
1981 – will not apply to this investment.  

 

 

Page 63



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

41 
 

 

4.5 PROCUREMENT STRATEGY AND IMPLEMENTATION TIMESCALES  

 

As partners both Cyngor Gwynedd and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board will be in a position 

to actively support the Project with their expertise. The former through the auspices of the Gwynedd 

Planning Department to support the planning application and the Property Department with their 

construction expertise and the latter through the BCUHB Estates Department.  

Procurement will be aligned with the Wales Procurement Policy Statement.  

During the OBC stage we will be aiming for the BREEAM Excellent standard and will use the 

Community Benefits Measurement Toolkit to capture the full range of Community Benefits from the 

project.   

Within an indicative funding envelope of £14.6m under the lead of Cyngor Gwynedd the commercial 

case and development of the Project will draw on all the skillsets and technical expertise of the 

respective partners.     

Subject to agreement of the SOC, and Welsh Government (WG) approval with an approved realistic 

timeline committed, the implementation milestones will be as set out in the table below.  

# Project Milestones Indicative Dates 

A Partnership Approval of SOC March 2023 

B WG review of SOC and approval to proceed May 2023 

C Planning process commenced August 2023 

D Outline Planning permission May 2024 

E Completion of OBC inc. internal approval to proceed July 2024 

F WG review of OBC and approval to proceed September 2024 

G Formal Planning Application September 2024 

H Completion of FBC inc. internal approval to proceed March 2025 

I WG review of FBC and approval to proceed April 2025 

J Construction, Completion and Handover September 2025 – March 2027 

K Occupation April 2027 

Table XX: Predicted Project Timeline and Implementation Milestones 

  

Page 64

https://gov.wales/wales-procurement-policy-statement


 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

42 
 

 

5. FINANCIAL  

5.1 INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this section is to set out the indicative financial implications of the preferred option 

(as set out in the economic case section) and the proposed deal (as described in the commercial case). 

The detailed analysis of the financial case, including affordability, is part of the development of the 

OBC/FBC. 

 

5.2 CAPITAL COSTS 

As outlined in the Economic Case, the capital costs of the scheme will depend on the final decision of 

the scope of services and the solution/s, which will be determined as part of the OBC stage. 

Indicative design work has been undertaken on what is believed to be the maximum potential scope 

of the scheme as outlined in the Economic Case – i.e. new build on the Penyberth, Penrhos site.  

The estimated total cost of this solution is £14.6 million excluding VAT.  It is emphasised that this is 

intended to give an estimate of the maximum capital expenditure - and should not be regarded as the 

cost of the preferred option, which is yet to be determined.  Further details can be seen in Appendix 

B. 

Description of Component Cost £’000 

New Build Care Home with Nursing 9,655 

Other Costs (Pre-construction, Preliminaries – 15% of Construction cost) 1,284 

Fit out  250 

15% contingency and Optimism Bias 1,708 

15% Inflation Uplift and Risk Allowance 1,498 

OBC Development phase costs (Project Manager, Design, Planning, OBC development) 200 

TOTAL COST  14,595 

Table XX: Estimated Capital Costs 

Note:  

A. Including Inflation Uplift and Risk Allowance, allowance for OBC development phase the 

total cost estimate amounts to £14.6 Million 

B. Seek grant funding of £200,000 in 2023-24 (highlighted in red font in the table above) to 

develop a fully detailed plan, estimate and a comprehensive Outline Business Case. 

 

 

Page 65



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

43 
 

 

5.3 FUNDING 

There are several sources of funding available to the partners and the development will need to be 

met through a package of capital and revenue funding, including grants and other contributions, with 

match funding from partner organisations where appropriate. The following are the likely sources of 

funding available: 

 Health and Social Care Integration and Rebalancing Capital (IRCF) 

 Cyngor Gwynedd 

 Besti Cadwalader University Health Board. 

 

5.4 AFFORDABILITY: IMPACT ON FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY OF THE PROJECT AND ON 

PARTNER ORGANISATION’S REVENUE POSITIONS  

The affordability assessment will be conducted during the Outline Business Case and Full Business 

Case development process. The assessment will focus on determining:  

1. Financial Sustainability of the proposed Development for its entire estimated life 

2. Financial Impact on partner organisations’ revenue positions.  

This will be underpinned by the development of a financial governance agreement between Cyngor 

Gwynedd and BCUHB, which will set out the roles, responsibilities, duties, reporting arrangements, 

funding protocols, etc.  It is anticipated that the proposal will be revenue-neutral or better for the 

Local Authority and the Health Board.  At this stage the costs outlined so far and the assumptions 

made comprise the following:  

 Clwyd Alyn will transfer the 2-acre piece of land to Cyngor Gwynedd at a nominal fee / 

peppercorn rent.  

 

 Current trends show that in-house residential service provision within Cyngor Gwynedd is 

currently at an average occupancy level of 92%, and the previous Polish Care Home had an 

average occupancy level of 90%.  The occupancy levels within the independent sector in 

Gwynedd is higher, at 95%. 

 

Type of bed 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 Average 

Residential beds 13.3 15.3 11.3 12.7 13.1 

Nursing beds 24.9 24.1 25.6 23.3 24.5 

Average Occupancy % 91% 94% 88% 86% 90% 

Table XX: Data provided by the Polish Care Home, 42 beds 

 

 

Page 66



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

44 
 

 

 The revenue model assumes 92% occupancy levels for the care home with nursing at a small 

surplus of £6k.  Further work at the OBC stage will further evaluate revenue estimates to bring 

this to a break even position as well as evaluate the phased approach of opening the care 

home with nursing.  The mix of beds will be further investigated during the OBC stage. 

 

 The following estimates are based on the current weekly rates paid to the independent sector 

in Gwynedd.  Further details can be seen in Appendix C. 

 

 92% 
occupancy 

90% 
occupancy 

80% 
occupancy 

70% 
occupancy 

 £000 £000 £’000 £’000 

Total expenditure £2,831 £2,831 £2,831 £2,831 

Health Board 
contribution 

£1,052 £1,035 £0,953 £0,871 

Cyngor Gwynedd 
contribution 

£1,785 £1,749 £1,588 £1,405 

Surplus / Defecit -£0,006 £0,047 £0,289 £0,554 
Table XX: Income and Expenditure estimates for the Care Home 

 Should occupancy fall below 92% the above table shows the order of magnitude of the defecit 

at differing occupancy levels.  

 

 The revenue affordability position of the Health Board is dependent on delivering provision at 

or below current Local Authority and CHC rates. 

 

 Nothing has been included in the calculations at this stage for cash-releasing revenue savings 

through a reduction in the number of Acute and Community Hospital beds being blocked by 

patients who require nursing home care.  This is because, given the current high levels of bed 

occupancy, this project is more likely to result in improved patient flow than in cash-releasing 

bed closures.  However, it may allow a reduction in spend on escalation beds within the Health 

Board.  This will be fully explored as part of the development of the OBC. 

 

 Depreciation for the new build at a cost of £9.5m, is calculated at £237,500 per annum.  It is 

assumed that this will be fully funded by the Welsh Government. 

 

 The asset would be owned outright by Gwynedd Council, which has confirmed that neither 

depreciation costs nor capital charges would be passed on to the Health Board.  

 

 

 

  

Page 67



 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

45 
 

 

6. MANAGEMENT CASE 

6.1 INTRODUCTION 

This section of the SOC addresses the achievability of the scheme. Its purpose is to set out the actions 

that will be required to ensure successful delivery. 

 

6.2 PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS 

It was agreed following initial feasibility to put formal project arrangements in place to ensure clarity 

of roles and responsibilities of each partner from the outset. Below is an outline of the structure and 

responsibilities at each level. 

North Wales Regional Partnership Board 

Regional Partnership Boards (RPBs) are a statutory health and care partnership, established as part of 

the Social Services and Well Being Act in order to: 

 improve the well-being of the population 

 improve how health and care services are delivered. 

The North Wales RPB has recently taken on responsibility for administering a significant amount of 

capital on behalf of the Welsh Government, including the Integration and Rebalancing Care Fund 

(IRCF), from which the Project is seeking support. The RPB is currently producing a Strategic Capital 

Plan.  The RPB will form a part of the pathway of approval at each business case stage. 

Penrhos Programme Board  

 Provide strategic leadership and overview of the project from the primary partners in the 

project  

 Membership includes senior officers / managers from each partner organisation and key 

stakeholders  

 Manages risks and ensures the project works towards reaching the identified goal.  

Project Board (Gwynedd Council and BCUHB) 

 Led by Project Manager   

 Co-ordinates and oversees the action plan led by individual work stream and its designated 

responsible officer   

 Accountable to Penrhos Programme Board.  

Existing partner organisation Boards retain the power to sign off the business case, at each stage of 

the development process through their organisational governance arrangements: 

 Cyngor Gwynedd – Cabinet 

 BCUHB – West IHC, Capital Investment Group, Executive Team, PFIG and Health Board.  

Page 68

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents


 

 
Strategic Outline Case – Penyberth Care Home, Penrhos  

46 
 

 

The figure below sets out the Project Governance arrangements. 

 

 

6.3 PROFESSIONAL ADVISORS 

The Project Team is supported by a number of experienced external advisors. A list of current advisors 

and their role in supporting the project to date is summarised in the table below. 

Provider Responsibilities 

Hugh James Legal advice 

Lovelock Mitchell Architects 

Wakemans Cost Consultant 

Table X: Project Advisors 

 

6.5 RISK MANAGEMENT 

A detailed risk register has been prepared, and is included in the appendices. The register identifies 

the likelihood of individual risks occurring, together with potential mitigation measures.   

 

 

 

 

Page 69



 Feb 2023

Cyf Risg / 
Risk Ref

Risg / Risk

Risg 
Cynhenid / 

Inherent 
Risk

Risg 
Gweddilliol / 

Residual 
Risk

1 Transfer of land ownership C1 C2
1 Is there sufficient scope within the local job market? B2 C2
1 Poor communication B2 C2
2 Developments at Bryn Awelon Care Home   

2 Failure to recruit and train staff ready for go-live B2 C2

2
Delays in receiving confirmation / information regarding 
details of the scheme C2 D3

3 SOC development, approval and affordability   
3 Availabiity of Registered nurses in the area B2  

3 Persons losing interest whilst the scheme is being built B2 B2
4 OBC development, approval and affordability   
4 Availabiity of care staff in the area B2  

4 Community Engagement, Publicity and Communications B3 E5
5 FBC development, approval and affordability 0  

5
Availabiity of ancillary staff in the area e.g. maintenance, 
caretaker B2  

5 Marketing activities delayed D1 D1

6
Partnership agreement between CG & BCUHB to be agreed 
and signed   

6 Recruitment of Registered Care Manger for the site B2  
6 Media channels being fully booked C3 C3

7
Delay to receipt of funding affecting design progression and 
submission of Planning application D2 E5

7
Delay in signing off marketing communications / activities due 
to time constraints and resources. D3 D3

8
Specific funding requirements affecting design / progression of 
design E5 E5

8 Ensure appropriate Media Channels are used. D3 D3

9
Marketing and Communication plan not produced in time or 
incomplete   

9 Processes and agreements are not  developed or adhered to
C2 C3

10 Too many competing priorities within the programme
B2 C2

11 Failure for Care provider to mobilize for start of contract
C2 C3

12
Failure to maintain steady state KPIs  re occupancy levels and 
income collection C2 C3

13 Legal Charge C3 C3
14 Independent Sector Care Home Fees   

Crynodeb o Risg / Summary of Risks

Page 1 of 1
Page 70



 

Te
by

go
lrw

yd
d 

 /
 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

Ef
fa

ith
 /
 Im

pa
ct
   
   
   
 

Sg
ôr

 /
 S
co
re

Te
by

go
lrw

yd
d 

/ 
Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

Ef
fa

ith
 /
 Im

pa
ct
   
   
   
 

Sg
ôr

 /
 S
co
re

Gweithred / Action

1
Transfer of land 
ownership 

No land in place to build the 
care home

Clwyd Alyn / 
CG

C 1 C1 CA to provide draft HOT to CG C 2 C2
The land is in the ownership of 
Clwyd Alyn but needs to be 
transferred to CG

2
Developments at Bryn 
Awelon Care Home

Business case no longer viable CG / BCUHB         

3
SOC development, 
approval and 
affordability

No funds in place to continue 
with the build

CG / BCUHB         

4
OBC development, 
approval and 
affordability

No funds in place to continue 
with the build

CG / BCUHB         

5
FBC development, 
approval and 
affordability

No funds in place to continue 
with the build

CG / BCUHB         

6
Partnership agreement 
between CG & BCUHB to 
be agreed and signed

Partners not signed up to the 
arrangements therefore unable 
to progess with the project

CG / BCUHB         

7

Delay to receipt of 
funding affecting design 
progression and 
submission of Planning 
application

Delay to start on site CG / BCUHB D 2 D2
Need to agree design and 
submit Planning Application 

E 5 E5 Design Group to be established

8

Specific funding 
requirements affecting 
design / progression of 
design

Delay to start on site CG / BCUHB E 5 E5
Requirements incorporated into 
the design

E 5 E5 Design Group to be established

9
Processes and 
agreements are not  
developed or adhered to

Unsustainable model resulting in 
a scheme filled with people who 
do not have relevant care or 
support needs, Failure to fill the 
care home

CG / BCUHB C 2 C2

Need to ensure Management 
agreement, nominations 
agreement and eligibility criteria 
are in place.

C 3 C3

Ensure compliance with 
management agreement and 
eligibility criteria. All parties 
adhere to the agreement. 

Risg Gweddilliol / Residual 
Risk

Cy
fe

irn
od

 R
is

g 
/ 
Ri
sk
 ID

Risk Impact (Consequences)
Perchennog y 
Risg  / Risk 
Owner

Risg Cynhenid / 
Inherent Risk

 Existing Controls

P
age 71



10
Too many competing 
priorities within the 
programme

Failure to deliver efficiencies, 
Delays to the programme due to 
other priorities being taken 
forward resulting in delays in the 
opening of the scheme, 
Objectives not completed and 
benefits not realised

CG / BCUHB B 2 B2

Programme Board meet on a 
monthly basis, comprising of 
Senior Officer from 
CG/CA/BCUHB. Further sub 
groups will be establised to look 
at operational matters, 
communication, design and 
construction. 

C 2 C2
Sub groups to be arranged and 
operational and project board 
meetings.

11
Failure for Care provider 
to mobilize for start of 
contract

Delays in care provision thereby 
affecting mobilisation and 
financial model.

CG / BCUHB C 2 C2
Authority to determine 
approach and timeframe aligned 
to scheme completion.

C 3 C3 tbc

12

Failure to maintain 
steady state KPIs  re 
occupancy levels and 
income collection

Financial loss to the Group and 
void financial impact on xxx to 
cover void loss periods

CG / BCUHB C 2 C2
KPI to be agreed and allocations 
criteria tba/Tenancy agreement 
tba & staffing structure tba

C 3 C3 operational delivery plan tba

P
age 72



Te
by

go
lrw

yd
d 

 /
 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

Ef
fa

ith
 /

 Im
pa

ct
   

   
   

 

Sg
ôr

 /
 S

co
re

Te
by

go
lrw

yd
d 

/ 
Li

ke
lih

oo
d 

Ef
fa

ith
 /

 Im
pa

ct
   

   
   

 

Sg
ôr

 /
 S

co
re

Action

Swyddog 
Cyfrifol / 
Responsible 
Officer

Dyddiad  
Targed / 
Target Date

1

Is there sufficient scope 
within the local job 
market?

Delays in opening all beds within 
the care home CG / BCUHB B 2 B2

Early appointment of the Manager to take place. 
Recruitment process for Ancillary posts to commence 
in line with the construction completion date. HR to 
research job market in the catchment area and 
produce recruitment plan. C 2 C2  tba  

Misol / 
Monthly

2

Failure to recruit and 
train staff ready for go-
live Delays in opening the care home CG / BCUHB B 2 B2

CG & BCUHB staff recruitment and mobilisation plan 
prepared. establish recruitment / workforce strategy 
group which will consider new working models, 
increased numbers of people accssing 'specialist' 
training.  Consider staffing model for phased opeing 
of beds, Inclusion in West Integrated Health 
Community workforce plans C 2 C2

To include kitchen staff, 
domestics and scheme 
Manager
Noted that recruitment 
is an issue now, and look 
at possiblity of 
developing own staff in 
advance. tba  

Misol / 
Monthly

3

Availabiity of Registered 
nurses in the area Delays in opening the care home CG / BCUHB B 2 B2

Workforce Plan to include, Recruitement, training, 
professional opportunites.  Opportunities for social 
and health staff to undertake additional training -
Grow our own.  Clinical Assistants, key worker 
accommodation. Opportunity to work across Health 
and social care.  Explore Admiral Nurses to support 
EMI nursing beds.  Phasing of opening of beds to 
ensure right staffing levels and model        

4

Availabiity of care staff 
in the area Delays in opening the care home CG / BCUHB B 2 B2

Workforce Plan to include, Recruitement, training, 
professional opportunites.  Opportunities for social 
and health staff to undertake additional training -
Grow our own.  Clinical Assistants, key worker 
accommodation. Opportunity to work across Health 
and social care.  Phasing of opening of beds to ensure 
right staffing levels and model        

5

Availabiity of ancillary 
staff in the area e.g. 
maintenance, caretaker Delays in opening the care home CG / BCUHB B 2 B2

Workforce Plan to include, Recruitement, training, 
professional opportunites.  Opportunities for social 
and health staff to undertake additional training -
Grow our own.  Clinical Assistants, key worker 
accommodation. Opportunity to work across Health 
and social care.  Explore Admiral Nurses to support 
EMI nursing beds.  Phasing of opening of beds to 
ensure right staffing levels and model        

6

Recruitment of 
Registered Care Manger 
for the site Delays in opening the care home CG / BCUHB B 2 B2

Workforce Plan to include, Recruitement, training, 
professional opportunites.  Opportunities for social 
and health staff to undertake additional training -
Grow our own.  Clinical Assistants, key worker 
accommodation. Opportunity to work across Health 
and social care.  Phasing of opening of beds to ensure 
right staffing levels and model        

Risg Gweddilliol / 
Residual Risk

Gweithred Ychwanegol Sydd 
Eu Hangen / Additional Action 

Am
ld

er
 A

do
ly

gu
 /

 
Re

vi
ew

 F
re

qu
en

cy

Cy
fe

irn
od

 R
is

g 
/ 

Ri
sk

 ID

Risk Impact (Consequences)

Perchennog y 
Risg  /         Risk 
Owner

Risg Cynhenid / 
Inherent Risk

Existing Controls

P
age 73



Te
by

go
lrw

yd
d 

 /
 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

Ef
fa

ith
 /

 Im
pa

ct
   

   
   

 

Sg
ôr

 /
 S

co
re

Te
by

go
lrw

yd
d 

/ 
Li

ke
lih

oo
d 

Ef
fa

ith
 /

 Im
pa

ct
   

   
   

 

Sg
ôr

 /
 S

co
re

Action

Swyddog 
Cyfrifol / 

Responsible 
Officer

Dyddiad  
Targed / 

Target Date

1

Poor communication
Building not fit for purpose due 
to the relevant people not 
having contributed in the 
planning stages, Poor marketing 
and consultation resulting in the 
scheme not being full, 
Breakdown in relationship 
between the Council and BCUHB 
resulting in delays in the 
opening of the scheme and a 
bad reputation for the Council

B 2 B2

Regular Build and Design Group Meetings, 
Communications Group set up

C 2 C2

Communication Plan 
created, Marketing 
events and materials 

Operations, 
communication and 
Technical meeting held 
on a monthly basis.

tba
Parhaus / 
Ongoing

2

Delays in receiving 
confirmation / 
information regarding 
details of the scheme

Resulting in the delay of creating 
a communications plan, 
marketing activities and 
timeline. 

C 2 C2
Attend stakeholders meetings and challenge 
timescales and revise strategy accordingly

D 3 D3

Email setup for enquires.
Expressions of interest 
register in place.
Marketing and comms 
groups established.

tba
Chwarterol / 

Quarterly

3

Persons losing interest 
whilst the scheme is 
being built 

Consequently further marketing 
may be required (resulting in 
increased costs) to attract new 
potential residents.              i) 
Longer void periods and 
consequential impact of scheme 
financial viability as a result of 
loss of fee income and ii) 
reputational damage

B 2 B2

i) Attend stakeholders meetings and challenge 
timescales and revise strategy accordingly, ii) 
continued positive communication with potential 
residents, (those that have expressed an interest) 
appointed resident reps and other key stakeholders

B 2 B2
Comms groups 
established.

tba
Chwarterol / 

Quarterly

4
Community 
Engagement, Publicity 
and Communications

Negative integration with 
Community

B 3 B3

Regular meetings with Comms team / Design 
Team/Contractor to monitor progress. 

E 5 E5

Discussions to be moved 
forward between CG / 
BCUHB & Main 
contractor 

CG / BCUHB / 
Main 
Contractor

Misol / 
Monthly

5

Marketing activities 
delayed 

Resulting in less time to fill 
occupancies, resulting in voids 
when the project is complete 

D 1 D1
Attend stakeholders meetings and challenge 
timescales and revise strategy accordingly

D 1 D1

Comms Group to 
produce a 
Communications and 
Marketing plan

tba
Chwarterol / 

Quarterly

6

Media channels being 
fully booked (due to the 
delays highlighted under 
‘high risks’).

Marketing activities not being 
implemented in line with the 
timeline produced. C 3 C3

Ensure the most appropriate media channels are 
researched and provisionally booked well in advance 
of set timelines.  Continuous review of the 
development timescales in line with the 
communicatons timescales. 

C 3 C3
Nothing further at this 
moment in time 

tba
Chwarterol / 

Quarterly

Risg Gweddilliol / Gweithred Ychwanegol Sydd 

Am
ld

er
 A

do
ly

gu
 /

 
Re

vi
ew

 F
re

qu
en

cy

Cy
fe

irn
od

 R
is

g 
/ 

Ri
sk

 
ID Risk Impact (Consequences)

Perchennog y 
Risg  /         Risk 

Owner

Risg Cynhenid / 

Existing Controls

P
age 74



7

Delay in signing off 
marketing 
communications / 
activities due to time 
constraints and 
resources.

Marketing activities not being 
implemented in line with the 
timeline produced. 

D 3 D3
Regular communication with key members of staff 
and ensure appropriate time management. 

D 3 D3
Comms groups 
established.

tba
Chwarterol / 

Quarterly

8

Ensure appropraite 
Media Channels are 
used.

PR and Marketing activities 
delayed. Lengthy forms are 
required to complete, pre-
payment etc 

D 3 D3

Ensure the most appropriate media channels are 
researched and provisionally booked well in advance 
of set timelines.  Continuous review of the 
development timescales in line with the marketing 
timescales. 

D 3 D3
Comms groups 
established.

tba
Chwarterol / 

Quarterly

9

Marketing and 
Communication plan 
not produced in time or 
incomplete

Late Marketing could lead to 
underoccupancy and fill rate of 
scheme not being achieved.

Marketing and Comms plan to be produced and 
reviewd at Operational meeting 

Draft to be produced 
asap

tba asap
Chwarterol / 

Quarterly

P
age 75



Digwyddiad bron yn 
sicr o ddigwydd yn y 

rhan fwyaf o 
amgylchiadau / 
Event is almost 

certain to occur in 
most circumstances

>70%

Bron Yn 
Sicr / 

Almost 
Certain

A

Digwyddiad debygol 
o ddigwydd yn y rhan 

fwyaf o 
amgylchiadau / 

Event likely to occur 
in most 

circumstances

30-70%
Tebygol / 

Likely
B

Bydd y digwyddiad o 
bosib yn digwydd ar 
ryw adeg / Event will 

possibly occur at 
some time

10-30%
Posib / 

Moderate
C

Digwyddiad 
annhebygol a all 

ddigwydd rhyw bryd / 
Event unlikely and 
may occur at some 

time

1-10%
Anhebygol / 

Unlikely
D

Digwyddiad prin fydd 
ond yn digwydd 

mewn amgylchiadau 
eithriadol / Event 

rare and may occur 
only in exceptional 

circumstances

<1% Prin / Rare E

5 4 3 2 1

Dinod / Insignificant Bychan / Minor Cymedrol / Moderate Sylweddol / Major
Trychinebus / 
Catastrophic

Dim effaith ar ansawdd y 
gwasanaeth, tarfu 

gyfyngedig i 
weithrediadau / No impact 
to service quality, limited 
disruption to operations

Mân effaith ar ansawdd y 
gwasanaeth, nid yw 

safonau gwasanaeth mân 
yn cael eu bodloni, 

amhariad tymor byr i 
weithrediadau / Minor 

impact on service quality, 
minor service standards 
are not met, short term 
disruption to operations

Gostyngiad sylweddol yn 
ansawdd y gwasanaeth, 

amhariad difrifol i safonau 
gwasanaeth / Significant 

fall in service quality, 
serious disruption to 
service standards

Effaith sylweddol ar 
ansawdd gwasanaethau, 

safonau gwasanaeth 
lluosog heb eu bodloni, 

amhariad tymor hir i 
weithrediadau / Signifiant 
impact on service quality, 
multiple service standards 

not met, long term 
disruption to operations

Gostyngiad trychinebus 
yn ansawdd y 

gwasanaeth a safonau 
gwasanaeth allweddol 

ddim yn cael eu bodloni, 
ymyriad trychinebus 

hirdymor i weithrediadau / 
Catastrophic fall in service 

quality and key service 
standards are not met, 
long term catastrophic 

interruption to operations

Pryder cyhoeddus wedi ei 
gyfyngu i gwynion lleol / 
Public concern restricted 

to local complaints

Mân sylw anffafriol lleol / 
cyhoeddus / cyfryngau a 
chwynion / Minor adverse 

local / public / media 
attention and complaints

Sylw andwyol lleol difrifol 
neu sylw andwyol mân yn 
y wasg rhanbarthol neu 
chenedlaethol / Serious 
adverse local or minor 

adverse regional or 
national media attention

Beirniadaeth rhanbarthol 
difrifol neu genedlaethol 

negyddol / Serious 
negative regional or 

national criticism

Condemniad rhanbarthol 
a chenedlaethol hir / 
Prolonged regional & 

national condemnation

< £50k £50k - £250k £250k - £750k £750k - £3m >£3m

Allwedd Difrifoldeb Risg Corfforaethol / Corporate Risk Severity Key

Allweddol / Critical Ymyrraeth sylweddol gan yr UDA a Pwyllgor Gwaith / Significant SLT and Executive Committee intervention

T
E

B
Y

G
O

L
R

W
Y

D
D

 / 
L

IK
E

L
IH

O
O

D

Gwasanaeth / Service

Enw Da / Reputation

Côst Ariannol / Financial Cost (£)
EFFAITH / IMPACT

Dinod / Minor Risg a reolir yn hawdd yn lleol - dim angen i gynnwys rheolaeth / Risk easily managed locally – no need to involve management

Cymedrol / Moderate Risg gallu cael eu rheoli ar lefel gwasanaeth - efallai bydd angen rhoi gwybod i uwch reolwyr a'r UDA / Rsik containable at service level - 

Sylweddol / Major Ymyrraeth gan yr UDA a / neu gyfranogiad Pwyllgor Gwaith / Intervention by SLT and / or Executive Committee involvement

Page 76



EQUALITY IMPACT 

ASSESSMENT FORMS 

 

1 
 

  

 

 

For: New residential and nursing care home at Penyberth on 

the Penrhos site 

Date form 

completed: 

9th December 2022 

  

PARTS A (Screening – Forms 1-4) and  

B (Key Findings and Actions – Form 5) 

 

 

Page 77



EQUALITY IMPACT 

ASSESSMENT FORMS 

 

2 
 

PARTS A: SCREENING and B: KEY FINDINGS AND ACTIONS 

Introduction: 

These forms have been designed to enable you to record, and provide evidence of 

how you have considered the needs of all people (including service users, their carers 

and our staff) who may be affected by what you are writing or proposing, whether 

this is: 

 a policy, protocol, guideline or other written control document; 
 a strategy or other planning document e.g. your annual operating plan; 
 any change to the way we deliver services e.g. a service review; 
 a decision that is related to any of the above e.g. commissioning a new service 

or decommissioning an existing service. 
 

Remember, the term ‘policy’ is used in a very broad sense to include “..all the ways in 

which an organisation carries out its business” so can include any or all of the above. 

 

Assessing Impact 

As part of the preparation for your assessment of impact, consideration should be 

given to the questions below.   

You should also be prepared to consider whether there are possible impacts for 

subsections of different protected characteristic groups. For example, when 

considering disability, a visually impaired person will have a completely different 

experience than a person with a mental health issue.  

It is increasingly recognised that discrimination can occur on the basis of more than 

one ground. People have multiple identities; we all have an age, a gender, a sexual 

orientation, a belief system and an ethnicity; many people have a religion and / or an 

impairment as well. The experience of black women, and the barriers they face, will 

be different to those a white woman faces. The elements of identity cannot be 

separated because they are not lived or experienced as separate. Think about:- 

 How does your policy or proposal promote equality for people with protected 
characteristics (Please see the General Equality Duties)? 

 What are the possible negative impacts on people in protected groups and 
those living in low-income households and how will you put things in place to 
reduce or remove these?  

 What barriers, if any, do people who share protected characteristics face as a 
result of your policy or proposal? Can these barriers be reduced or removed? 

 Consider sharing your EqIA wider within BCUHB (and beyond), e.g. ask 
colleagues to consider unintended impacts. 

 How have you/will you use the information you have obtained from any 
research or other sources to identify potential (positive or negative) impacts?

Page 78



Part A    Form 1: Preparation 

Please answer all questions 

3 
 

 

1. 

What are you assessing i.e. what is the title of 

the document you are writing or the service 

review you are undertaking? 

The capital business case for the development of a new build (replacement) residential care home 

and care home with nursing at Penyberth on the Penrhos site 

 

2. 

Provide a brief description, including the   aims 

and objectives 

 of what you are assessing.  

The proposal is to provide permanent, modern, fit for purpose residential and nursing care 

accommodation on the Penrhos site. 

The investment objectives are: 

 To support the rebalancing of the residential and nursing care market (for the Gwynedd 

area) by increasing delivery from the public / not for profit sector focused on delivering 

person centred outcomes for all. 

 To support the provision of care closer to home by improving the accessibility of residential 

and nursing care, ensuring provision of services in the Welsh language. 

 To support sustainability of local residential and nursing care provision through a 

collaborative, partnership approach which will integrate with the wider spectrum of care 

delivered from the Penrhos site. 

 To develop an innovative workforce model that will support the long-term health and social 

care sector with the potential for application in other areas of North Wales and create 

opportunities for training through Welsh Language. 

 To ensure purposefully designed accommodation which will meet the care needs of 

individuals both now and into the future. 

 To deliver value for money through the efficient use of resources and delivery of 

environmentally sensitive accommodation that is carbon neutral. 

 
The project benefits / outcomes are: 
 

 Securing of nursing provision in local area 

 Flexible health and care provision (“seamless care” as described in A Healthier Wales) 

P
age 79



Part A    Form 1: Preparation 

Please answer all questions 

4 
 

 Partnership approach between health and local authority may provide further opportunities for 
integrated approaches 

 No-one stays longer than they need to in acute inpatient care. There are no “delayed transfers 
of care” due to lack of provision of residential and nursing beds 

 By having public sector provision in nursing – ability to understand more acutely the pressures 
of sector and ability to support smaller providers 

 Employment opportunities for local residents  

 Provide local residents with the right skills for long term employment 

 Provide school leavers with career aspirations meaningful and long-term employment 

 Local supply chain is supported and grown 

 Ability to train and develop medical, nursing and care staff through secondment and 
shadowing opportunities within the provision 

 Welsh language skills of all staff will be part of the recruitment policy of Council. 

 Resilient and more appropriate buildings and infrastructure 

 The new development will be well integrated into the character of the surrounding area 

 Providing a modern, accessible working environment that motivates different professional 
groups to operate collaboratively 

 Provides a demenstrable vision for service integration 

 Positive contribution towards decarbonisation / net zero agenda; Accommodation that meets 
current building recommendations (e.g. HBN / DDA / ventilation / infection prevention) 

 Meets BREEAM aspirations. 

 

3. 

Who is responsible for whatever you are 

assessing – i.e. who has the authority to agree 

or approve any changes you identify are 

necessary? 

This Board reports to the West Integrated Health Community (IHC).  Any changes identified as part 

of the EQIA will be considered and agreed by the Project Board (ensuring within overall budget) or 

escalated to the SRO where appropriate. 

The Penrhos Project Board will oversee the development of this scheme and the wider Penrhos site. 

The Senior Reporting Officer is Dylan Owen, Corporate Director – Social Services, Gwynedd Council. 

Any changes identified as part of the EQIA will be considered and agreed by the Project Board 

(ensuring within overall budget) or escalated to the SRO where appropriate.  

P
age 80



Part A    Form 1: Preparation 

Please answer all questions 

5 
 

The EQIA will be submitted as part of the Strategic Outline Case (SOC) and will follow approval 

governance routes within Gwynedd Council and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board. 

 

4. 

Is the Policy related to, or influenced by, other 

Policies or areas of work?  

The business case links with multiple local and national strategies and policies: 
 

 The Wellbeing and Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
 Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 
 A Healthier Wales, 2018 

The plan encourages Health Boards to be ‘fit for the future’ and to respond quickly to 

challenges and opportunities. There is an opportunity to develop a new model, and a new 

service at Penrhos, with more space to expand on what is already provided. 

 BCUHB Three-year plan 2018/21 and ‘Living healthier, staying well’ 
      The new home in Penrhos will deliver the care closer to home agenda and expanding 

expertise and knowledge in the locality.   

 Rebalancing Care and Support (Welsh Government White paper) 
 Decarbonising Social Care in Wales 

 

 

5. 

Who are the key Stakeholders i.e. who will be 

affected by your document or proposals? Has a 

plan for engagement been agreed? 

The key stakeholders are: 

 Older people and their families 

 Carers 

 Wider public 

 Penrhos residents 

 Polish community 

 Social Care Wales 

 HIW 

 CIW 

 Care Forum Wales  

 Welsh Government 

 GC Adult services leads, managers and staff 

P
age 81



Part A    Form 1: Preparation 

Please answer all questions 

6 
 

 BCU Community Services leads, managers and staff 

 Continuing Healthcare Team 

 Community Health Council 

 Community and Town Council 

 Local Members 

 Welsh Ambulance Services Trust (WAST) 

 Police 

 Fire service 

 Transport providers 

 Voluntary sector 

 Community Resource Team 

 Gwynedd Planning Dept 

 RPB 

 PSB 

 Older Peoples Commissioners Office 

 Natural Resources Wales 

 Public Health Wales 

 Coleg Llandrillo Menai 

 Byw’n Iach 

 Dementia Go 

 Alzheimer’s 

 Clwyd Alyn  

 LGBTQ+ 

An Engagement Plan is currently being considered and drafted by the Stakeholder Sub-
group. 

P
age 82



Part A    Form 1: Preparation 

Please answer all questions 

7 
 

 

6. 

What might help or hinder the success of 

whatever you are doing, for example 

communication, training etc.? 

If the project capital funding is not fully approved by WG this will hinder the progress of the 

scheme.   

If the build tenders are returned with a total cost much higher than the approved funding level 

this could also put the project at risk. 

Workforce recruitment will also be key to the success of the project. A specific sub-group is 

being set up to progress the nursing and carer workforce model and staff training needs to 

address potential recruitment difficulties (in a semi-rural area) and to ensure care can be 

offered and delivered as much as possible in the Welsh Language. 

Communication on a local and regional level will be crucial to raise awareness, engender 

support and help the success of the proposed care home on the Penrhos site. An 

engagement plan is being drafted by the Penrhos Stakeholder Comms & Engagement 

Group. A communications campaign will be organised by Clwyd Alyn’s Communications 

Department in conjunction with Gwynedd Council Communications Team and BCUHB 

Communications Team. 

 

7. 

Think about and capture the positive aspects of 

your policy that help to promote and advance 

equality by reducing inequality or disadvantage. 

The provision of a care home providing both nursing and residential care in the Pwllheli area 

will improve local access to nursing and residential care for older people, preventing the need 

to travel a long way from home.  

The proposal is assessed to have a positive impact across all the protected characteristic 

groups and a significant positive impact on two protected characteristic groups, in particular: 

- Age (Older People including those with dementia) 

- Disability 

The positive aspects of this business case that help to promote and advance equality are: 

P
age 83



Part A    Form 1: Preparation 

Please answer all questions 

8 
 

 It will support the rebalancing of the residential and nursing care market in Gwynedd 

by increasing delivery from the public / not for profit sector focusing on delivering 

person centred outcomes for all. 

 It will support the provision of care closer to home by improving the accessibility of 

residential and nursing care. 

 To support sustainability of local residential and nursing care provision through a 

collaborative, partnership approach which will integrate with the wider spectrum of 

care delivered from the Penrhos site 

 To develop an innovative workforce model that will support the long-term health and 

social care needs of older people with the potential for application in other areas of 

North Wales 

 To ensure purposefully designed accommodation which will meet the care needs of 

older people / individuals both now and into the future 

 

P
age 84



Part A    Form 2: Record of potential Impacts - protected characteristics and other groups 

Please answer all questions 

9 
 

 
Please complete the next section to show how this policy / proposal could have an impact (positive or negative) on the protected groups listed in 

the Equality Act 2010. It is important to note any opportunities you have identified that could advance or promote equality of opportunity. This 

includes identifying what we can do to remove barriers and improve participation for people who are under-represented or suffer 

disproportionate disadvantage. 

Lack of evidence is not a reason for not assessing equality impacts.  Please highlight any gaps in evidence that you have identified and explain 

how/if you intend to fill these gaps. 

Remember to ask yourself this: If we do what we are proposing to do, in the way we are proposing to do it, will 

people who belong to one or more of each of the following groups be affected differently, compared to people who 

don’t belong to those groups? For example, will they experience different outcomes, simply by reason of belonging to 

that/those group(s). And if so, will any different outcome put them at a disadvantage? 

 

The sort of information/evidence that may help you decide whether particular groups are affected, and if so whether it is likely to be a positive 

or negative impact, could include (but is not limited to) the following:- 

 population data  
 information from EqIAs completed in other organisations 
 staff and service users data, as applicable 
 needs assessments 

 engagement and involvement findings and how stakeholders have engaged in the development stages 
 research and other reports e.g. Equality & Human Rights Commission, Office for National Statistics 
 concerns and incidents 
 patient experience feedback 
 good practice guidelines 

 participant (you and your colleagues) knowledge 

P
age 85



Part A    Form 2: Record of potential Impacts - protected characteristics and other groups 

Please answer all questions 

10 
 

 

Protected 

characteris

tic or 

group 

Will people in each of 

these protected 

characteristic groups 

be impacted by what 

is being proposed? If 

so is it positive or 

negative? (tick 

appropriate below) 

for further direction on 

how to complete this 

section please click here 

training vid p13-18) 

Reasons for your decision (including evidence that has led you to 

decide this) A good starting point is the EHRC publication:  "Is Wales 

Fairer (2018)?" 

You can also visit their website here  

 

How will you 

reduce or 

remove any 

negative 

Impacts that 

you have 

identified? 

Guidance for Completion 

In the columns to the left – and for each characteristic and each section here and below – make an assessment of how you 
believe people in this protected group may be affected by your policy or proposal, using information available to you and the 
views and expertise of those taking part in the assessment. This is your judgement based upon information available to you, 
including relevance and proportionality. If you answered ‘Yes’, you need to indicate if the potential impact will be positive or 
negative. Please note it can be both e.g. a service moving to virtual clinics: disability (in the section below) re 
mobility issues could be positive, but for sensory issues a potential negative impact. Both would need to be 
considered and recorded.   

The information that helps to inform the assessment should be listed in this column. Please provide evidence for all 

answers.  

P
age 86

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=B-qQt3bbNlw
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=B-qQt3bbNlw
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/wales-fairer-2018
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/wales-fairer-2018
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en


Part A    Form 2: Record of potential Impacts - protected characteristics and other groups 

Please answer all questions 

11 
 

Hint/tip: do not say: “not applicable”, “no impact” or “regardless of…”.  If you have identified ‘no impact’ 

please explain clearly how you came to this decision. 

NB: For all protected characteristics please ensure you consider issues around confidentiality, dignity and 

respect. 

For the definitions of each characteristic please click here 

Yes No (+ve) (-ve)   

Age     It is assessed that there will be a high positive impact from this development on older 

people and people with dementia. The new care home on the Penrhos site will provide 

purpose-built, dementia friendly facilities for older people with residential, nursing and 

dementia care needs. 

The purpose designed facilities will provide a homely environment, with care delivered 

by appropriately skilled and trained staff. This will ensure that local people and their 

families can access care close to home (reducing the need to travel).  

Evidence includes: 

8 essential features – Age Friendly Communities (WHO) – not sure what we 

need to include to cover this, stats from the benchmarking report? 

benchmarking-the-situation-of-older-people-in-wales.pdf (gov.wales) 

 

No negative 

impacts have 

been identified P
age 87

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-11/benchmarking-the-situation-of-older-people-in-wales.pdf


Part A    Form 2: Record of potential Impacts - protected characteristics and other groups 

Please answer all questions 

12 
 

 

Population projections, persons aged 18 years and over, by age group, Gwynedd, 2015 to 

2035 

 

2015 2020 2025 2030 2035

18 to 24 15,070 14,370 14,070 14,430 13,820

25 to 34 13,480 16,500 18,110 17,110 17,210

35 to 44 12,820 11,870 12,960 15,940 17,550

45 to 54 16,100 14,820 12,680 11,750 12,840

55 to 64 14,980 15,930 16,220 15,020 12,980

65 to 69 8,180 6,870 7,280 7,830 7,630

70 to 74 6,520 7,450 6,280 6,690 7,240

75 to 79 4,880 5,700 6,580 5,580 6,000

80 to 84 3,860 3,980 4,760 5,550 4,760

85 and over 3,870 4,420 5,030 6,150 7,560

Total population aged 18 and over 99,780 101,910 103,960 106,050 107,570

Source: Welsh Government Statistical Unit (Daffodil)

Figures may not sum due to rounding. Crown copyright 2014

P
age 88



Part A    Form 2: Record of potential Impacts - protected characteristics and other groups 

Please answer all questions 

13 
 

    

 

P
age 89



Part A    Form 2: Record of potential Impacts - protected characteristics and other groups 

Please answer all questions 

14 
 

Disability      It is assessed that the new care home will have a high, positive impact on older people 
with disabilities, as it will meet all statutory and DDA regulations ensuring full 
accessibility. The improved, purpose built, dementia friendly environment and signage 
within the new care home will also impact people positively. Older people with a 
disability will have the same access to the new care home facilities as everyone else.  
 

Evidence includes: 

Number of people registered as having a learning disability, by age group, Gwynedd, 2018-

19 

   

Under 16 years: 81 

16-64 years: 514 

65+: 71 

Total:  666 

    

Number & percentage of people of working age who report having a disability, Wales & 

Betsi Cadwaladr UHB unitary authorities, 2013 

No negative 

impacts have 

been identified 

P
age 90



Part A    Form 2: Record of potential Impacts - protected characteristics and other groups 

Please answer all questions 

15 
 

 

Persons with learning disabilities*, by accommodation type, Betsi Cadwaladr UHB unitary 

authorities, 2015/16 

 

 

Gender 

Reassignment  

    It is assessed that the proposal will have no differentiated impact on older people who 

have undergone a gender reassignment. The care home will be provided for people 

according to their individual needs and regardless of gender reassignment. 

No negative 

impacts have 

been identified 

Number Percentage

Wales 409,900 22.5

Isle of Anglesey 8,000 20.4

Gwynedd 12,300 17.5

Conwy 12,600 20.3

Denbighshire 13,000 24.7

Flintshire 15,700 17.3

Wrexham 14,300 17.6

Source: Office for National Statistics

Total 

community 

placements 

Health service 

accommodatio

n (inc. 

hospitals/host

els etc.) 

Local authority 

residential 

accommodation 

(staffed or 

unstaffed) 

Private or 

voluntary 

residential 

accommodation 

(staffed or 

unstaffed) 

Other 

accommodation 

Total 

placements

Isle of Anglesey 274 3 6 29 0 312

Gwynedd 614 3 21 41 20 699

Conwy 540 18 2 69 27 656

Denbighshire 469 10 2 64 3 548

Flintshire 685 0 0 52 0 737

Wrexham 455 12 1 55 14 537

Source: StatsWales (WG)

* The register of people with learning disabilities is a voluntary register, and therefore may be an underestimate the total number of people with learning disabilities

P
age 91



Part A    Form 2: Record of potential Impacts - protected characteristics and other groups 

Please answer all questions 

16 
 

All toilets and changing facilities will be gender neutral and will include a neutral (non-

gender specific) colour scheme 

Evidence includes: 

Data on gender reassignment is not routinely collected. The section below is taken from 

a 2009 report from the Office of National Statistics, entitled ‘Trans Data Position Paper’, 

which defines transgender as an ‘umbrella term referring to individuals whose gender 

identity or gender expression falls outside of the stereotypical gender norms’. 

Currently, there are huge inconsistencies in population estimates of both transsexual 

people and the less clearly defined trans community. The Home Office ’Report of the 

interdepartmental working group on transsexual people‘ based on research from the 

Netherlands and Scotland, estimates that there are between 1,300 and 2,000 male to 

female and between 250 and 400 female to male transsexual people in the UK. 

However, Press for Change estimate the figures at around 5,000 post-operative 

transsexual people. Further, GIRES claims there are 6,200 people who have 

transitioned to a new gender role via medical intervention and approximately 2,335 full 

Gender Recognition Certificates have been issued to February 2009. 

The figures are more diverse when looking at the trans community in the UK, where 

estimates range from 65,000 to 300,000. To put this in context, the former figure is close 

to the population of Inverness, while the latter is similar to the population of Cardiff 

(51,000 and 305,000 respectively). The variation above demonstrates that it is important 

to find accurate measures of the trans population at local and national levels. The 

absence of official estimates makes it difficult to ascertain the level of discrimination, 

inequality or social exclusion faced by the trans community. 

P
age 92

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/measuring-equality/equality/equality-data-review/trans-data-position-paper.pdf
http://www.oocities.org/transforum2000/Resources/wgtrans.pdf
http://www.oocities.org/transforum2000/Resources/wgtrans.pdf
http://worldaa1.miniserver.com/~gires/assets/Medpro-Assets/GenderVarianceUK-report.pdf


Part A    Form 2: Record of potential Impacts - protected characteristics and other groups 

Please answer all questions 

17 
 

Pregnancy 

and maternity 

    It is assessed that there will be a positive impact on this group as there will be a baby 

changing room available within the care home plus facilities to support those 

breastfeeding their babies (including for staff and visitors) and these will be fully 

accessible.  

The ethos of the care home – through staff and visitors - will be to promote 

intergenerational links wherever possible. 

Evidence includes: 

 

No negative 

impacts 

identified 

Number of 

live births

Number of 

live births

2005 1,263 56 (53 to 59) 32,590 56 (55 to 57)

2006 1,332 59 (56 to 62) 33,623 57 (57 to 58)

2007 1,254 56 (53 to 59) 34,392 59 (58 to 59)

2008 1,276 57 (54 to 60) 35,644 61 (60 to 61)

2009 1,338 60 (56 to 63) 34,938 60 (59 to 60)

2010 1,272 57 (54 to 60) 35,945 62 (61 to 62)

2011 1,319 60 (56 to 63) 35,604 61 (61 to 62)

2012 1,327 60 (57 to 63) 35,238 61 (61 to 62)

2013 1,229 56 (53 to 60) 33,742 59 (58 to 60)

2014 1,175 54 (51 to 58) 33,541 59 (58 to 60)

CI=Confidence Interval

Produced by Public Health Wales Observatory, using PHB & MYE (ONS)

General fertility rate (GFR)*, Gwynedd and Wales, 

2005-2014

Gwynedd Wales

GFR* (95% CI) GFR* (95% CI)

*GFR is the number of live births per 1,000 females aged 15-44

P
age 93



Part A    Form 2: Record of potential Impacts - protected characteristics and other groups 

Please answer all questions 

18 
 

Race      It is assessed that the proposal will have no differentiated impact on the quality of 

services that older people from ethnic minorities are likely to receive. The care home 

will be provided for all older people based on and tailored to each individual’s needs 

regardless of ethnic minority. 

Evidence includes:  

 

No negative 

impacts 

identified 

Religion, 

belief and 

non-belief 

    It is assessed that this proposal will have no differentiated impact on older people who 

are of different religions / beliefs / non-belief.  

The new care home is provided for all older people based on and tailored to each 

individual’s needs. 

There will be access to a quiet room for reflection / prayer and this will be available for 

all including staff and families.  

Evidence includes: 

Figure 17: Religious denominations, Betsi Cadwaladr UHB unitary authorities, 2011  

No negative 

impacts have 

been identified 

People who say 

they are from a 

white background 

People who say 

they are from a 

non-white 

background 

Percentage of 

population from a 

non-white 

background 

Isle of Anglesey 68,700 800 1.1

Gwynedd 115,400 5,700 4.7

Conwy 112,300 2,000 1.8

Denbighshire 91,900 2,200 2.3

Flintshire 150,000 3,900 2.6

Wrexham 131,800 4,100 3.0

Source: StatsWales (WG)

P
age 94



Part A    Form 2: Record of potential Impacts - protected characteristics and other groups 

Please answer all questions 

19 
 

 
All categories: 

Religion 

Christia

n 

Buddhis

t 

Hind

u 

Jewi

sh 
Muslim 

Sik

h 

Other 

religio

n 

No 

religio

n 

Religion 

not 

stated 

Isle of  

Anglesey 69,751 45,400 165 45  40 250 43 257 

17,79

7 5,754 

Gwynedd  121,874 72,503 426   238 55 1,378 39 637 

36,16

3 10,435 

Conwy 115,228 74,506 347   206 62 583 17 478 

30,01

7 9,012 

Denbighshire 93,734 60,129 266   167 32 469  8 345 

25,13

2 7,186 

Flintshire 152,506 101,298 344  158 70 482 29 362 

38,72

6 11,037 

Wrexham 134,844 85,576 351  504 58 860 87 310 

36,92

7 10,171 

Source: Census 2011 (ONS) 

 

Sex      It is assessed that the proposal will have no differentiated impact on older people based 

on gender. The care home will be provided for all older people based on and tailored to 

each individual’s needs. Where appropriate, consideration will be given to 

accommodating couples in double rooms, if this is requested. 

Both BCU and GC adhere to organisational policies regarding gender discrimination 

and pay to ensure equity. 

Evidence includes: 

No negative 

impacts have 

been identified 

P
age 95



Part A    Form 2: Record of potential Impacts - protected characteristics and other groups 

Please answer all questions 

20 
 

 

Sexual 

orientation  

    It is assessed that there will be no differentiated impact on older people based on 

sexual orientation.  

The care home will be provided for all older people based on and tailored to each 

individual’s needs. It strives to be a non-discriminatory service and is working towards 

the Children’s Charter.  

Evidence includes: 

 Sexual identity by status, UK, Wales and North Wales unitary authorities, 2014 
 

 

 

No negative 

impacts 

identified 

Heterosexual/

Straight 

Gay/Lesbian/

Bisexual 

Don't 

know/Refusal 
No response Other 

United Kingdom 92.8 1.6 3.9 1.4 0.3

Wales 93.9 1.5 3.0 1.1 0.4

Isle of Anglesey 96.6 * 1.7 0.6 *

Gwynedd 96.4 * 1.4 1.3 *

Conwy and Denbighshire 90.1 1.3 7.2 1.1 *

Flintshire and Wrexham 87.4 1.0 9.7 1.5 *

Source: StatsWales (WG)

P
age 96



Part A    Form 2: Record of potential Impacts - protected characteristics and other groups 

Please answer all questions 

21 
 

Marriage and 

civil 

Partnership 

(Marital 

status) 

    It is assessed that there will be no differentiated impact on older people based on their 

marital status.  

The care home will be provided for all older people based on and tailored to each 

individual’s needs. Access to the care home is open and transparent and equal to all 

without bias or judgement.  

Evidence includes:  

Census 2011 - Marital and civil partnership status, unitary authorities in North Wales – All usual residents aged 16 years and 

over 

 

All 

categorie

s: Marital 

and civil 

partnersh

ip status 

Single 

(never 

married 

or never 

registered 

a same-

sex civil 

partnersh

ip) 

Married 

In a 

registered 

same-sex 

civil 

partnersh

ip 

Separated 

(but still 

legally 

married 

or still 

legally in 

a same-

sex civil 

partnersh

ip) 

Divorced 

or 

formerly 

in a 

same-sex 

civil 

partnersh

ip which 

is now 

legally 

dissolved 

Widowed 

or 

surviving 

partner 

from a 

same-sex 

civil 

partnersh

ip 

Isle of Anglesey 57,890 17,245 28,385 90 1,210 5,694 5,266 

Gwynedd 100,923 36,781 44,330 140 1,906 9,049 8,717 

Conwy 96,102 27,729 46,379 197 2,229 10,215 9,353 

Denbighshire 76,781 23,413 36,950 138 1,790 8,043 6,447 

Flintshire 123,862 37,581 62,308 167 2,770 11,962 9,074 

Wrexham 109,026 35,546 52,154 151 2,179 10,877 8,119 

        

 
 

No negative 

impacts have 

been identified 

P
age 97



Part A    Form 2: Record of potential Impacts - protected characteristics and other groups 

Please answer all questions 

22 
 

Socio 

Economic 

Disadvantage 

    It is assessed that the proposal will have a positive impact on those older people who 

are at a socio economic disadvantage. The care home will deliver residential and 

nursing care to older people and those with dementia who live locally, in purpose built, 

modern facilities. This will positively impact older people and their families in deprived 

areas by providing care closer to home, reducing the need for travel and therefore 

generating less expense.  

Evidence includes 

 

 

 

P
age 98



Part A  Form 3: Record of Potential Impacts – Human Rights and Welsh Language 

Please answer all questions 

23 
 

Human Rights: 

Do you think that this policy will have a positive or negative impact on people’s human rights? For more information on Human Rights, see 

our intranet pages at: http://howis.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/861/page/42166 and for additional information the Equality and Human Rights 

Commission (EHRC) Human Rights Treaty Tracker https://humanrightstracker.com.  

The Articles (Rights) that may be particularly relevant to consider are:- 

• Article 2 Right to life 
• Article 3 Prohibition of inhuman or degrading treatment 
• Article 5 Right to liberty and security 
• Article 8  Right to respect for family & private life 
• Article 9  Freedom of thought, conscience & religion 

 
Please also consider these United Nations Conventions: 

UN Convention on the Rights of the Child 

UN Convention on the rights of people with disabilities. 

UN Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 99

http://howis.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/861/page/42166
https://humanrightstracker.com/
https://www.unicef.org.uk/what-we-do/un-convention-child-rights/
https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities.html
https://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/


Part A  Form 3: Record of Potential Impacts – Human Rights and Welsh Language 

Please answer all questions 

24 
 

Will people’s Human 

Rights be impacted by 

what is being proposed? 

If so is it positive or 

negative? (tick as 

appropriate  below) 

Which Human 

Rights do you 

think are 

potentially 

affected 

Reasons for your decision (including 

evidence that has led you to decide this)  

 

How will you reduce or 

remove any negative 

Impacts that you have 

identified? 

Yes No (+ve) (-ve)    

    Article 3 - Prohibition 
of inhuman or 
degrading treatment 
 

Providing new modern, purpose designed, 
dementia friendly care home accommodation with 
single rooms which are appropriately staffed with 
access to walking routes and an outdoor garden 
will ensure that older people with care needs and 
those with dementia are treated with dignity at all 
times. 

Constantly strive to achieve 

full staffing with appropriate 

skills 

  

P
age 100



Part A  Form 3: Record of Potential Impacts – Human Rights and Welsh Language 

Please answer all questions 

25 
 

Welsh Language: 

There are 2 key considerations to be made during the development of a policy, project, programme or service to ensure there are no 

adverse effects and / or a positive or increased positive effect on: 

Welsh 

Language 

Will people be impacted 

by what is being 

proposed? If so is it 

positive or negative? 

(tick appropriate  below) 

Reasons for your decision (including evidence that 

has led you to decide this)  

 

How will you reduce or 

remove any negative 

Impacts that you have 

identified? 

Yes No (+ve) (-ve)   

Opportunities 

for persons to 

use the Welsh 

language 

- √ √ - It is anticipated that the impact of this development will be positive 

in terms of the Welsh language. 

The care home will actively support the Welsh Language by 

increasing the 'active offer' of care delivery through the medium of 

Welsh within the new home. Most staff working in the care home 

are likely to be bilingual and older people and their families will 

have the opportunity to use the Welsh language, as they choose. 

In those instances where a Welsh speaking member of staff is not 

available, there will be opportunities to find another Welsh 

speaking member of staff where required.  

All signage within the new care home will be bilingual with Welsh 

first (on top / on the left). 

No negative impacts have 

been identified. 

 

P
age 101



Part A  Form 3: Record of Potential Impacts – Human Rights and Welsh Language 

Please answer all questions 

26 
 

Documentation used in the care home will be provided in the 

family’s language of choice. Braille signage, hearing loops will be 

available as well as easy read documentation. 

Evidence includes: 

 

Treating the 

Welsh 

language no 

less favourably 

than the 

English 

language 

- √ √ - It is anticipated that the Welsh language will have equal parity with 

the English language and thus treated no less favourably. 

Both Gwynedd Council’s Welsh Language policy and BCU’s Welsh 

Language policy promote the importance and parity of the Welsh 

language.  

 

No negative impacts have 

been identified. 

 

Persons aged 16 years and over who speak Welsh, 2018-19

Number %

Wales 463,670     18

Betsi Cadwaladr UHB 187,960     33

Isle of Anglesey 30,690       53

Gwynedd 68,200       66

Conwy 36,320       37

Denbighshire 23,420       30

Flintshire 13,950       11

Wrexham 15,380       14

Source: StatsWales (WG) using National Survey for Wales

P
age 102



Part A  Form 4: Record of Engagement and Consultation 

Please answer all questions 

27 
 

Please record here details of any engagement and consultation you have 

undertaken. This may be with workplace colleagues or trade union representatives, 

or it may be with stakeholders and other members of the community including 

groups representing people with protected characteristics. They may have helped to 

develop your policy / proposal, or helped to identify ways of reducing or removing 

any negative impacts identified. 

We have a legal duty to engage with people with protected characteristics under the 

Equality Act 2010. This is particularly important when considering proposals for 

changes in services that could impact upon vulnerable and/or disadvantaged people. 

What steps have you taken to 
engage and consult with 
people who share protected 
characteristics and how have 
you done this? Consider 
engagement and participatory 
methods. 
 

for further direction on how to 

complete this section please 

click here training vid p13-18) 

A project engagement plan is currently being drafted for 

consideration by the Stakeholder / Engagement & 

Communications Sub-group. This will include a focus on 

people who share protected characteristics. 

In brief, the plan will comprise: 

 Gathering existing engagement info / data 

 Stakeholder mapping 

 Working in partnership sharing data 

 Developing a plan for communications 

 Devising an initial smart survey to gather views 

 Information events at regular intervals to share info 

and gather feedback with public / key stakeholders 

 Pull together themes from feedback into an 

engagement report to share with internal and external 

people 

 Identify / agree key changes to be made 

Have any themes emerged? 

Describe them here. 

Not undertaken yet – to be confirmed at later date 

If yes to above, how have 
their views influenced your 
work/guided your 
policy/proposal, or changed 
your recommendations? 

To be confirmed at later date 

For further information and help, please contact the Corporate Engagement Team – 

see their intranet page at:-  http://howis.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/861/page/44085 

Page 103

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=B-qQt3bbNlw
http://howis.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/861/page/44085


Part B  Form 5: Summary of Key Findings and Actions 

Please answer all questions 

28 
 

1. What has been assessed? (Copy from Form 1) 

for further direction on how to complete this 

section please click here training vid p13-18) 

The capital business case for the development of a new build (replacement) residential care 
home and care home with nursing at Penyberth on the Penrhos site 

 

2. Brief Aims and Objectives: 

(Copy from Form 1) 

The proposal is to provide permanent, modern, fit for purpose residential and nursing care accommodation on the 

Penrhos site. 

The investment objectives are: 

 To support the rebalancing of the residential and nursing care market (for the Gwynedd area) by increasing 

delivery from the public / not for profit sector focused on delivering person centred outcomes for all. 

 To support the provision of care closer to home by improving the accessibility of residential and nursing care, 

ensuring provision of services in the Welsh language. 

 To support sustainability of local residential and nursing care provision through a collaborative, partnership 

approach which will integrate with the wider spectrum of care delivered from the Penrhos site. 

 To develop an innovative workforce model that will support the long-term health and social care sector with the 

potential for application in other areas of North Wales and create opportunities for training through Welsh 

Language. 

 To ensure purposefully designed accommodation which will meet the care needs of individuals both now and 

into the future. 

 To deliver value for money through the efficient use of resources and delivery of environmentally sensitive 

accommodation that is carbon neutral. 

 
 

 

P
age 104

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=B-qQt3bbNlw


Part B  Form 5: Summary of Key Findings and Actions 

Please answer all questions 

29 
 

From your assessment findings (Forms 2 and 3): 

3a. Could any of the protected groups be negatively affected by your policy or 

proposal? Guidance: This is as indicated on form 2 and 3 

Yes  No  

3b. Could the impact of your policy or proposal be discriminatory under equality 

legislation? Guidance: If you have completed this form correctly and 

reduced or mitigated any obstacles, you should be able to answer ‘No’ to 

this question. 

Yes  No  

3c. Is your policy or proposal of high significance? For example, does it mean 

changes across the whole population or Health Board, or only small 

numbers in one particular area? 

High significance may mean: 

- The policy requires approval by the Health Board or subcommittee of 
- The policy involves using additional resources or removing resources. 
- Is it about a new service or closing of a service? 
- Are jobs potentially affected? 
- Does the decision cover the whole of North Wales 
- Decisions of a strategic nature: In general, strategic decisions will be those which 

effect how the relevant public body fulfils its intended statutory purpose (its 
functions in regards to the set of powers and duties that it uses to perform its 

Yes  No  

 √ 

 √ 

 √ 

P
age 105



Part B  Form 5: Summary of Key Findings and Actions 

Please answer all questions 

30 
 

remit) over a significant period of time and will not include routine ‘day to day’ 
decisions. 

GUIDANCE: If you have identified that your policy is of high significance and you 
have not fully removed all identified negative impacts, you may wish to consider 
sending your EqIA to the Equality Impact Assessment Scrutiny Group via the 
Equalities Team/ 

 

4. Did your assessment 

findings on Forms 2 & 3, 

coupled with your answers 

to the 3 questions above 

indicate that you need to 

proceed to a Full Impact 

Assessment? 

Yes  No  

  

5. If you answered ‘no’ 

above, are there any issues 

to be addressed e.g. 

reducing any identified 

minor negative impact? 

Yes    

 

6. Are monitoring 

arrangements in place so 

that you can measure what 

actually happens after you 

Yes  No 

How is it being 

monitored? 

Once the scheme has been completed and the care home will be operational, current 
Gwynedd Council monitoring arrangements for care homes will be adopted and adhered 
to. 

 √ 

 √ 

√?  

P
age 106



Part B  Form 5: Summary of Key Findings and Actions 

Please answer all questions 

31 
 

implement your policy or 

proposal? 

 
24 months after opening, a post project evaluation exercise will be undertaken by the 
Project Board to assess whether the Project’s objectives and outcomes have been met. 

Who is responsible? Dylan Owen, Corporate Director – Adult Services, Cyngor Gwynedd 

What information is 

being used?  

The care home will collect its own activity / service data and Estates will record 

building related information in accordance with the Capital Manual. Satisfaction 

surveys will be conducted with users, their families and staff to gather feedback on the 

new facilities. 

When will the EqIA be 

reviewed? 

The EQIA will be reviewed at a number of stages following submission of the strategic 
outline case (SOC) – at outline business case (OBC) stage and full business case 
(FBC) and then post project implementation (24 months); 

 

7. Where will your policy or proposal be forwarded for approval? Through internal governance within Gwynedd Council (Cabinet) and BCUHB 

(West IHC, Exec Team, PFIG, Board) and then Welsh Government. 

 

8. Names of all parties 

involved in undertaking this 

Equality Impact 

Assessment – please note 

EqIA should be 

Name Title/Role 

 

Christine Rudgley BCUHB West Area Lead for Operational Improvement 

Meinir Owen Cyngor Gwynedd Senior Projects Practitioner, Corporate Support Dept 

P
age 107



Part B  Form 5: Summary of Key Findings and Actions 

Please answer all questions 

32 
 

undertaken as a group 

activity 

Senior sign off prior to 

committee approval: 

Karen Owen BCUHB Engagement Officer (West) 

Jane Trowman BCUHB Assistant Director Care Homes Support & CHC Commissioning 

Please Note: The Action Plan below forms an integral part of this Outcome Report 

 

 

 

Action Plan 

This template details any actions that are planned following the completion of EqIA including those aimed at reducing or eliminating the 

effects of potential or actual negative impact identified.  

 Proposed Actions 

Please document all actions to be taken 
as a result of this impact assessment 
here.  Be specific and use SMART 
actions.  Please ensure these are built in 
to the policy, strategy, project or service 
change. 

Who is responsible for this 

action? 

When will this 

be done by? 

1. If the assessment indicates significant 

potential negative impact such that you 

cannot proceed, please give reasons and any 

alternative action(s) agreed: 

None NA NA 

P
age 108



Part B  Form 5: Summary of Key Findings and Actions 

Please answer all questions 

33 
 

 Proposed Actions 

Please document all actions to be taken 
as a result of this impact assessment 
here.  Be specific and use SMART 
actions.  Please ensure these are built in 
to the policy, strategy, project or service 
change. 

Who is responsible for this 

action? 

When will this 

be done by? 

2.  What changes are you proposing to make 

to your policy or proposal as a result of the 

EqIA? 

None  NA NA 

3a. Where negative impacts on certain groups 

have been identified, what actions are you 

taking or are proposed to reduce these 

impacts? Are these already in place? 

Not applicable NA NA 

3b. Where negative impacts on certain 

groups have been identified, and you are 

proceeding without reducing them, describe 

here why you believe this is justified. 

Not applicable NA NA 

4.  Provide details of any actions taken or 

planned to advance equality of opportunity as 

a result of this assessment. 

None   

 

P
age 109



 
Page 1 of 7 

Health Impact Assessment  
30.06.2022 V0.02 
 
 
 
 

Health Impact Assessment Screening Record Sheet  

 

Date: December 2022 

 

Conducted by: Christine Rudgley, Jane Trowman & Meinir Owen  

 

Title of programme:  New Residential and Nursing Care Home at Penyberth on the Penrhos site  

 

Description (including key aims and objectives)  

 

The remit of the Project / Programme is to: 

 

Develop (as a public sector partnership) permanent, modern, fit for purpose residential and nursing 

care accommodation at Penyberth on the Penrhos site, Pwllheli. 

The investment objectives are: 

 To support the rebalancing of the residential and nursing care market (for the Gwynedd area) 

by increasing delivery from the public / not for profit sector focused on delivering person 

centred outcomes for all. 

 To support the provision of care closer to home by improving the accessibility of residential and 

nursing care, ensuring provision of services in the Welsh language. 

 To support sustainability of local residential and nursing care provision through a collaborative, 

partnership approach which will integrate with the wider spectrum of care delivered from the 

Penrhos site. 

 To develop an innovative workforce model that will support the long-term health and social care 

sector with the potential for application in other areas of North Wales and create opportunities 

for training through Welsh Language. 

 To ensure purposefully designed accommodation which will meet the care needs of individuals 

both now and into the future. 

 To deliver value for money through the efficient use of resources and delivery of 

environmentally sensitive accommodation that is carbon neutral. 

 

This Impact Assessment supports the process, in considering potential impacts upon service 

users. 

 

Nature of evidence considered / to be used (including baseline data, technical and 

qualitative research, expert and community knowledge)  

 

 Gwynedd Population Needs Assessment 2022 – with specific regard to nursing care, 

residential care and dementia / mental health  care 

 North Wales Market Stability Report (draft 2022) 

 Care Home Commissioning for Older People (Audit Wales Report) 

 Activity trends / data relating to Delayed Transfers of Care / Medically Fit for Discharge and 

Emergency Admission data (Dwyfor area)  

Page 112



 
Page 2 of 7 

Health Impact Assessment  
30.06.2022 V0.02 
 
 
 
 

 Current provision of care homes (residential and nursing) in Llŷn & Eifionnydd area 

 Welsh Language data 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Key population groups affected by the programme, policy or project. 

Using the list of vulnerable and disadvantaged groups included, assess which groups amongst the 

general population will potentially be affected by the proposal 

 

This development should bring significant, positive benefits to the older population group who have 

residential and nursing care needs including older people with dementia. There should be no 

disadvantage as a consequence of this development - which replaces the Penrhos Polish Home that 

was located on the site until 2019. It will also bring positive benefits to the general adult population 

who will also be eligible for care within the care home (over 50s) and for whom there will be a range of 

employment opportunities as a result of the development. 

The proposed care home will be located in a rural area on the Llŷn peninsula and as such the 

development will positively impact people who live in a key setting – a care home, as well as those 

living in areas known to exhibit poor economic and/or health indicators, those living in 

isolated/over-populated areas and those unable to access services and facilities. 

The proposed new, expanded care home will improve access to residential and nursing care locally, 

preventing the need for individuals and families to travel long distances and ensuring the delivery of 

more care closer to home. This will also positively impact older people and their families on low 

income, as travel costs will be reduced. 

The new care home facilities will provide services and care for people based on need which includes 

people with physical or learning disabilities/difficulties. There will be a sustained emphasis on 

delivering care to people in the Welsh Language (if their first language of choice) and preserving the 

Polish and Welsh cultural heritage of the site. 

 

 

Vulnerable groups 

 

Age related groups 

 Children and young people 

 Early years including pregnancy and 1st year of life 

 General adult population 

 Older people 

 

Income related groups 

 People on low income       

 Economically inactive 

 Unemployed/workless 

 People who are unable to work due to ill health 

 

Groups who suffer discrimination or other social disadvantage 

 People with physical or learning disabilities/difficulties 

 Travellers 

 Single parent families 

Page 113



 
Page 3 of 7 

Health Impact Assessment  
30.06.2022 V0.02 
 
 
 
 

 Lesbian and gay and transgender people   

 Black and minority ethnic groups  

 Religious groups 

 Homeless people  

 Language/culture groups 

 Refugee groups 

 Lone parent families 

 Carers 

 Ex-offenders 

 Looked after children 

 

Geographical groups 

 People living in areas known to exhibit poor economic and/or health indicators 

 People living in isolated/over-populated areas  

 People unable to access services and facilities 

 People in key settings e.g workplaces, hospitals, schools, care homes, prisons 

 

2. Using the Determinants of health and well-being checklist below, consider:  

 how (in what way either positively or negatively or unintentional)  

 to what extent (significant / moderate / minimal impact)  

 

These groups within the population and the general population itself may be affected by the 

proposal or that the proposal may have implications for - and summarise it for each section on the 

screening sheet below.  

 

Any missed opportunities for enhancing the proposal can be listed under the positive (+) column. 

Any unintended consequences or impacts on health and wellbeing can be listed under the negative 

(-) column. If there are no likely impacts or they are very minimal then move to the next section.  

 

Ask the question: How does this proposal impact upon these determinants, for example, physical 

activity or diet (within Lifestyles section) in a positive or negative way? Or not at all? 

 

Determinants of Health 

 

Lifestyles 

Positive Impacts / Opportunities  Negative / Unintended Impacts 

 The design of the care home facilities will be fit 

for purpose and will include outside space  to 

encourage residents and staff to walk and keep 

mobile, as well as walking routes inside the 

building 

 The full dietary needs of residents will be 

catered for to ensure a balanced intake 

 The environment will incorporate spaces for 

activities and leisure to promote interaction and 

creativity to improve wellbeing 

 

 None 

Social and Community Influences on Health 

Positive Impacts / Opportunities  Negative / Unintended Impacts 

Page 114



 
Page 4 of 7 

Health Impact Assessment  
30.06.2022 V0.02 
 
 
 
 

 The care home will enable H&SC professionals 

to work collaboratively both within the facility 

and across the wider site. The CRT will be 

based on site also which will promote integrated 

working improving continuity of care for service 

users, enabling all care professionals to easily 

access the full spectrum of care delivered on the 

site and link in with other community and third 

sector services, as appropriate.    

 Faster response by H&SC professionals 

working on site to people’s changing care needs 

which should improve continuity of care. 

 Opportunities to involve local community in local 

groups and wider community within the care 

home facility – for example promoting inter- 

generational initiatives with local schools. 

 Opportunities for third sector groups to use 

space and support care home. 

 Opportunities to highlight local activities and 

enable people to look for ideas using Dewis.  

 

 

 

 

Mental Wellbeing  

Positive Impacts / Opportunities  Negative / Unintended Impacts 

 Expansion of care home accommodation will 

improve access to specialist care for those with 

dementia and mental health needs 

 Co-location of CRT on site – including CMHT 

members / services will present increased 

opportunities to access support on a “one stop” 

basis 

 Extensive, peaceful, natural location of the 

Penrhos site as well as dedicated access for the 

Care Home residents to the outside will provide 

a  therapeutic and sensory environment for 

those with mental health needs and general 

wellbeing services  

 Promotion and awareness of available support 

for the 5 ways of well-being will be available.  

 As a new, well designed facility, the care home 

will engender pride and positivity that will help to 

maximise the outcomes  

 Positive impact on staff through new working 

practices 

 The Department of Health and Social Care 

estimates that 75% of people with mental 

health problems may not be getting access to 

the treatment they need1 

 

Living and Environmental Conditions affecting Health 

Positive Impacts / Opportunities  Negative / Unintended Impacts 

 Contribution to the overall regeneration of the 

area.  

 New care home accommodation will meet 

 There may be an increased cost of travel 

walking or driving or travel time, for some 

people.  

                                                           
1 Transforming Community Conflict A Report By Mediation Hertfordshire, 2021 

Page 115



 
Page 5 of 7 

Health Impact Assessment  
30.06.2022 V0.02 
 
 
 
 

building regulations, including environmental 

standards and sustainability, energy efficiency 

and decarbonisation targets. 

 Accessible facilities, enables ease of access for 

vulnerable groups  

 Increased focus on prevention supports 

sustainability of service delivery in the face of 

increase in demand forecast. 

 Signage will be bilingual and environment will be  

dementia friendly and designed to take account 

of visual impairment, along with hearing loops 

and accessible toilet facilities, baby change 

 Aim to meet the sustainable development 

principles re WBFG Act. 

 Opportunities to support active travel and 

ensure reliable public transport options.  

 In light of Covid 19 lesson learnt re infection 

control and reducing transmission i.e.: 

ventilation latest technology in built 

 Cost of travel for carers /issues.  

Economic Conditions affecting Health 

Positive Impacts / Opportunities  Negative / Unintended Impacts 

 The development is expected to contribute 

positively to the local economy (for example in 

terms of building and employment opportunities) 

and towards regeneration.  

 The development phase will create employment 

opportunities in the locality. 

 Some of the employment opportunities and 

health impacts may be short term or 

temporary or may not be sustained. 

 Those without access to their own transport 

may be at greatest disadvantage.   

 

Access and Quality of Services 

Positive Impacts / Opportunities  Negative / Unintended Impacts 

 Co-location of health and social care 

professionals within the care home and the CRT 

based on site promotes an integrated approach 

to the delivery of high quality care.  

 Full spectrum of care provision available on the 

site reducing / preventing the need to travel for 

those living locally. 

 The care home is expected to be close to public 

transport and with a level of parking 

opportunities, including for those with disability 

access needs. 

 Some people accessing the care home 

facilities may need to travel further, this may 

be more challenging for people who rely on 

others to assist and/or rely on public transport 

and this may have a financial impact. 

 

Macro-economic, Environmental and Sustainability Factors 

Positive Impacts / Opportunities  Negative / Unintended Impacts 

 Contributes to environmental and sustainability 

targets, aligned with the Wales regulatory 

requirements and the decarbonisation agenda 

 Long term regeneration of the area 

 Need to consider the environmental impact of 

having one or more buildings/premises. 

 Transport and access 

 

 

Summary of Potential Health Impacts Identified 

Page 116



 
Page 6 of 7 

Health Impact Assessment  
30.06.2022 V0.02 
 
 
 
 

As with other elements of the planning, engagement and expected design of the healthcare 

development; this qualitative Health Impact Assessment will be kept under regular review by the 

local project board and any subsequent body once the development is complete. It will form a 

formal part of the benefits realisation plan for the healthcare hub. 

 

Positive Impacts 

 

Potential for:  

 Improved access to residential and nursing care, including for those people with dementia  

 Fit for purpose, high quality accommodation for those with long term care needs which is fully 

accessible and dementia friendly 

 Keeping care ‘Close to Home’. 

 Good design (both within and outside care home) which promotes wellbeing - optimising access to 

the outside / nature and the beautiful location, promoting walking, mobility and ensuring the 

provision of a balanced diet to residents 

 Co-location and close working of health and social care professionals both within the care home 

and across the Penrhos site leading to better care outcomes and high quality of care 

 Contributing to environmental and sustainability targets, aligned with the Wales regulatory 

requirements and decarbonisation commitments. 

 Contributing positively to local economy  

 Adding to community and population resilience. 

 

Negatives Impacts / Unintended Consequences 

 

 Location of care home could become further away for some people –  depending on availability of 

placements for those living further away (south Gwynedd)  

 Transport challenge for some of the community  

 For adequate staffing levels of the care home (with the requisite skills) to be sustained over time, it 

will require an innovative staffing model to be developed. 

 

Impacts on Vulnerable groups 

 

 Overall positive impact on all vulnerable groups highlighted above through improved access to care 

provision, well designed new facilities, as well as opportunities for employment locally. 

 Significant positive impact in particular on older people (and adults) with long term residential, 

nursing and dementia care needs being able to access this care locally and improved quality of 

care delivered in fit for purpose facilities and environment and those with dementia to access care 

 Engagement plan to be tailored to use a range of tools and mechanisms to meet hard to reach 

groups. 

 

 

Recommendations:  

  

a. Are the impacts that have been identified above enough to warrant a more 

comprehensive health impact assessment?  

HIA to evolve aligned with engagement findings and next stages of the project and refining options. 

 

b. Do any additional actions need to be taken as a result of this HIA process? If Yes, please 

outline (list recommendations and/or mitigation/enhancement here) 

Page 117



 
Page 7 of 7 

Health Impact Assessment  
30.06.2022 V0.02 
 
 
 
 

 

Recommended Actions:  

 

1. Next stage of engagement for wider project – relating to care home phase - at OBC to incorporate 

specific and hard to reach groups and a focus on those who did not participate in SOC 

engagement. 

2. Engagement with hard to reach groups 

3. Staff engagement and consideration of culture and ways of working 

 

c. If a further HIA is required, outline next steps (E.g. Date and time of scoping meeting) 

 

Have there or will there be other impact assessments conducted? i.e.: Equality Impact 

Assessment, Environmental Impact Assessment. Or will this form part of one?  

 

 Any requirements and timings for any other potential impact assessments for OBC stage onwards if 

any – to be agreed. 

 EQIA screening: undertaken at SOC  

 Socio Economic Duty Assessment: agreed as not appropriate as decision already taken in 2019 

(WG) to close home and replace through public sector partnership provision 

 Rapid Desktop Health Impact Assessment: in development ready for OBC with small group input 

expected initially 

 Data Protection Impact Assessment Screening: in development ready for OBC and further review / 

monitoring 

 

 

 

 

Page 118



REPORT TO CABINET 
28 MARCH 2023 

 
Cabinet Member: Councillor Dyfrig Siencyn, Leader of the Council 
 
Subject: One-off Bids/Transformation Fund 2023/24 
 
Contact officer: Dafydd Gibbard, Chief Executive 
 

 
 

1. The decision sought  

Cabinet is asked to: 
 

 Approve the one-off bids of £2,119,300 for 2023/24, to be financed from the 
Transformation Fund. 
 

 Approve a capital bid to the value of £447,000 to be financed from capital funds.  
 

2. The reason for the need for a decision  

This year, unlike the usual practice, the bids for one-off resources are being submitted 
separately to the Budget report as the allocation of a one-off resource does not have an 
impact on setting our annual revenue budget and is not a consideration when setting the 
Council Tax rate. This report is presented before the start of the 2023/24 financial year so 
that action can be taken from 1 April 2023. 

 

3. Introduction / Background  

Council departments are annually invited to submit bids for a one-off resource for issues such 
as coping with temporary pressures, delivering Council Plan projects, service transformation 
or trialing before concluding whether it is rational to provide a permanent budget.  

 
4.  One-off Bids 2023/24  
 

The bids received have been assessed by myself, the two directors and the Head of Finance. 
Details of the one-off bids recommended to receive financial support for 2023/24 are 
presented in Appendix 1.  
 
It is recommended to approve 9 bids to the value of £2,119,300 as listed in Table 1 below, 
with more detailed information on the individual bids included in Appendix 2. The 
transformation fund available to finance the Council's priorities will be used as a source to 
fund these bids. 
 

 

 

 Page 119

Agenda Item 7



Table 1 One-off Revenue Bids 2023/24  
 

  
   

  
Bid Title 

Recommended 
amount (£) 

 
EDUCATION    
One-off 1 Education Information Management System Bid 54,600  

 
CHILDREN AND FAMILY SUPPORT    
One-Off 2 Social Care Practitioner Posts x 3, Arfon, Meirion and Dwyfor 130,000 

 
ENVIRONMENT    
One-off 3 Waste Collection: backdating payments 142,500 

 
One-off 4 Management of second homes and short-term holiday accommodation – cost of 

resources to establish and implement the Article 4 direction 
400,000 

 
ECONOMY AND COMMUNITY    
One-off 5 Byw’n iach financial Issues - income loss 654,938 

 
One-off 6 Llŷn ac Eifionydd Eisteddfod 150,000 

 
One-off 7 Llewyrch o’r Llechi: North West Wales World Heritage Coordinator 77,262 

 
CORPORATE SUPPORT    
One-off 8 Corporate Learning and Development Fund 450,000 

 
One-off 9 Street Names 60,000 

 

TOTAL 2,119,300 
  

 
 

 
 
5.  Capital Bid 2023/24 

 

In addition to the above, following the approval of £385k worth of capital bids as part of the 

2023/24 Budget report to the full Council at the start of March, a further capital bid will 

require financial support, namely 'Upgrading and refurbishing the cremator at Bangor 

Crematorium' at a value of £447,000. The bid is detailed in Appendix 3.  

 

Annually, £500k of capital funding is earmarked for the Council's capital priorities. With only 

£385k committed for 2023/24, the remaining £115k from the 2023/24 budget can be used 

towards funding this bid. The annual budget has not been fully committed in previous years, 

and in addition to this – as a resource has been released as a result of receiving grants for 

various schemes – the remaining £332k can be funded from this source combination. 

 

6. Conclusion 

 

Following approval of the bids set out in Part 1 of the report, the funds will be allocated to 

the relevant Departments so that they can proceed to spend on the services during the 

financial year 2023/24. 

 

 Page 120



 

 

 

Local member's views 
Not applicable 
 

 
Views of statutory officers 
 
The Monitoring Officer: 
No observations to add in relataion to propriety 
 
Head of Finance: 
 
Officers from the Finance Department have collaborated closely with the author of the report, and 
I can confirm the accuracy of the figures contained therein.  I am satisfied that there are adequate 
resources in the Transformation Fund to finance the one-off bids shown in Table 1, and the 
method of financing the capital bid is appropriate and prudent. 
 

 
Appendices 
Appendix 1 – One-off Bid Summary and Additional Capital Bid 
Appendix 2 – One-off Revenue Bids 
Appendix 3 – Additional Capital Bid 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 121



APPENDIX 1 - SUMMARY OF ONE OFF BIDS AND ADDITIONAL CAPITAL BID

Bid Title One Off Capital

(£) (£)

Education Department

One off 1 Education Information Management System Bid 54,600

Children and Supporting Families Department

One off 2 Social Care Practitioners  130,000

Environment Department

One off 3 Waste collection: backdating payments 142,500

One off 4

Management of second homes and short term holiday accommodation - cost 

of resources to establish and implement Article 4 direction 400,000

Economy and Community Department

One off 5 Byw'n Iach financial issues - loss of income 654,938

One off 6 Llŷn and Eifionydd Eisteddfod 150,000

One off 7 Llewyrch o'r Llechi: North West Wales World Heritage Co-ordinator 77,262

Corporate Support Department

One off 8 Corporate Learning and Development Fund 450,000

One off 9 Street Names 60,000

Highways, Engineering and YGC

Cap 6 Upgrading and Refurbishing the Cremator at Bangor Crematorium 447,000

2,119,300 447,000

Page 122



APPENDIX 2 - ONE OFF REVENUE BIDS

ONE OFF REVENUE BIDS 2023/24

Title of Bid Bid Details
Recommended 

Sum (£)

One off 1 Education Information Management System Bid The department has procured a new Education Information Management System which will lead to savings. This bid is for the on-off 

additional cost as a result of two seperate contracts overlapping.  

54,600

One off 2 Social Care Practitioners Bid for three Social Care Practitioner posts for 12 months (Arfon, Meirion, Dwyfor). 130,000

One off 3 Waste collection: backdating payments Backdating payments following re-evaluation of waste collection posts. 142,500

One off 4 Management of second homes and short term 

holiday accommodation - cost of resources to 

establish and implement Article 4 direction

Following pressure from the Council and from research, the Welsh Government is in the process of introducing changes to secondary 

planning legislation. The changes introduces new planning use classes for main home, second home and holiday accommodation short 

term. As a result, if an Authority can testify that second homes and short-term holiday accommodation cause harm to communities - then 

by undertaking a legal process known as an article 4 direction, the main home can be prevented from changing to a second home or short-

term holiday accommodation, unless planning permission is in place.

This bid is for resources to establish and implement the direction for a period of three years, with the exception of the Dwyfor area which is 

funded by the Welsh Government as part of the Dwyfor Pilot. 

400,000

One off 5 Byw'n Iach financial issues - loss of income This bid is for the loss of income anticipated over the next year as the company continues to work towards recovering their income to pre 

covid levels. 

654,938

EDUCATION

CHILDREN AND SUPPORTING FAMILIES

ENVIRONMENT

ECONOMY AND COMMUNITY

P
age 123



One off 6 Llŷn and Eifionydd Eisteddfod The Llŷn and Eifionydd Eisteddfod will be held in Boduan in August 2023. There will be additional costs on the Council's services in order 

to welcome the Eisteddfod to Gwynedd. The exact costs are not yet clear, and there is also an intention to target external funds to support 

the work. But in general, it is considered that an additional budget will be needed in order to meet:

• Costs of preparing and tidying up the area

• Communication and Engagement Costs

• Costs of supporting local businesses and enterprises to prepare

• Costs of the Gwynedd Stand, exhibition, activities and events

150,000

One off 7 Llewyrch o'r Llechi: North West Wales World 

Heritage Co-ordinator

Since July 2022 the Slate Landscape of North West Wales has been inscribed as a World Heritage Site. We have expectations to 

implement and realise the Plan. To implement the Management Plan and respond to Unesco requirements, most World Heritage Sites 

employ a co-ordinator. This bid is to fund a co-ordinator. 

77,262

One off 8 Corporate Learning and Development Fund Continuing with the historic arrangement for funding the Corporate Training Programme, which is to make a bid every 3 years for money 

to maintain the Fund.

The money will finance the purchase of external training (where there is no internal provision) and finance learning through technology (e-

learning).

450,000

One off 9 Street Names A bid to finance part of the work of the place names project - specifically to address the 'street names' element. 

The intention is to raise the visual status of the language by having the Welsh version on street signs in Gwynedd.

This bid is to fund new signs over a period of two years.

60,000

2,119,300

CORPORATE SUPPORT

P
age 124



APPENDIX 3 - ADDITIONAL CAPITAL BID

2023/24 ADDITIONAL CAPITAL BID 

Title of Bid Bid Details
Recommended 

Sum (£)

Cap 6 Upgrading and Refurbishing the 

Cremator at Bangor Crematorium

The crematorium is in need of a new cremator and as a result of external factors beyond our control, such as inflation and general cost 

increases, the amount in a designated fund for this purpose is no longer sufficient. 

This bid is for the additional cost to upgrade one cremator at the Crematorium. 

447,000

HIGHWAYS, ENGINEERING AND YGC

P
age 125



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

1 
 

Report to the Cyngor Gwynedd Cabinet 

Date of meeting:   28 March 2023 

Cabinet Member:   Councillor Beca Brown 

Contact Officer:  Gwern ap Rhisiart, Assistant Head of Education Department: Primary 

Sector  

Title of Item:  Issuing a statutory notice on the proposal to close Ysgol Felinwnda 

on 31 August 2023 and offer a place for the pupils in Ysgol 

Bontnewydd from 1 September 2023 onwards. 

 

DECISION SOUGHT: 

(1) To approve commencing a process to close Ysgol Felinwnda on 31 August 2023. 

(2) To issue a statutory notice, allowing a statutory objection period of 28 days in accordance with 

the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and the guidance of the School 

Organisation Code 011/2018 on the proposal to close Ysgol Felinwnda on 31 August 2023, and 

provide a place for the pupils in Ysgol Bontnewydd from 1 September 2023 onwards. 

 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1   Based on the PLASC January 2023, Ysgol Felinwnda is the smallest school in the county, with only 8 

learners. Consequently, the Education Department is submitting this report to Cabinet requesting 

permission to hold a statutory objection period on the proposal to close Ysgol Felinwnda.   

 

1.2  The purpose of this report is to present the reasoning behind the recommendation and seek 

approval to conduct a statutory objection period on the proposal to close Ysgol Felinwnda on 31 

August 2023 and offer a place for the children in Ysgol Bontnewydd from 1 September 2023 

onwards. 

 

2.  THE STRATEGIC CONTEXT 

2.1 The Council has been implementing the ‘Primary Education of the Best Quality for the Children 

of Gwynedd’ strategy since it was adopted by the Full Council in April 2009. It is noted in the 

strategy that there is a need to ensure a way of giving attention to the situation of some 

vulnerable schools.  

 

Page 126

Agenda Item 8



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

2 
 

2.2 At its meeting on 18 December 2018, the Cabinet approved the principles of "Fit for Purpose 

Education" which now provides a basis to realise the Education Department's vision and develop 

the system to ensure a high-quality education for the children and young people of Gwynedd for 

the twenty first century. These principles work towards rationalising age-ranges within primary 

classes and ensuring sufficient non-contact time for headteachers to focus on leadership matters 

in the primary schools.   

 

3.  THE CURRENT SITUATION AT YSGOL FELINWNDA 

3.1   Ysgol Felinwnda is located near the villages of Saron and Dinas on the outskirts of Caernarfon and 

serves the nearby villages and areas. It provides education for pupils aged between 3 and 11 

years. Children are admitted to the nursery class on a part-time basis in the September following 

their third birthday, and on a full-time basis in the September following their fourth birthday. 

3.2   Number of learners 

The table and graph below show the reduction seen in the numbers of learners at Ysgol 

Felinwnda over the past 10 years: 

Year Number of learners at Ysgol Felinwnda 

2012 31 

2013 27 

2014 29 

2015 25 

2016 21 

2017 23 

2018 26 

2019 24 

2020 18 

2021 10 

2022 8 

 

Page 127



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

3 
 

 

As can be seen, the number of pupils at the school has reduced substantially since 2018 and has 

been vulnerable for some time. 

3.3   Broad age range within small classes 

According to the CYBLD in January 2013, 8 learners were recorded at Ysgol Felinwnda, which is the 
lowest number of learners at any school in Gwynedd. The learners are taught in two small multi-age 
classes with one class for year 1-3 learners and another for year 4-5. There are no nursery age, 
reception class, or year 6 pupils at the school: 

 

 Year  

 N R 1 2 3 4 5 6 Total 

Felinwnda 0 0 1 1 1 2 3 0 8 

Classes Class Class  

 

3.4   Projections  

The table below shows the current position of the school and the projected numbers over the next 3 
years: 

Capacity 
(N-Yr6) 

Numbers 
January 

2023 
(N-Yr6) 

Surplus 
Places 

Projections 
September 

2023 

Projections 
September 

2024  

Projections 
September 

2025 

Average 
Numbers 

2023-2025 

61 8 87% 8 5 3 5 

 

As can be seen from the projections, it is likely that the numbers at the school will continue to reduce 
to levels that are even more vulnerable than the current situation over the next few years. 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Ysgol Felinwnda Numbers 2012-22

Page 128



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

4 
 

3.5   High percentage of surplus places 

Based on the figures for January 2023, there were over 87% of surplus places at the school (a total of 

53). 

4.  FINANCE 

4.1   The following table shows the financial allocation of Ysgol Felinwnda for 2022-23: 

 

 

School's 

Financial 

Allocation 2022-

23 

Cost Per 

Head 2022-

23 

Safety Net 

2022-23 

Ysgol Felinwnda £138,226 £14,643 £54,924 

Gwynedd Schools Average £478,000 £4,509 £34,456* 

* Average of the 21 primary sites in the safety net. 

 

 
 

4.2   Cost Per Pupil  

The total allocation for the 2022-23 financial year (based on the numbers in September 2021) is 

£138,226, which means that the cost per head at Ysgol Felinwnda is £14,643 (2022-23). The county 

average for the cost per pupil in the same year is £4,509, which means that the cost per head at 

Ysgol Felinwnda is over 3 times more than the county average. 

4.3   Safety Net 

Ysgol Felinwnda receives a sum of £54,924 for 2022-23 through the minimum staffing policy (which 

guarantees at least a headteacher and teacher at every school, and a headteacher and assistant at 

schools with fewer than 15 learners).  

4.4   Future challenges 

Ysgol Felinwnda is facing a challenge to set a balanced budget for 2023-24 since the school will receive 
an allocation based on the number of learners, and this, along with a protected sum allocated to them 
will enable them to employ a headteacher and assistant only.   
 
For 2023-24, Ysgol Felinwnda can make extensive use of balances to be able to continue with the 
current staffing arrangement for another year. However, it will not be possible for the arrangement 
to continue for 2024-25, since they will not have remaining balances and therefore, it would be 
mandatory to implement a staffing structure of headteacher and assistant for the whole range of 
learners at Ysgol Felinwnda. Consequently, sharing a headteacher with Ysgol Llandwrog, as currently 
happens, would be impossible, and the teacher employed at Ysgol Felinwnda would face compulsory 
redundancy. 
 

Page 129



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

5 
 

5. OPTIONS CONSIDERED TO OVERCOME THE CHALLENGES 

5.1  It is obvious that many challenges are facing Ysgol Felinwnda, which means that the school's 

position is unsustainable in the future. The Education Department has considered 4 options for 

the future of education in the Ysgol Felinwnda catchment area and has evaluated every option 

against the following criteria, which corresponds with the "Primary Education of the Best Quality 

for the Children of Gwynedd" Strategy. 

• Number of learners 

• Class sizes 

• Financial resources 

• Geographical factors 

• Leadership and staffing 

• The community  

• The Welsh language 

5.2   See below a collection of the outcomes of the evaluation for the 4 options. The full evaluation can be 

seen in Appendix B. 

5.2.1  Do nothing - maintain the 'Status Quo' 

Although the case for change has already been established, the 'Do Nothing' model has been 

included for comparison purposes. 

This model would mean that there would be no change to the current provision in the Ysgol 

Felinwnda catchment area. 

Advantages Disadvantages 

There would be no need to arrange additional 

transport for any learner. 

Low numbers continue in Ysgol Felinwnda. 

 Substantial surplus places continue in Ysgol 

Felinwnda. 

 Small classes with an age range of 3 years 

continues in Ysgol Felinwnda. 

 Reliance on a substantial protection allocation 

continues for Ysgol Felinwnda. 

 Cost per head which is 3 times higher than the 

county average continues for Ysgol Felinwnda. 

 

 Majority of the children in the catchment area 

already choose to attend other schools. 

 

It is believed that the current situation of Ysgol Felinwnda will continue and intensify over the next 

few years, and as a result, we are of the opinion that continuing with the status quo is not an option 

for the future. 

 

Page 130



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

6 
 

5.2.2  Federalisation with a nearby school   

This model would ensure the continued presence of the school in the village of Felinwnda by 

means of a collaboration agreement with a nearby school under the leadership of a headteacher 

or headteachers and one governing body. The governing bodies of the individual schools would 

be revoked and a federal governing body (new) would be formed. The identity of the school in 

question (including name, ethos and school uniform) would continue, and it would enable the 

possibility of sharing staff, resources, IT, buildings and expertise.  

If schools are federalised, they are required to be of the same status, therefore in the case of 

Ysgol Felinwnda they would need to federalise with another community school. The closest 

community school is Ysgol Bontnewydd.  

Ysgol Felinwnda cannot be federalised with Ysgol Llandwrog since it is a church school. 

Advantages Disadvantages 

There would be no need to arrange additional 

transport for any learner. 

Low numbers continue in Ysgol Felinwnda. 

 Substantial surplus places continue in Ysgol 

Felinwnda. 

 Small classes with an age range of 3 years 

continues in Ysgol Felinwnda. 

 Reliance on a substantial protection allocation 

continues for Felinwnda. 

 Cost per head which is 3 times higher than the 

county average continues for Ysgol Felinwnda. 

 Majority of the children in the catchment area 

already choose to attend other schools instead 

of Ysgol Felinwnda. 

 

As this option involves continuing with the current school within the federation, it is anticipated that 

there is a high likelihood that the current challenges continue and intensify over the next few years, 

therefore, we are of the opinion that federalisation with Ysgol Bontnewydd is not an option that 

would address the challenges facing Ysgol Felinwnda now and in the future.  

5.2.3  Close Ysgol Felinwnda and offer a place to the learners at Ysgol Bontnewydd 

This model would mean closing Ysgol Felinwnda and offering a place for the pupils to receive 

their education at Ysgol Bontnewydd.   

Ysgol Bontnewydd is considered as the 'alternative school' for the following reasons:  

• Ysgol Bontnewydd is the community school located geographically nearest to Ysgol Felinwnda, 

and Ysgol Bontnewydd is in the same secondary school catchment area as Ysgol Felinwnda, 

namely Ysgol Syr Hugh Owen. Ysgol Bontnewydd is located approximately 2 miles from the 

Ysgol Felinwnda site.   

Page 131



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

7 
 

• A number of parents of children in the Felinwnda catchment area already send their children 

to Ysgol Bontnewydd (31 learners in September 2022). 

• Only 3 of the current learners of Ysgol Felinwnda live in the Ysgol Felinwnda catchment area 

and Ysgol Bontnewydd has sufficient places for these 3 learners. 

Advantages Disadvantages 

Enough space to accommodate the learners of 

Ysgol Felinwnda. 

Staff will need to be made redundant. 

 

More opportunities to participate in activities 

with a number of other learners. 

There would be a need to arrange transport for 

some of the learners at a cost to the Authority. 

Learners will be educated in classrooms of a 

sustainable size. 

 

Learners being educated in classes with 

children of the same age. 

 

No further need for financial support from the 

safety net. 

 

Cost per head closer to the county average.  

 

It is anticipated that this option will resolve the challenges of low numbers, small classes and high 

costs, as well as offer opportunities for the children in the Felinwnda catchment area to mix with 

more age-relevant peers, and benefit from the advantages of a larger school. 

Any additional transport costs will be outweighed by the savings from closing Ysgol Felinwnda. 

 

5.2.4  Close Ysgol Felinwnda and offer a place for the learners at Ysgol Llandwrog 

This model would involve closing Ysgol Felinwnda and offering a place for the learners to be 

educated at Ysgol Llandwrog.  

Ysgol Llandwrog is considered as the 'alternative school' for the following reasons:  

• Ysgol Llandwrog is the community school located second nearest geographically to Ysgol 

Felinwnda, and Ysgol Llandwrog is in the same secondary school catchment area as Ysgol 

Felinwnda, namely Ysgol Syr Hugh Owen. Ysgol Llandwrog is located approximately 2 miles 

from the Ysgol Felinwnda site.   

• Some of parents of children in the Felinwnda catchment area already send their children to 

Ysgol Llandwrog (5 learners in September 2022). 

• Only 3 of the current learners of Ysgol Felinwnda live in the Ysgol Felinwnda catchment area 

and Ysgol Llandwrog has sufficient places for these 3 learners. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 132



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

8 
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

Enough space to accommodate the learners of 

Ysgol Felinwnda. 

The number of learners at Ysgol Llandwrog is 

also comparatively low. 

Cost per head is less. 

 

Ysgol Llandwrog has classes with an age range 

of 3 years. 

 Ysgol Llandwrog also receives a protection 

allocation. 

 Staff will need to be made redundant. 

 It is likely that transport would need to be 

arranged for some of the learners at a cost to 

the Authority. 

 

Since Ysgol Llandwrog has a comparatively low number of learners, it is not anticipated that this 

option resolves the challenges of low numbers and small classes completely. Although it is 

anticipated that costs will reduce, the cost per head will remain higher than the county average and 

Ysgol Llandwrog will continue to receive a protection allocation. 

 

6. THE PREFERRED OPTION 

After conducting the options appraisal, the preferred option for the proposal for the future 

education of learners in the Ysgol Felinwnda catchment area is to close Ysgol Felinwnda and offer 

a place for the learners at Ysgol Bontnewydd. This option is favoured for the following reasons: 

6.1  Number of Learners 

The number of learners at Ysgol Felinwnda has varied over the years, but a reduction of 70% has 

been seen in the number of learners at the school over the past 5 years and now there are only 

8 learners at the school. According to the projections, the number of learners will continue to be 

low over the next three years and it is likely that the number of learners will fall further. 

The numbers at Ysgol Bontnewydd are very viable (185 reception - year 6), and 31 children from 

the catchment area of Ysgol Felinwnda already choose to attend Ysgol Bontnewydd. There are 

plenty of spaces for the 3 learners who currently attend Ysgol Felinwnda and live in the 

catchment area. 

6.2  Class sizes 

Ysgol Felinwnda has 2 classes with 3 learners in one class and 5 learners in the other class (January 

2023). One class is for year 1-3 learners and the other is for year 4-5 learners. There are no 

nursery age, reception class, or year 6 pupils at the school. 

The average class size at Ysgol Bontnewydd is 26 and there is a class for every age group. 

Delivering the proposal would mean that pupils from the catchment area of Felinwnda would be 

educated in classes of a viable size, and with children of the same age group.  

 

Page 133



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

9 
 

6.3   Financial Resources 

The total allocation that Ysgol Felinwnda receives for 2022-23 is £138,226 which means that the cost 

per head at Ysgol Felinwnda is £14,643. The county average for the cost per pupil in the same year is 

£4,509. 

Ysgol Felinwnda receives a sum of £54,924 for 2022-23 through the minimum staffing policy (which 

guarantees at least a headteacher and teacher at every school, and a headteacher and assistant at 

schools with fewer than 15 learners).  

Ysgol Bontnewydd does not receive a sum through the protection policy and the cost per head of 

Ysgol Bontnewydd is £4,032 which is slightly lower than the county average.  

In terms of revenue costs, it is projected that the proposal would create an annual saving of 

approximately £120,000, less any transport costs. 

6.4   Geographical Factors 

It is noted in the "Excellent Primary Education for the Children of Gwynedd" Strategy that an 

attempt should be made to restrict travelling to a maximum of 30 minutes of one-way travel 

between the home and the school. From implementing the proposal, it is anticipated that all 

existing pupils of Ysgol Felinwnda would be within a reasonable distance (less than 30 minutes 

of travel) to the alternative school, namely Ysgol Bontnewydd.   

If the proposal would be implemented, the learners who live within the Ysgol Felinwnda 

catchment area would receive transport to Ysgol Bontnewydd, in accordance with the County's 

School Transport Policy.  

6.5   Leadership and Staffing 

The current staffing structure of Ysgol Felinwnda includes one part-time headteacher and one 

full-time teacher. The headteacher is also a part-time headteacher at Ysgol Llandwrog. The 

headteacher has a teaching commitment for 60% of the time and receives 40% non-contact time 

for managerial and leadership matters. 

At Ysgol Bontnewydd, there is a headteacher, deputy, five full-time teachers, three part-time 

teachers, and twelve assistants. The headteacher is non-contact and therefore deals with 

managerial and leadership matters only. 

 

7.  IMPACT ASSESSMENTS 

As part of the process of developing the proposal, a range of options for the school were 

considered and evaluated and a series of impact assessments were undertaken, including: 

• Assessing the Impact on Equality Characteristics, the Welsh language and the Socio-

Economic Disadvantage  

• Impact Assessment Report of The Well-being of Future Generations Act  

• Community Impact Assessment Report  

Page 134



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

10 
 

• Assessment Report of the Probable Impact on Travel Arrangements 

• Quality and Standards of Education Assessment Report  

The above assessments can be seen in Appendix C. 

 

7.1.1  Equality Assessment 

An equality impact assessment was carried out on the proposal - see the full report in appendix 

C. 

The assessment gives particular attention to different equality elements such as race, gender, 

disability, language, religion or belief and age. The assessment notes the current situation and 

shows that policies and procedures are in place which will ensure that the proposal considers 

and is in accordance with equal rights. 

Having weighed-up the relevant factors, it is concluded that the learners will receive more equal 

opportunities when placed in Ysgol Bontnewydd since the learners will have learning experiences 

that are based on national learning principles, with a range of methods, including working in 

collective groups, smaller groups, partner work and individually within their specific age range, along 

with lessons that have been appropriately differentiated for the age range in question. 

 

The children of Ysgol Felinwnda will have a better learning environment at a school with more 

learners of the same age, it will ensure that they make the most of their education and allow access 

to more activities that are age-appropriate and appropriate for their ability level. 

The children of Ysgol Felinwnda will benefit from having more age-relevant peers at a school with 

more learners, which will be a way to ensure suitable educational and extra-curricular experiences 

for them, as well as access to additional extra-curricular activities. 

The Council will follow the usual procedures by supporting and monitoring, in order to ensure 

the compliance of every school with the equality characteristics.   

7.1.2   Welsh Language Impact Assessment 

The Welsh Government guidance (School Organisation Code 011/2018) states that a Welsh 

language impact assessment must be conducted as part of any proposal involving school 

reorganisation. A Welsh Language Impact Assessment was completed (Appendix C), by assessing 

the impact of the language on every option in the options appraisal. 

The Gwynedd Education Language Policy has the same aim for all the county's primary schools, and 

every primary school (except one school) fall into category 3 in accordance with the school 

categorisation guidance according to the Welsh medium provision, Welsh Government. This means 

that the learners at Ysgol Felinwnda will be able to continue to receive their education through the 

medium of Welsh in accordance with the Education Language Policy in the alternative primary 

school noted.  

Page 135



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

11 
 

It is not anticipated that there would be a negative impact should the proposal be implemented, but 

it is possible that it could have a positive impact on the Welsh language as Ysgol Felinwnda learners 

benefit from additional opportunities to use Welsh with a broader range of peers in the classroom 

and socially. The alternative school is also located in an area of linguistic significance, with over 70% 

of the population able to speak Welsh. 

 

7.2   The Well-being of Future Generations Act 

The Education Department has a role in promoting the well-being objectives of the Act amongst 

pupils in the county through its activities and projects. The Act places a duty on public bodies in 

Wales to improve economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being. As part of the duty, 

the Council has published well-being objectives that outline the way it will improve well-being in 

the "2018-23 Gwynedd Plan".  

An equality impact assessment was held on the proposal - see the full report in Appendix C.  

Following consideration and assessment in accordance with the requirements of the well-being act, 
the seven well-being act goals and Council's well-being objectives, and it is concluded that the 
proposal meets the requirements.  
 
It is acknowledged that this proposal leads to the loss of a school in the community of Felinwnda, 
however, a vast number of the children living within the school's catchment area already attend Ysgol 
Bontnewydd, and therefore a link already exists between Ysgol Bontnewydd and the community of 
Felinwnda. Every effort will be made to mitigate the impact on the community by encouraging links 
between the communities. Should the proposal be approved, discussions will take place to discuss the 
possibility that Ysgol Bontnewydd community activity includes the Felinwnda community, where 
appropriate. 
 
The proposal will ensure that the children of the area are educated on a site that is suitable and in a 
naturally Welsh-speaking society, thus increasing the opportunities to socialise and collaborate with 
others, and to give them a fair opportunity to thrive among their peers.  

 

7.3   Community Impact Assessment 

Welsh Government guidance (The Schools Organisation Code 011/2018) states that a community 

impact assessment must be held as part of any proposal for schools’ reorganisation. See the full 

assessment in Appendix C. 

It is seen in the assessment that no community use is made of the school. Canolfan Bro Llanwnda is 

located next door to the school and holds a number of activities including the Cylch Meithrin and Cylch 

Ti a Fi. As the Canolfan is independent from the school, it is not anticipated that closing the school will 

have any impact on the ability of the Cylch Ti a Fi, Cylch Meithrin or other events from continuing. 

 

Should the option of closing Ysgol Felinwnda and offering a place for the pupils at Ysgol Bontnewydd 

be realised, it is not anticipated that it would have a negative impact on the community of Felinwnda. 

In order to mitigate against any potential negative impact on learners, we would encourage 

Page 136



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

12 
 

discussions between Ysgol Bontnewydd and the parents of learners at Ysgol Felinwnda so that they 

can take advantage of their facilities and after-school activities, and to encourage collaboration 

between Ysgol Bontnewydd and the community of Felinwnda. 

 

 

 

7.4 Assessment of the Impact on Travel Arrangements 

Welsh Government guidance (The Schools Organisation Code 011/2018) states that a community 

impact assessment must be held as part of any proposal for schools’ reorganisation. An 

assessment of the Impact on Travel Arrangements was completed (Appendix C), by assessing the 

impact of the language on every option in the options appraisal. 

It is noted in the assessment, should the proposal be delivered, that the learners who live within 

the catchment area of Ysgol Felinwnda will receive transport to Ysgol Bontnewydd in accordance 

with the County's School Transport Policy. 

Should the option to close Ysgol Felinwnda be implemented, and the learners offered a place at Ysgol 

Bontnewydd, it is anticipated that two of the learners receiving free transport to Ysgol Felinwnda at 

present, will continue to be eligible for transport to Ysgol Bontnewydd and, subject to parents' choice, 

21 other learners may require transport. 

 

Should all 3-11 year-old learners in the Ysgol Felinwnda catchment area who are eligible need 

transport to Ysgol Bontnewydd, it is anticipated that there would be a need to arrange a bus to 

transport them at a cost of around £45,000-£55,000 a year. 

 

7.5   Assessment of the Quality and Standards of Education 

 

See the full assessment in Appendix C.  

Based on the outcome of the assessment of the quality and standards of education, comparing the 

latest Estyn reports of both schools (2017) showed, although the inspection result of Ysgol Felinwnda 

was 'Good', the results of Ysgol Bontnewydd were described as 'outstanding' and 'excellent' in the 

following fields: 

 

• Standards and general progress of specific groups and in terms of skills  

• Care, support and guidance  

• Leadership and management 

 

Consequently, it is anticipated that there would be a positive impact in terms of the quality and 

standards of education deriving from the proposal to close Ysgol Felinwnda and transferring the 

learners to Ysgol Bontnewydd. 

 

 

Page 137



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

13 
 

 
8. IMPLICATIONS OF THE PROPOSAL  

8.1  Schools admissions catchment areas 

If the proposal would be implemented, the Ysgol Bontnewydd catchment area would be 

amended to include the existing Ysgol Felinwnda catchment area.   

 

 

8.2  Transportation 

Should the proposal be implemented, learners living within the catchment area of Ysgol 

Felinwnda would receive transport to Ysgol Bontnewydd in accordance with the County's School 

Transport Policy. 

Page 138



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

14 
 

Should the option to close Ysgol Felinwnda be implemented, and the learners offered a place in Ysgol 

Bontnewydd, it is anticipated that two of the learners receiving free transport to Ysgol Felinwnda at 

present will continue to be eligible for transport to Ysgol Bontnewydd and, subject to parents' choice, 

21 other learners may require transport. 

 

Should all 3-11 year-old learners in the Ysgol Felinwnda catchment area who are eligible need 

transport to Ysgol Bontnewydd, it is anticipated that there would be a need to arrange a bus to 

transport them at a cost of around £45,000-£55,000 a year.  

 

8.3  Staffing Considerations 

Should the proposal be implemented, it is anticipated that there would be staffing implications that 

could lead to redundancies. Discussions have already been commenced with staff and Unions to give 

them prior warning that the report is being taken to Cabinet, requesting formal permission to hold 

an objection period on the option to close Ysgol Felinwnda and provide a place for learners at Ysgol 

Bontnewydd.  

Cyngor Gwynedd has developed a detailed staffing policy, jointly with Trade Unions and 

headteachers. Any redundancies resulting from this proposal will have to comply with that policy. 

Clear and open communication will play a fundamental part in the implication of any proposals. 

 

9. REQUIREMENTS OF THE SCHOOLS ORGANISATION CODE 011/2018 

Any statutory process will be conducted in accordance with Welsh Government Guidelines (School 

Organisation Code 011/2018).  

The Code notes:  

"Where a school has fewer than 10 registered pupils (or there are no pupils remaining at a 

school) at the January census point the 2013 Act permits governing bodies/local authorities to 

undertake a streamlined procedure to bring about official closure. 

This consists solely of the issue of the notice of closure – the requirement for general 

consultation being waived, provided sufficient equivalent school places have been identified 

which would be reasonably accessible to those pupils actually or potentially displaced." 

 
 
Since there are fewer than 10 registered learners in Ysgol Felinwnda in the January 2023 PLASC, it is 
considered to be a 'small school' under the Schools Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013. In 
accordance with the Schools Organisation Code, this allows the authority to follow a simpler 
procedure in order to close the school. Specifically, the requirement for general consultation is 
omitted, and the only requirement is to hold an objection period by issuing a statutory notice. 
Subsequently, the usual objection period would be held, and there would be a need to consider any 
objections received before making a final decision. It would not be possible to refer such a decision to 
Welsh Ministers as is the case with other schools. 

Page 139



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

15 
 

10. NEXT STEPS AND TIMETABLE 

10.1 If the Cabinet resolves to support the recommendation submitted in this report, a period of statutory 

consultation of 28 days will need to be undertaken in accordance with the Schools Standards and 

Organisation Act 2013 and the guidance given in the Schools Organisation Code 011/2018. It is 

anticipated that this period will be conducted after the Easter holidays. 

10.2 Afterwards, an objection report will be submitted to the Cabinet in order to report back on the results 

of the objection period. Then, the Cabinet will be required to consider the content of the report and 

decide whether the proposal should be implemented or not.  

10.3  Should the Cabinet decide to implement the proposal, Ysgol Felinwnda will close on 31 August 2023, 

and a place will be offered to primary age children of the Felinwnda catchment area at Ysgol 

Bontnewydd from 1 September 2023. 

 

VIEWS OF STATUTORY OFFICERS 

The Monitoring Officer: 

The contents of this report has been the subject of legal advice by the Legal Service. No further 

comments regarding propriety. 

Head of Finance Department: 

From a financial point of view, it is clear that Ysgol Felinwnda's current situation is not 

sustainable, given that 87% of places in the school are empty. The report shows that an 

assessment has been carried out of the options available, and I am satisfied with the robustness 

of the financial estimates contained therein. I therefore support the decision sought. 

Local Member: 

See Appendix A 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Local Member’s Comments 

Appendix B: Options Appraisal Table  

Appendix C: Impact Assessments: 

- Assessing the Impact on Equality Characteristics, the Welsh language and the Socio-

Economic Disadvantage  

- Impact Assessment Report of The Well-being of Future Generations Act  

- Community Impact Assessment Report  

- Assessment Report of the Probable Impact on Travel Arrangements  

- Quality and Standards of Education Assessment Report

 

Page 140



APPENDIX A: 

LOCAL MEMBER'S COMMENTS FOR CABINET REPORT 28 MARCH 2023 
 

Thank you for the opportunity to offer comments as a local member on the intention to close Ysgol 

Felinwnda from 31 August 2023. 

 

When formulating an opinion on the matter, I considered the opinion of the local community, 

governors, and others involved with the school. 

 

Ysgol Felinwnda has been serving the rural communities of Saron and Dinas with excellence since 

1895. It is a school that has been providing successful education for generations, and the staff and 

governors have succeeded in ensuring a learning environment where the children feel safe and 

thrive. 

 

Estyn ruled that the school provides good education in their last two inspections. 

 

There is no denying that Ysgol Felinwnda is the smallest school in Gwynedd, that the number of 

pupils has fallen to 8 by January 2023, and that future projections are fragile. I can therefore 

understand that Gwynedd Council wants to consider the future of the school, this is reasonable. 

 

Nevertheless, I am not of the opinion that the statutory process recommended by the Cabinet to 

follow, namely to issue a Statutory Notice on March 28, in order to close the school from 31 August 

2023, is a process that will ensure justice and fairness for pupils, parents or the school community. 

This will not give stakeholders any opportunity to be part of any discussion or offer input about the 

school's future. 

 

The Welsh Government's School Organisation Code 011/2018 states that a statutory process can be 

followed which omits public consultation, when there are less than 10 pupils. However, this was not 

the procedure followed by Gwynedd Council, when it was considered and decided to close Ysgol 

Llanaelhaearn and Abersoch. These schools were in a very similar situation in terms of pupil 

numbers. 

 

In addition, Ysgol Llanaelhaearn and Abersoch had initial discussions with Gwynedd Council in order 

to consider options for the future. A school review panel was also set up to discuss the future of the 

schools, and discussions took place for a year before holding a public consultation. This gave the 

stakeholders the opportunity to contribute to possible options to solve the main challenges. The end 

of the process is the publication of a Statutory Notice. Why doesn't Ysgol Felinwnda have the same 

opportunities that these schools had? 

 

I therefore ask the Cabinet to postpone the decision to issue a statutory warning, and instead hold 

discussions and public consultation first, before coming to a further decision on the matter. 

The recommended process does not give the school, parents or the community the opportunity to 

offer a voice or hold a discussion on the future of the school, or work to increase the number of 

pupils. 

 

I would like to highlight that there have been no discussions with Gwynedd Council on the matter, 

apart from one short meeting of less than half an hour with governors and staff at the beginning of 

March. This was a meeting to note Gwynedd Council's intention to issue a Statutory Notice on 28 

March. A meeting to mark a fait accompli rather than a meeting offering an opportunity for 

discussion. 

Page 141



 

As part of the statutory process, the Cabinet report includes impact assessments on the Welsh 

language, the community, and the quality and standards of education, but community members, 

parents, staff and the governors have not had the opportunity to propose input on these. 

 

In the same way, there was no opportunity to offer an opinion on the choice of an alternative 

school, and with regard to the proposal to designate Ysgol Bontnewydd as an alternative school, I 

believe that this requires further consideration. 

 

No one doubts the success of Ysgol Bontnewydd as an educational institution, but Ysgol Llandwrog 

also has excellences that also merit consideration as an alternative school. The school is 

approximately the same distance from Ysgol Felinwnda, it has received a good judgment for the 

standard of education from Estyn. More relevantly, there has been a strong connection between 

Ysgol Felinwnda and Ysgol Llandwrog for some years. The same Headteacher is shared, and joint 

activities are held weekly. The mood and nature of Ysgol Llandwrog as a rural school is also more 

similar to Felinwnda. Felinwnda pupils know Llandwrog teachers and are friends with the children. It 

would be easier for pupils to assimilate in Llandwrog. 

 

Further discussions and public consultation would provide an opportunity to voice a wider opinion 

on these issues. 

 

I also express my concern about the effect of closing the school on Canolfan Bro Llanwnda, which is a 

building in a rural location next door to the school. Various social activities and the Cylch Meithrin is 

held here. 

 

Although the school does not often use the Centre directly, and it is concluded in the impact 

assessment that any closure would have a neutral effect on the Centre, in my opinion, it would have 

a negative effect on the Canolfan Bro Llanwnda. The presence of a school next door, where parents 

and staff call daily, preserves and increases awareness of the Centre which is in a very rural location. 

 

In the same way, the presence of the school offers an educational continuum for the children of the 

Cylch Meithrin. 

 

Conclusion 

 

I would be grateful if you would consider my comments above. 

 

Closing a school that has been serving a community for 125 years is no small matter to be 

accomplished over a few weeks. 

 

It should be remembered that this decision to issue a Statutory Notice has come without notice and 

without any initial discussions and that no effort or opportunity has been given to discuss the 

possibility of increasing the number of pupils. 

 

Therefore, for the sake of natural justice, and the principles of Ffordd Gwynedd, I ask the Cabinet to 

reconsider issuing a Statutory Notice to close Ysgol Felinwnda. 

 

Instead, an opportunity should be offered to hear the voice of the school and the community, by 

holding further discussions and public consultation as the first step in the process of assessing and 

considering the future of Ysgol Felinwnda. 

Page 142



Options assessments for the future of Ysgol Felinwnda

Do nothing Federalisation with Ysgol 
Bontnewydd 

Close Ysgol Felinwnda and 
offer a place to learners at 
Ysgol Bontnewydd 

Close Ysgol Felinwnda and 
offer a place to learners at 
Ysgol Llandwrog 

The status of the 
school 

No change - Community No change - Community No change - Community Church School

Numbers of 
learners 

There are only 8 learners at 

Ysgol Felinwnda. 

61 vacancies (87%) 

The school's projections 
continue to appear fragile 
in terms of numbers.

There are only 8 learners at 

Ysgol Felinwnda. 

61 vacancies (87%) 

The school's projections 

continue to appear fragile in 

terms of numbers. 

Numbers are healthy with 204 
attending Ysgol Bontnewydd 
(January 2023) 

There is a place for the 3 
learners at Ysgol Felinwnda 
who live in the catchment 
area. 

More opportunities to take 
part in activities with several 
other learners. 

Numbers are low with 32 
attending Ysgol Llandwrog 
(January 2023) 

There is a place for the 3 
learners at Ysgol Felinwnda 
who live in the catchment 
area. 

Class sizes Ysgol Felinwnda class sizes 

remain small - 2 classes of 3 

and 5 (January 2023). 

Age range of 3 years in the 
2 classes. No nursery, 
reception, or year 6 
children.

Ysgol Felinwnda class sizes 

remain small - 2 classes of 3 

and 5 (January 2023). 

Age range of 3 years in the 2 

classes. No nursery, reception, 

or year 6 children. 

Learners are taught in classes 

of viable size. 

Learners are taught in classes 
of children of the same age.

2 classes with an age range of 
4 years.

Financial 
resources 

Ysgol Felinwnda remains 

financially unsustainable 

and receives a guardianship 

Ysgol Felinwnda remains 

financially unsustainable and 

receives a guardianship 

It may lead to an increase in 

transport costs for the 

Authority. 

It may lead to an increase in 

transport costs for the 

Authority. 

P
age 143



allocation (£54,924 in 2022-

23) from the authority to 

ensure appropriate staffing 

levels.  

The average cost per pupil 

remains high, at £14,643, 

which is over three times 

higher than the county 

average, and the highest in 

the county. 

allocation (£54,924 in 2022-

23) from the authority to 

ensure appropriate staffing 

levels.  

The average cost per pupil 
remains high, at £14,643, 
which is over three times 
higher than the county 
average, and the highest in 
the county.

Removing a school from the 

staffing safety net. 

The cost per learner will be 
closer to the county average.

Removing a school from the 

staffing safety net. 

The cost per learner will be 
less but still significantly 
higher than the county 
average as Ysgol Llandwrog 
receives its own care 
allocation.

Geographical 
factors 

No change No change Transport will need to be 
offered to the 3 learners at 
Ysgol Felinwnda who live in 
the catchment area and the 
rest of the children in the 
catchment area in accordance 
with the Department of 
Education's transport policy. 

Transport will need to be 
offered to the 3 learners at 
Ysgol Felinwnda who live in 
the catchment area and the 
rest of the children in the 
catchment area in accordance 
with the Department of 
Education's transport policy. 

Leadership and 
staffing 

Ysgol Felinwnda is facing a 
challenge to set a balanced 
budget for 2023-24 as the 
school will receive an 
allocation based on the 
numbers of learners and 
that together with the 
amount of care allocated to 
them will enable them to 
employ only a headteacher 
and an assistant. 

Ysgol Felinwnda is facing a 
challenge to set a balanced 
budget for 2023-24 as the 
school will receive an 
allocation based on the 
numbers of learners and that 
together with the amount of 
care allocated to them will 
enable them to employ only a 
headteacher and an assistant. 

Staff will need to be made 
redundant. 

Staff will need to be made 
redundant. 

P
age 144



Community A high percentage of Ysgol 
Felinwnda catchment area 
pupils already attend 
schools outside the 
catchment area.

A high percentage of Ysgol 
Felinwnda catchment area 
pupils already attend schools 
outside the catchment area.

31 learners from Ysgol 
Felinwnda catchment area 
already attend Ysgol 
Bontnewydd. 

5 learners from Ysgol 
Felinwnda catchment area 
already attend Ysgol 
Llandwrog. 

The Welsh 
language 

No change No change - the 2 schools are 
Welsh medium schools 

No change - Ysgol 
Bontnewydd is a Welsh-
medium school 

No change – Ysgol Llandwrog 
is a Welsh-medium school

Conclusion Advantages

 there will be no need to 
organise additional 
transport for any learner

Disadvantages 

This proposal will not 

respond to the challenges 

facing the school: 

 low numbers  

 significant vacancies 

 small classes with an age 
range of 3 years  

 the cost per head is 3 
times more than the 
county average 

 most children in the 
catchment area choose 
to attend other schools 

Advantages

 there will be no need to 
organise additional 
transport for any learner 

Disadvantages 

This proposal will not respond 

to the challenges facing the 

school: 

 low numbers  

 significant vacancies 

 small classes with an age 
range of 3 years  

 the cost per head is 3 times 
more than the county 
average 

 most children in the 
catchment area choose to 
attend other schools 

Advantages

 sufficient space for receiving 

Ysgol Felinwnda learners 

 more opportunities to take 

part in activities with a 

number of other learners 

 learners are taught in 

classes of a viable size  

 learners are taught in 

classes of children of the 

same age  

 cost per head closer to the 

county average  

Disadvantages

 staff will need to be made 

redundant  

 it is likely that transport will 

need to be arranged for 

some of the learners at a 

cost to the Authority  

Advantages

 sufficient space for receiving 

Ysgol Felinwnda learners  

 cost per head is less 

Disadvantages

 Numbers at the school are 

relatively low  

 classes with an age range of 

4 years  

 staff will need to be made 

redundant  

 it is likely that transport will 

need to be arranged for 

some of the learners at a 

cost to the Authority  

P
age 145



For help to complete this form see the How to Undertake an Equality Impact Assessment 
leaflet. You are also welcome to contact Delyth Gadlys Williams, Policy and Equality Officer 
on ext. 32708 or DelythGadlysWilliams@gwynedd.llyw.cymru for further assistance. 

The Council’s is required (under the Equality Act 2010) to consider the effect any change in 
policy or procedure (or the creation of a new policy or procedure), has on people with 
protected equality characteristics.  The Council also has a general duty to ensure fairness 
and foster good relations. A timely Equality Impact Assessment must be undertaken before 
making any decision on any relevant change (i.e. which has an effect on people with 
protected characteristics). 

The Council is also required, under the requirements of the Welsh Language Standards 
(Section 44 of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011) to consider the effect of a 
change in any policy or procedure (or the creation of a new policy or procedure), in its 
opportunities for people to use Welsh and to ensure that Welsh is not treated less 
favourably than English. This document therefore ensures that these decisions protect and 
promote the use of the Welsh language.  

From April 1st 2021onwards, the Council has a duty to give tackling socio-economic 
disadvantage in strategic decisions due regard.  

1) Details 

1.1. What is the name of the policy / service in question?  

Proposal to close Ysgol Felinwnda and providing a place for pupils at Ysgol Bontnewydd 

1.2  What is the purpose of the policy/service that is being created or 
amended?   What changes are being considered? 

Ysgol Gynradd Felinwnda is located near the village of Saron and Dinas on the outskirts of 
Caernarfon and serves the surrounding villages and area. Ysgol Felinwnda's situation has come 
to the attention of the Education Department since the September 2022 School Census, as 
this is the school with the smallest number of learners in Gwynedd. There has been a 
significant reduction in the numbers of Ysgol Felinwnda learners over the past 10 years, from 
31 pupils in 2012 down to 8 pupils today, which leads to uncertainty about the future of the 
school. 

Assessing the Impact on Equality 
Characteristics, the Welsh Language and 

Socio-Economic Disadvantage
Disadvantage

Page 146



As there were less than 10 registered learners in the school in PLASC (Pupil Level Annual 
School Census) January 2023, it is considered a "small school" under the Standards and 
Organisation (Wales) Act 2013. This allows the authority to follow a simpler procedure to 
close the school. In particular, the requirement to consult in general is not needed, and the 
only thing required is to hold an objection period following the publication of the statutory 
notice, this will give 28 days for anyone to object to the offer. We will then be creating an 
objection report allowing the Cabinet to consider any objections before reaching a final 
decision. 

As part of the process of developing a proposal/proposals for the reorganisation of a 
school/schools, the authority is required to carry out an assessment of the likely impact on 
equality, the Welsh language and socio-economic disadvantage 

1.3 Who is responsible for this assessment? 

Gareth Richard Jones (Education Modernisation Officer)

1.4  When did you commence the assessment?   Which version is this? 

Version 1: 8 February 2023 
Version 2: 6 March 2023 
Version 3: 9 March 2023 

2) Action

2.1 Who are the stakeholders or partners you need to work with to 
undertake this assessment? 

Education Department and Officers from other Gwynedd Council departments
Governors and Headteacher of Ysgol Felinwnda 

2.2 What measures have you taken to engage with people with equality 
characteristics, regarding the Welsh language or with communities 
(either of place or of need) that live with socio-economic disadvantage?

A conversation has been held with the Local Member, the Headteacher of Ysgol Felinwnda and 
the Governing Body. 

As there are less than 10 registered learners at Ysgol Felinwnda in the January 2023 census, it 
is considered a "small school" under the Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013. In 

Page 147



accordance with the Schools Organisation Code this allows the authority to follow a simpler 
procedure in order to close the school. In particular, the requirement to consult in general is 
not needed, and the only thing that is required is to hold an objection period. We will do this 
by publishing a statutory notice on the proposal and allowing 28 days for parents, learners, 
staff and other stakeholders to respond to the proposal. We will then submit an objection 
report and submit it to the Council's Cabinet to decide on the next steps. 

2.3  What was the result of the engagement?

Following a conversation with the Headteacher and the Governing Body, the proposal to close 
Ysgol Felinwnda will be presented to Gwynedd Council’s Cabinet on 28 March 2023, and 
subject to the Cabinet's decision it will be possible to proceed to hold the objection period in 
accordance with the requirements of the School Organisation Code. 

2.4  On the basis of what other evidence are you operating?

 Number of learners - In the January 2023 PLASC census, there were only 8 full-time 
pupils on the school register with 3 from the Felinwnda catchment area and 5 from Bro 
Lleu and Bro Llifon catchment areas. 

 Children going outside the catchment area - 45 going outside the catchment 
area including 31 to Ysgol Bontnewydd and 5 to Ysgol Llandwrog and the remaining 
learners traveling to other schools further away.

 Number projections - Figure projections suggested that numbers will continue to 
decrease: September 2023= 8; September 2024 = 5; September 2025= 3

 High percentage of empty places – Based on the January 2023 figures, there are 
approximately 87% of empty places in the school (53 in number)

 Small class sizes – there are 2 classes with 3 in one and 5 in the other (January 2023)
 Wide age range within classes – one class is for year 1–3 learners and the other 

for year 4–5. There is not a single child of nursery age, reception class or year 6 in the 
school. 

 Additional funding to the allocation - Ysgol Felinwnda receives £54,924 for 2022-
23 through the minimum staffing policy (which guarantees at least a headteacher and a 
teacher in every school, and a headteacher and an assistant in schools that have less 
than 15 pupils). 

 Cost per learner - the total allocation for the financial year 2022-23 (based on 
September 2021 numbers) is £138,226 which means that the cost per head of Ysgol 
Felinwnda is £14,643 (2022-23). The county average for cost per pupil in the same year 
is £4,509. 

 Challenge to the future - Ysgol Felinwnda is facing a challenge to set a balanced 
budget for 2023-24 as the school will receive an allocation based on learner numbers 
and that together with the amount of care allocated to them will enable them to 
employ a head teacher and assistant only. 

Page 148



2.5 Are there any gaps in the evidence that needs to be collected? 

We will continue to gather evidence during the objection period.

3)      Identifying the Impact 

3.1 The Council must give due regard to the effect any changes will have on 
people with the equality characteristics noted below.  What impact will 
the new policy/service or the proposed changes in the policy or service 
have on people with these characteristics?   

Characteristics What type 
of impact?* 

In what way?  What is the evidence?

Race (including 
nationality)

None Gwynedd schools have policies in place to protect 
individuals from any discrimination based on race, such as 
Equality, Inclusion and Anti-Bullying Policies. The Anti-
bullying Policy provided by Gwynedd Council sets out anti-
bullying guidelines and procedures based on factors such as 
race at school. In addition, the Equality Policy implemented 
by Gwynedd primary schools states that the schools:  
“…opposes to all types of prejudice and discrimination and 
acknowledges that pupils have different needs, requirements 
and objectives.”

It is therefore not anticipated that the proposal would have 
an impact on this feature.

Disability None It is not anticipated that the change would have a negative 
impact on this feature. An accessibility assessment of Ysgol 
Bontnewydd would be carried out and we will ensure that 
any transport required will be suitable for the needs of the 
individual. The needs of any disabled child will be 
considered in accordance with the Education 
Department's Accessibility and Equality policies.

Sex None Implementation of the proposal would not affect this 
feature. The implementation of the proposal will mean that 
everyone will be treated according to their needs 
regardless of their gender. Ysgol Felinwnda and Ysgol 
Bontnewydd implements an Equality Policy which states 
that the school: 

“…opposes to all types of prejudice and discrimination and 
acknowledges that pupils have different needs, requirements 
and objectives.”

Age Positive Ysgol Felinwnda provides education for pupils between the 
ages of 3-11. Ysgol Felinwnda children will benefit from 

Page 149



having more age-relevant peers in a school with more 
learners at Ysgol Bontnewydd, which will ensure 
educational and extracurricular experiences suitable for 
their age together with access to more extracurricular 
activities. 

We believe that learners will receive more suitable 
opportunities for their age when they are placed at Ysgol 
Bontnewydd because the learners will receive learning 
experiences in mass groups, smaller groups, partner work 
and individually within their specific age range together 
with lessons differentiate them appropriately for the age 
range.

Sexual 
orientation 

Positive Relationships and sexuality education (RSE) is a statutory 
requirement in the Curriculum for Wales framework and 
is published under section 71 of the Curriculum and 
Assessment (Wales) Act 2021and is mandatory for all 
learners from ages 3 to 16. RSE has a positive and 
empowering role to play in the education of learners and it 
is essential to form and maintain a range of relationships, 
which are all based on mutual trust and respect, at the 
core of relationship and sexuality education. These 
relationships are crucial to develop emotional well-being, 
resilience and empathy. An understanding of sexuality with 
an emphasis on rights, health, equality and fairness 
empowers learners to understand themselves, take 
responsibility for their own decisions and behaviours and 
form relationships. We believe that learners will receive 
more opportunities to develop relationships and learn 
collaboratively as part of a larger class. 

It is stated in the Equality Policy which is implemented by 
Gwynedd's primary schools that the schools are 
“…opposes to all types of prejudice and discrimination and 
acknowledges that pupils have different needs, requirements 
and objectives.” 

Religion or 
belief (or non-
belief)

None Each school has an Inclusion Policy that would deal with 
any discriminatory incident that might occur in the school, 
related to religion or belief.

Gender 
reassignment 

None It is stated in the Equality policy which is implemented by 
Gwynedd's primary schools that the schools  
“…opposes to all types of prejudice and discrimination and 
acknowledges that pupils have different needs, requirements 
and objectives.”

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

None Not applicable.

Page 150



Marriage and 
civil 
partnership 

None Not applicable.

The Welsh 
language 

None The goal of the Gwynedd Education Language Policy is the 
same for all primary schools in the county, and all primary 
schools (except one school) fall into category 3 in 
accordance with the Welsh Government's guide for 
categorising schools according to Welsh-medium 
provision. This means that Ysgol Felinwnda learners will be 
able to continue receiving their education in Welsh and 
bilingually in accordance with the Language of Education 
Policy at Ysgol Bontnewydd. 

It is not anticipated that there would be a negative impact 
if the proposal were to be implemented, and it is likely that 
the proposal will have a positive impact on the Welsh 
language as Ysgol Felinwnda learners benefit from more 
opportunities to use the Welsh language with a wider 
range of peers in class and socially. Ysgol Bontnewydd 
serves an area that is a stronghold of the Welsh language 
with over 70% of the population able to speak Welsh. 

Socio-
Economic 
Disadvantage 

None It is not anticipated that Ysgol Bontnewydd which is within 
2 miles of Ysgol Felinwnda will create a socio-economic 
disadvantage. The proposal will reduce social disadvantage 
by ensuring more experiences and diversity of learning, 
more resources and access to more services and activities.

* Delete as appropriate 

3.2  The Council has a duty under the 2010 Equality Act to contribute 
positively to a fairer society by promoting equality and good relations in 
its activities regarding the following characteristics – age, gender, sexual 
orientation, religion, race, gender reassignment, disability and pregnancy 
and maternity.   The Council must give due attention to the way any 
change affects these duties.  

General Duties 
of the Equality 
Act 

Does it have 
an impact?*    

In what way?  What is the evidence?

Abolishing 
illegal 
discrimination, 
harassment 
and 
victimisation 

No It is not anticipated that the proposal will have an impact 
on the school's statutory duty to protect learners from 
any discrimination, harassment or persecution. 

Page 151



Promoting 
equal 
opportunities

Yes The aim is to promote equal opportunities and 
encourage Ysgol Bontnewydd to continue following 
equality policies and procedures. 

We believe that learners will receive more equal 
opportunities when placed at Ysgol Bontnewydd 
because the learners will receive learning experiences 
that are based on national learning principles, with a 
variety of styles including working in mass groups, 
smaller groups, partner work and individual within their 
specific age range together with lessons differentiated 
appropriately for the age range.

Encouraging 
good 
relationships 

Yes As a number of children who live in Ysgol Felinwnda’s
catchment area already attends Ysgol Bontnewydd, a 
connection has already been formed between the school 
and the Felinwnda community. However, opportunities 
are promoted for the school to build on its current links 
with the Felinwnda community. 

Relationships and sexuality education (RSE) is a 
statutory requirement in the Curriculum for Wales 
framework and is published under section 71 of the 
Curriculum and Assessment (Wales) Act 2021and is 
mandatory for all learners from ages 3 to 16. RSE has a 
positive and empowering role in learners’ education and 
plays a vital role in helping learners to form and maintain 
a range of relationships, which are all based on mutual 
trust and respect, are at the core of relationship and 
sexuality education. These relationships are critical to 
the development of emotional well-being, resilience and 
empathy. An understanding of sexuality with an 
emphasis on rights, health, equality and fairness 
empowers learners to understand themselves, take 
responsibility for their own decisions and behaviours 
and form relationships. We believe that learners will 
receive more opportunities to develop relationships and 
learn collaboratively as part of a larger class. 

* To be deleted as appropriate

3.3 How does your proposal ensure that you work in accordance with the 
requirements of the Welsh Language Standards (Welsh Language 
(Wales) Measure 2011), to ensure that the Welsh language is not treated 
less favourably than English and that you seize every opportunity to 
promote the Welsh language (beyond providing services bilingually) and 
increase opportunities to use and learn the language in the community? 

Page 152



Our expectations are that all learners in the County have balanced bilingualism and relevant ability 
so that they can be complete members of the bilingual society of which they are a part. The 
proposals for changing local arrangements will need to take full account of all the linguistic effects. 
Maintaining and increasing the use of Welsh as an educational and social language among the 
learners will be a key consideration when drawing up the proposal. 

The goal of the Gwynedd Education Language Policy is the same for all primary schools in the 
County, and all primary schools (except one school) fall into category 3 in accordance with the 
Welsh Government's guide for categorising schools according to Welsh-medium provision. This 
means that Ysgol Felinwnda learners will be able to continue receiving their education in Welsh and 
bilingually in accordance with the Language of Education Policy at Ysgol Bontnewydd. 

It is not anticipated that there would be a negative impact if the proposal were to be implemented, 
and it is likely that the proposal will have a positive impact on the Welsh language as Ysgol 
Felinwnda learners benefit from more opportunities to use the Welsh language with a wider range 
of peers in class and socially. 

From the perspective of the community, 1,145 (83%) Welsh speakers live in the Llanwnda ward 
while 1,015 (82%) Welsh speakers live in the Bontnewydd ward (Census Source 2021). 

As can be seen from the table below, a high percentage of learners at the 2 schools speak Welsh at 
home: 

In the period between 2011 to 2022, 29 residential units have been completed in the Felinwnda 
catchment area and children from the houses are already attending primary and secondary schools 
of their parents' choice. If the proposal is implemented, we are confident there will be enough space 
at Ysgol Bontnewydd for any additional learners in the future. 

It is not anticipated that the closure of Ysgol Felinwnda will have a negative impact on the 
community or the Welsh language as only 8 children attend the school, 3 of whom are from the 
Felinwnda catchment area. 45 primary children in the catchment area already attend other schools 
for their education with 31 attending Ysgol Bontnewydd. 

Canolfan Bro Llanwnda Community Centre is located next door to the school and hosts a number 
of activities including the Cylch Meithrin and Cylch Ti a Fi. As the Centre is independent from the 
school it is not anticipated that the closure of the school will have any negative impact the 
continuation of it’s Cylch Meithrin, Cylch Ti a Fi or other events. 

School                  

speak 
Welsh 
fluently 
at home

Percentage

Do not 
speak 

Welsh at 
home but 

fluent

Speak 
Welsh at 
home but 
not fluent

Do not 
speak 

Welsh at 
home and 

are not 
fluent

Do not 
speak 

Welsh at 
all

Total      

Felinwnda 6 75% 1 0 1 0 8

Bontnewydd 167 84% 5 17 6 4 199

Fluent Welsh Some Welsh 
No 

Welsh

Page 153



The Cylch Meithrin figures over the last 6 years:

2017 7

2018 5

2019 3

2020 *Closed due to covid 0

2021 3

2022 3
Sources:   Childcare Offer Data 

As shown above, Cylch Meithrin numbers have been low for a number of years. Unfortunately, it is 
not possible to predict whether or not parents will continue using the Cylch if Ysgol Felinwnda 
closes. 

3.4 What other measures or changes could you include to strengthen or 
change the policy / practice in order to have a positive impact on people's 
opportunities to use the Welsh language, and to reduce or prevent any 
adverse effects that the policy / practice may have on the Welsh 
language? 

It is likely that the proposal will have a positive impact on the Welsh language as the learners of 
Ysgol Felinwnda benefit from more opportunities to use the Welsh language with a wider range of 
peers in the classroom and socially. Ysgol Bontnewydd serves an area that is a stronghold of the 
Welsh language with over 70% of the population able to speak Welsh. 

The Local Authority, the Governing Body and Ysgol Bontnewydd can consider methods to 
promote the use of the Welsh language socially through extracurricular and community activities. 

3.5 How does the proposal show that you have had due regard to the need to 
address inequality caused by socio-economic disadvantage? (Note that 
this is about closing inequality gaps rather than just improving outcomes 
for everyone)?

The proposal will reduce the inequality caused by socio-economic disadvantage by ensuring 
that the learners have more experiences and access to more services and activities at Ysgol 
Bontnewydd. Learners will receive more equal opportunities when placed at Ysgol 
Bontnewydd because the learners will receive learning experiences that are based on national 
learning principles, with a variety of styles including working in mass groups, smaller groups, 
partner work and individually from within their specific age range together with lessons that 
are appropriately differentiated for the age range in question. 

Ysgol Felinwnda’s children will have a better learning environment in a school with more 
learners of the same age, and it will ensure that they make the most of their education. The 
children will benefit from having more age-related peers in a school with more learners, which 

Page 154



will ensure suitable educational and extracurricular experiences for them together with access 
to more extracurricular activities. 

3.6 What other measures or changes might you include to strengthen or 
change the policy / practice to show that you have had due regard to the 
need to reduce disproportionate outcomes as a result of socio-economic 
disadvantage, in accordance with the Socio-Economic Act? 

We will continue collecting information following the outcome of the objection period to 
ensure that we have given great attention to reducing inequality. 

4) Analysing the Results 

4.1  Is the policy therefore likely to have a significant, positive impact on any 
of the above and what is the reason for this?  

We believe that learners will receive more equal opportunities when placed at Ysgol 
Bontnewydd because the learners will receive learning experiences that are based on national 
learning principles, with a variety of styles including working in mass groups, smaller groups, 
partner work and individual within their specific age range together with lessons that are 
appropriately differentiated for the age range in question. 

Ysgol Felinwnda children will have a better learning environment in a school with more 
learners of the same age, it will ensure that they make the most of their education and allow 
access to more activities relevant to their ability level. 

The children of Ysgol Felinwnda will benefit from having more age-relevant peers in a school 
with more learners, which will ensure suitable educational and extracurricular experiences for 
them together with access to more extracurricular activities. 

4.2  Is the policy therefore likely to have a significant, negative impact on any 
of the above and what is the reason for this?  

The proposal is not likely to have a negative impact on any of the equality features or the 
General Duty. Ysgol Bontnewydd has equality and anti-bullying policies, as Ysgol Felinwnda 
currently has. 

Like Ysgol Felinwnda, Ysgol Bontnewydd serves an area of linguistic significance, with over 70% 
of the population able to speak Welsh, therefore the learners will join a Welsh-language 
school. As no community activities are held at Ysgol Felinwnda, and Canolfan Bro Llanwnda is 
located next door, closing the school will not affect the community's ability to host community 
activities, including the Welsh language activities in the area. 

Page 155



4.3  What should be done?  

Choose one of the following:

Continue with the policy / service as it is robust ✓ 

Adapt the policy to delete any barriers 

Suspend and delete the policy as the detrimental impacts are too big 

Continue with the policy as any detrimental impact can be justified 

No further action at this time because it is too soon to decide, or there is 
insufficient evidence 

4.4 If continuing with the project, what steps will you take to reduce or 
mitigate any negative impacts? 

It is recognised that the loss of a school as an institution within the community can have an 
impact on community cohesion, and the need to mitigate this is anticipated by fostering links 
between Ysgol Bontnewydd and the community of Felinwnda. 

There is a community centre in Felinwnda, therefore it is unlikely that the community will 
need another community resource. Nevertheless, Gwynedd Council has a school post-use 
policy which gives the offer to communities of schools that are closing to submit a proposal 
for the ownership of sites for community use. 

4.5  If you are not taking any further action to delete or reduce the negative 
impacts, explain why here.  

The school (and their Governing Body) is responsible for implementing its equality policy and 
the Authority, through its usual support and monitoring procedures, will ensure compliance. 

Relationship and sexuality education has a positive and empowering role to play in the 
education of learners and is essential to forming and maintaining a range of relationships, all 
based on mutual trust and respect, at the core of relationship education and sexuality. These 
relationships are crucial to develop emotional well-being, resilience and empathy. An 
understanding of sexuality with an emphasis on rights, health, equality and fairness empowers 
learners to understand themselves, take responsibility for their own decisions and behaviours 
and form relationships. 

Page 156



5) Monitoring 

5.1  What steps will you take to monitor the impact and effectiveness of the 
policy or service (action plan)? 

The intention is to hold an objection period subject to the decision of the Cabinet, and we will 
adjust the assessment following any comments received as a result of the objection period, and 
any discussions with stakeholders. 

Page 157



Impact Assessment Report of the  
Well-being and Future Generations Act 

- March 2023 

Page 158



CONTENT 

1.  INTRODUCTION 

2. HOW DOES THE PROPOSAL MEET GWYNEDD COUNCIL'S WELFARE OBJECTIVES? 

3. DOES THE PROPOSAL MEET THE ACT’S WELFARE OBJECTIVES? 

4. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES 

5. CONCLUSION 

Page 159



1.INTRODUCTION  

We as a Council are committed to the principles within the Well-being of Future Generations Act (2015) in 
order to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Gwynedd's communities. 
The Council's vision is: 

Our vision as a Council is to support all the people of Gwynedd to flourish and to live a complete life in their 
community in a county that is one of the best counties to live in. 

The Council has adopted well-being objectives which complement the national well-being goals ensuring that 

the residents of Gwynedd are: 

 Giving our children and young people the best possible start in life 

 Strengthening the economy and supporting the people of Gwynedd to earn a decent salary

 Supporting Gwynedd residents to live in suitable and affordable homes in their communities

 Supporting the residents of Gwynedd to live full and safe lives in our communities

 Ensuring that we give our residents every possible opportunity to use the Welsh language in the 

community

 Protecting the county's natural beauty, and responding positively to the climate change crisis

 Putting the residents of Gwynedd first and treating them fairly and ensuring that the Council performs 

effectively and efficiently 

The table below outlines the link between our well-being objectives and the national well-being goals. 

The Education Department has a role to promote the well-being goals of the Act among learners through their 
activities and projects. The Act places a duty on public bodies in Wales to improve economic, social, 
environmental, and cultural well-being. As part of the duty the Council has published well-being objectives 
which outline how it will improve in the "Gwynedd Plan 2023-2028" 

Page 160



1.1 Context 

Ysgol Gynradd Felinwnda is located near the village of Saron and Dinas on the outskirts of Caernarfon and 

serves the surrounding villages and area. Ysgol Felinwnda's situation has come to the attention of the 

Education Department because, according to the September 2022 Census, this is the school with the least 

amount of learners in Gwynedd. There has been a significant reduction in the numbers of Ysgol Felinwnda 

learners over the past 10 years, from 31 pupils in 2012 down to 8 pupils today, which leads to concerns about 

the school's future. 

1.2 The proposal in question 

Due to the low numbers and other worrying issues with the school, an evaluation was carried out of several 
options that will respond to them, coming to the decision that the preferred option will be a proposal to 
close Ysgol Felinwnda on 31 August 2023 and offer a place to Felinwnda catchment area learners at Ysgol 
Bontnewydd from 1 September 2023. 

2. HOW DOES THE PROPOSAL MEET GWYNEDD COUNCIL'S WELFARE OBJECTIVES?

Closing Ysgol Felinwnda and offering a place to learners at Ysgol Bontnewydd
Objectives Details:

Giving our children and young people 

the best possible start in life  

The proposal will ensure that children in the area foster experiences by socialising with a 
wider range of age-related peers and receiving a quality education in a school that can 
offer a learning environment and experiences to a wider range of learners. 

Strengthening the economy and 

supporting the people of Gwynedd to 

earn a decent salary 

It is anticipated that the implementation of this option would lead to staff redundancies. 
A detailed staffing policy was developed by Gwynedd Council in collaboration with Trade 
Unions and head teachers. The policy will form the basis of any change to staff 
employment resulting from any proposal. 
Clear and open communication will be central to the successful implementation of any 
proposals.

Supporting Gwynedd residents to live 

in suitable and affordable homes in 

their communities 

No effect.   

Supporting the residents of Gwynedd 

to live full and safe lives in our 

communities 

Ensuring that the learners receive a first class education will be at the core of the proposal, 
ensuring that they will receive an education of the same quality and standard at Ysgol 
Bontnewydd. 

Ensuring that we give our residents 

every possible opportunity to use the 

Welsh language in the community 

Ysgol Felinwnda learners live in a Welsh-medium society and are educated in a Welsh-
medium school, such as Ysgol Bontnewydd. It is likely that the proposal will have a 
positive impact on the Welsh language as Ysgol Felinwnda learners benefit from more 
opportunities to use the Welsh language with a wider range of peers in the classroom 
and socially. Ysgol Bontnewydd serves an area that is a stronghold of the Welsh 
language with over 70% of the population able to speak Welsh. 

Protecting the county's natural 

beauty, and responding positively to 

the climate change crisis 

No effect. 

Putting the residents of Gwynedd first 

and treating them fairly and ensuring 

that the Council performs effectively 

and efficiently 

No effect. 

Page 161



3. DOES THE PROPOSAL MEET THE WELFARE AIMS OF THE ACT? 

Objective Does the proposal contribute to this goal? Measures to mitigate negative effects on this goal:

A prosperous Wales 
An innovative society that uses resources prudently, 
educated people, that create wealth and work. 

The implementation of the proposal to close Ysgol Felinwnda 
and teach the children at Ysgol Bontnewydd means that the 
learners build experiences by socialising with a wider range of 
peers, age-related and receiving a quality education in a school 
that can offer a learning environment and experiences to a 
wider range of learners. 

Introducing this option can lead to staff losing their jobs. 

Staff and representatives of the Unions in particular will 
have the opportunity to express an opinion during the 
statutory objection period. Gwynedd Council has 
developed a detailed staffing policy, jointly with Trade 
Unions and headteachers. Any redundancies as a result 
of this proposal will have to be in line with that policy. 
Clear and open communication will play a key role in 
implementing any proposals.

A resilient Wales  
A nation that maintains and enhances biodiversity and 
healthy ecosystems that support resilience and 
adaptability to change (for example climate change). 

It is not anticipated that the proposal would be likely to have 
an impact on this aim. 

No effect   

A healthier Wales  
A society where people's physical and mental well-being 
is as good as possible, and people understand what 
affects their health. 

It is not anticipated that the proposal would be likely to have 
an impact on this aim. 

No effect  

A more equal Wales  
A society that enables people to achieve their potential 
regardless of their background or circumstances 
(including their socio-economic background and 
circumstances). 

The proposal will improve the Authority's ability to "offer 
education of the highest possible quality which will give the 
County's children the experiences, skills and confidence and 
enable them to develop into bilingual, successful citizens and 
complete" in accordance with the vision of the Excellent 
Primary Education for Children in Gwynedd Strategy. 

The Equality Assessment stated that it is not anticipated 
that the proposal would have a negative impact on 
equality. In addition, it was noted that there are solid 
policies and arrangements in place that would ensure 
that the proposal considers and is compatible with equal 
rights. It is noted that measures are already in place to 
ensure that there will be no illegal discrimination or 
harassment.

A Wales of cohesive communities
Attractive, viable and safe communities that are well 
connected. 

It is not anticipated that the proposal would be likely to have 
an impact on this aim. 

An assessment of the likely impact on the community 
was carried out where it is noted that, although there is 
some negative impact on the community, that 31 
learners who live in the Felinwnda catchment area 
already choose to attend Ysgol Bontnewydd, and 
therefore there is already a link between the school and 
the wider area. It is also noted in the assessment that 
discussions would be held in order to discuss the 
possibility that Ysgol Bontnewydd community activity 
includes the Felinwnda community. 

P
age 162



Wales and a vibrant culture where the Welsh language 
flourishes
An association that promotes and protects culture, 
heritage and the Welsh language and encourages people 
to participate in the arts, sports and leisure activities. 

Completing the proposal will mean that Ysgol Felinwnda 
learners will continue to be educated in a Welsh-medium 
school, and in an area of linguistic significance, with over 70% 
of the population able to speak Welsh. 

Canolfan Bro Llanwnda is located next door to the 
school and hosts several activities including the Cylch 
Meithrin and Cylch Ti a Fi. As the Center is independent 
from the school it is not anticipated that the closure of 
the school will have any effect on the ability of the Cylch 
Meithrin and Cylch Ti a Fi or other events to continue. 

Wales responsible at a global level 
A nation that, as it does anything to improve the 
economic, social, environmental, and cultural well-being 
of Wales, considers whether doing such a thing could 
contribute positively to global well-being. 

It is not anticipated that the proposal would be likely to have 
an impact on this aim. 

No effect.   

4. PRINCIPLES OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

Principles of Sustainable Development Does the proposal consider the principle?

Long Term 
Balancing short-term needs with long-term ones and 
planning for the future. 

The pattern of decreasing numbers of learners has been constant since 2012, with projections showing 
that Ysgol Felinwnda number of learners will decrease further over the next few years, and therefore 
shows that the current challenges facing the school will be long term and that the matter needs to be 
responded to as soon as possible.

Prevent 
Allocate resources for preventing problems from 
occurring or getting worse. We will address problems by 
preventing and intervening early rather than by reacting.

The needs of the pupils will be prioritised during each stage of the process.

Integration
Have a positive impact on people, the economy, the 
environment, and culture. 

The authority has decided to look at Ysgol Felinwnda’ s future due to the critical situation facing the 
school. 

Cooperation
Work with other partners to provide services. 

Collaboration with other relevant departments and the individual school will be an important part of 
achieving the objectives for the benefit of the school and the children of the catchment area. 

Content (Communication and Engagement)
Involve the people of Gwynedd in trying to complete our 
plan and ensure that those people reflect the diversity of 
the area.

Should the Cabinet decide to proceed with the proposal, the authority will comply with the statutory 
requirements set out in the School Organisation Code, which means that we would hold an objection 
period following the publication of the statutory notice, in order consider any objections before reaching 
a final decision. 

P
age 163



5. CONCLUSION 

Following consideration and assessment in accordance with the requirements of the well-being act, the 7 goals of 
the well-being act and the Council's well-being objectives were considered, and it is concluded that the proposal 
meets the requirements. 

It is recognised that this proposal leads to the loss of a school in the Felinwnda community, however a large number 
of the children who live within the school's catchment area already attend Bontnewydd school, and therefore there 
is already a link between Ysgol Bontnewydd and the Felinwnda community. Every effort will be made to mitigate the 
impact on the community by encouraging links between the communities. Should the proposal be approved, 
discussions will be held to discuss the possibility that Ysgol Bontnewydd's community activity includes the Felinwnda 
community where appropriate. 

The proposed proposal will ensure that the children of the area are educated on a site that is suitable and in a 
natural Welsh language society, increasing opportunities to socialise and collaborate with others and give them a 
fair chance to flourish among their peers. 

Page 164



Community Impact Assessment Report – 
Ysgol Felinwnda 

- March 2023 

Page 165



Contents 

1. INTRODUCTION 

2. THE PROPOSAL 

3. SUMMARY OF THE AREA  

4. SCHOOLS IN THE CATCHMENT AREA 

5. ASSESSMENT OF THE LIKELY IMPACT ON THE COMMUNITY 

6. CONCLUSION 

Page 166



1. INTRODUCTION  

As part of the statutory process, when developing a proposal for the reorganisation of a school, the 
Authority must carry out an assessment of the likely impact on the community, in accordance with 
the School Organisation Code (011/2018). This assessment is derived from the Welsh Government's 
national guidelines for the reorganisation of schools, including considerations regarding the unique 
needs of rural areas. It is stated in the Code: 

"In some areas, a school may also be the main hub for community activity, and its closure could have 

implications beyond the provision of education. This can be a specific feature in rural areas if school 

buildings are used as a place to provide services to the local community." 

"The case that will be prepared by those who present the proposals should show that the impact of 

closing the school on the community has been assessed by drawing up a Community Impact Assessment 

and show how it could be carried out any community facilities currently provided by the school." 

Source: School Organisation Code 011 /2018 

1.1 Background 

Ysgol Felinwnda Primary School is located near the villages of Saron and Dinas on the outskirts of 

Caernarfon and serves the nearby villages and areas. The situation at Ysgol Felinwnda has been brought 

to the attention of the Education Department as according to the September 2022 Census, this is the 

school with the lowest numbers of learners in Gwynedd. There has been a significant reduction in the 

number of learners at Ysgol Felinwnda over the past 10 years, from 31 pupils in 2012 down to 8 pupils 

by today, and this leads to concerns regarding the school's future.  

2. THE PROPOSAL 

Following an evaluation of different options against the factors of the Strategy, it was concluded that 
the preferred option is: 

“Close Ysgol Felinwnda on 31 August 2023 and offer place for learners from the Felinwnda 
catchment area at Ysgol Bontnewydd from 1 September 2023.”

3. SUMMARY OF THE AREA  

3.1  The Area  

Ysgol Gynradd Felinwnda is located in the rural village of Llanwnda near the village of Saron and Dinas 

on the outskirts of Caernarfon in Gwynedd, with approximately 2000 residents. It is located 3.9 miles 

from Caernarfon. According to the 2011 census, 1,994 people live in Llanwnda ward. 

3.2  The Economy 

72.4% of people aged between 16 and 74 within the Llanwnda ward are economically active, and 2.9% 
of these are unemployed. 27.6% of people in the same age group are economically inactive with 13.8% 
of these being ill or disabled for a long period. 

Page 167



The type of industry in which the population is active is varied in the area, with the highest rate (18.5%) 
working in the health and social work field. 

According to data from the 'Index of Multiple Deprivation Wales (2014)' the employment rate of 
Llanwnda ward compared to other wards in Wales gives a rank of 1254 out of 1909 wards. Felinwnda 
ward is therefore not within the most deprived 50% in Wales. 

3.3  Deprivation 

Llanwnda Ward is ranked within the least deprived 50% in Wales (rank 1046 out of 1909 wards). 

A number of areas make up this overall index, including income, employment, health, education, access 
to services, community safety, physical environment and housing. 

It is noted that Llanwnda ward is within the 20-30% of the most deprived areas in Wales in the 'Housing' 
field. The indicators in this area are the proportion of people living in overcrowded homes (use of 
bedrooms), and the proportion of people living in homes without central heating. 

In addition, Llanwnda ward is within the 10% of the most deprived areas in Wales in the area of 
'access to services', i.e. deprivation because people are unable to access a variety of services that are 
considered essential for day-to-day living. The indicators include average public and private travel 
times to a number of services such as food shops, doctor's surgery, primary and secondary schools, 
post office, public library, pharmacy, leisure centre and private travel time to a petrol station. 

Below is a summary of how the Llanwnda area is situated in the context of other areas in Wales 
according to the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (2014): 

Field 
Rank in Wales, out of 1909 areas. 
(1 = most deprived and 1909 = least deprived) Most deprived % in Wales 

Employment 1254

Income  1092

Health 1435

Education 1437

Housing 388 Within the 20-30% most deprived  

Physical environment  1020

Access to services  116 Within the 10% most deprived  

Community safety 1513

3.4  The Community  

A number of activities are held in the Llanwnda Ward, including; 

 Sensori Sara 

 Reading club 

 Rhostryfan Race 

 Coffee morning 

 Cylch Ti a Fi  Page 168



 Cylch Meithrin 

 Merched y Wawr 

 Zumba 
 Y Gymdeithas

In addition, there are several facilities in the catchment area, including a community centre, shops, a 
garage, public transport, a small train station and a children's playground. 

4. CATCHMENT AREA SCHOOLS 

4.1  The context of the schools according to the Estyn Inspection Reports 

As part of Estyn's reports, the schools are placed in context, and their community relations are detailed. 
This is the context given to Ysgol Felinwnda by Estyn inspectors. 

Ysgol Felinwnda 

"Ysgol Gynradd Felinwnda is located near the village of Saron and Dinas on the outskirts of 
Caernarfon and serves the surrounding villages and area." 

Source: Estyn Report, June 2017 

4.2 Statistical information of the schools 

The table below shows the numbers of Ysgol Felinwnda and Ysgol Bontnewydd from Nursery Year to 

Year 6. This table also shows the capacity of the schools and the number on the register in September 

2022. Both schools teach through the medium of Welsh. 

School 
Full Capacity 

(N – Yr6)

Number on the 

register 

September 2022 

(N – Yr6)

Legal Category 

Felinwnda 61 8 Community School 

Bontnewydd 208 210 Community School

Source: September 2022 

4.3  Information about the location of pupil ’s dwell ings and choice of school  

Each school has a specific catchment area which it serves, and which is important in terms of the 

Council's access and transport policy. Learners do not have to attend their catchment area school, 

the choice is up to parents (in accordance with the admission policy). 

Compared to other catchment areas in the area, the number of Ysgol Felinwnda catchment area 
learners who choose to attend an out-of-catchment school is high. The latest data shows that 48 
children aged 3-11 (September 2022 data) live in Felinwnda catchment area; with only 3 of them 
attending Ysgol Felinwnda. This means that 94% of children who live in Ysgol Felinwnda catchment  

Page 169



area attend schools outside the catchment area, including 31 who attend Ysgol Bontnewydd. 

The table below shows the complete information in terms of learners' living locations and their 
choice of school. 

Home Catchment Area
(September 2022)

Bontnewydd Felinwnda Llandwrog Maesincla Rhosgadfan Rhostryfan
Y 

Gelli
Yr 

Hendre
Other

School Total
(N-Y6) 

Attend School
(September 2022)

Bontnewydd 94 31 1 10 6 12 3 26 26 209

Felinwnda 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 9

Llandwrog 0 5 20 0 0 0 0 0 8 33

Maesincla 0 1 0 212 1 1 5 44 9 273

Rhosgadfan 0 0 0 0 38 0 0 0 7 45

Rhostryfan 4 0 1 0 20 50 0 0 1 76

Santes 
Helen

0 0 0 14 0 0 7 6 8 35

Y Gelli 0 0 0 55 1 0 132 36 5 229

Yr Hendre 3 5 2 131 2 0 18 232 4 397

Other 11 3 7 20 16 12 9 19

Total 112 48 31 442 84 75 174 363

Source: September 2022 Census 

4.4  Summary of the various faci l it ies in the rural communities (March 2023) 

The information below has been collected on the school areas that may be affected by any of the 
options. 

Felinwnda Bontnewydd 

Community Centre / 

Village Hall 
✓ ✓

Chapel/Church ✓ ✓

Public Transport ✓ ✓

Shop ✓ ✓

Cafe/Pub ✓

Post Office ✓

Pharmacy 

Library 

Park  ✓

Bank 

Care Home ✓

Leisure Centre  

Garage ✓

Tourist Attraction  ✓ ✓

Cylch Ti a Fi + Meithrin ✓ ✓

Page 170



Community Centre 

Canolfan Bro Llanwnda is located next to Ysgol Felinwnda and hosts a number of community 

activities including: 

 Sensori Sara 

 Cymdeithas Hanes y Tair Llan 

 Zumba 

 Merched y Wawr  

 Cylch Meithrin 

 Cylch Ti a Fi 

The Mudiad Meithrin website shows that the Cylch Meithrin meets Monday to Friday between 9:00-
12:50 and the Cylch Ti a Fi that Wednesday afternoon (13:15 - 15:30). As the Centre is independent to 
the school it is not anticipated that the closure of the school will have any effect on the ability of the 
Cylch Meithrin and Cylch Ti a Fi to continue. 

4.5 Summary of schools' use outside core school hours (March 2023) 

A summary of community or extra-curricular use of the local school buildings is below: 

Felinwnda Bontnewydd 

Playgroups (School Holidays) ✓

Urdd Community  ✓

Dramas 

Voluntary Groups 

Morning/Evening Coffee ✓

Community Auction 

Community Library 

Choir Practice 

Welsh for Adults 

Town/Community Council Meeting 

Cylch Meithrin ✓

Club/Sports Activity ✓

After School Club ✓

Local Interest Club 

According to the Headteacher, there is no community use of Ysgol Felinwnda outside of school hours. 

4.6 A summary of activit ies or groups that the school is regularly involved in:  

Felinwnda Bontnewydd 

Cylch Meithrin/Ti a Fi ✓

Eisteddfod 
(Local/County/National) 

✓ ✓

Urdd Community ✓ ✓Page 171



Other activities (sports, clubs) ✓ ✓

4.7  If buildings, rooms, facilities, or services are provided by a school on behalf of the community, 

where would they be provided if the school is closed? 

School Where facilities will be provided if it closes 

Felinwnda 
There is no community use of the school and Canolfan Bro Llanwnda 
is available for holding activities in the area. 

4.8 Information about distance and travel t ime to other schools in the catchment 
area 

The table below indicates the distance and travel time between schools in the area. We see that Ysgol 
Bontnewydd is the closest to Ysgol Felinwnda. The travel times below consider the nature of the lanes 
and the effect that can have on travel time in a rural area. 

Source: Google Maps 2023 

School Felinwnda Bontnewydd Llandwrog 

Felinwnda
Miles

Minutes

Bontnewydd
Miles 1.8 miles

Minutes 4 minutes

Llandwrog
Miles 2 miles 3.9 miles

Minutes 8 minutes 8 minutes

Page 172



5. ASSESSMENT OF THE LIKELY IMPACT ON THE COMMUNITY  

To assess the community impact of the possible models, it was decided to create criteria in 
accordance with the recommendations of the community assessment considerations of the School 
Organisation Code 011/2018. 

CLOSING YSGOL FELINWNDA AND TRANSFERRING THE LEARNERS TO YSGOL BONTNEWYDD 

Impact Criteria Description
Status of the impact and 

the work

Impact on Health and 
well-being

As over 50% of the learners from the Felinwnda catchment area live 
within 2 miles of Ysgol Bontnewydd and with a safe route to the 
school they will have the opportunity to walk to school.  

Being in a larger school will offer more opportunities to play and take 
part in team sports and therefore contribute to the health and well-
being of learners. 

Positive 

The implications of 
the change on public 
transport provisions

There is no anticipated impact on public transport provision as any 
transport to Ysgol Bontnewydd as a result of the change will be 
arranged specifically for learners in the catchment area who are 
eligible. 

Neutral 

Impact on other 
facilities / services 

provided at the 
school

There is no community use of the school so the proposal will not 
have any negative impact on this. 

Cylch Meithrin and Cylch Ti a Fi are located in Canolfan Bro 
Llanwnda which is located next door to Ysgol Felinwnda. As the 
Centre is independent from the school it is not anticipated that the 
closure of the school will have any effect on the ability of the Cylch 
Meithrin and Cylch Ti a Fi to continue. 

Neutral 

Impact on wider 
community safety

No impact on wider community safety is anticipated. Neutral 

Would the option 
encourage families 

and school age 
children to leave the 
community, or that 
young families are 
less likely to move 

into the community

As a high number of children from the catchment area already attend 
Ysgol Bontnewydd it is not anticipated that families and young 
children would leave the community. As Ysgol Bontnewydd is only 
1.8 miles from Ysgol Felinwnda, it is not anticipated that it would 
have an impact on families and the school aged children leaving the 
community. 

Neutral 

Impact on other 
services provided 

locally

Cylch Meithrin and Cylch Ti a Fi are located in Canolfan Bro 
Llanwnda. A number of other events are also held at the Centre. As 
the Centre is independent from the school it is not anticipated that 
the closure of the school will have any effect on the ability of the 
Cylch Meithrin and Cylch Ti a Fi or other events to continue. As a 
high number of children in the catchment area already attend other 
schools, it cannot be concluded that closing the school would have 
an impact on other services. 

Neutral 

Adverse effect on the 
wider economy of the 

community

As most children in the catchment area attend other schools, it is not 
anticipated that the closure of Ysgol Felinwnda would have an impact 
on the wider economy of the community.

Neutral 

General impact on 
the local community

As a high percentage of children in the catchment area already 
attend other schools, we do not anticipate that closing the school 
would have a negative impact on the local community.

Neutral

Positive Neutral Negative 

Page 173



6. CONCLUSION 

The assessment shows that there is no community use of the school. Canolfan Bro Llanwnda is located 

next door to the school and hosts several activities including the Cylch Meithrin and Cylch Ti a Fi. As 

the Centre is independent from the school it is not anticipated that the closure of the school will have 

any effect on the ability of the Cylch Meithrin and Cylch Ti a Fi or other events to continue. 

If the option of closing Ysgol Felinwnda and offering a place to learners at Ysgol Bontnewydd were to 

be pursued, it is not anticipated that it will have any negative impact on the Felinwnda community. In 

order to mitigate any possible negative impact on learners we will encourage discussions between 

Ysgol Bontnewydd and the parents of Ysgol Felinwnda learners so that they can take advantage of their 

facilities and activities after school, and to encourage collaboration between Ysgol Bontnewydd and 

the Felinwnda community. 

Page 174



Assessment Report on the Probable 
Impact on Travel Arrangements –  

Ysgol Felinwnda 

- March 2023 

Page 175



Contents 

Page 

       1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Cyngor Gwynedd Transport Policy 

1.2 The context of Ysgol Felinwnda 

       2. THE OPTIONS IN QUESTION 

       3. ASSESSMENT OF THE IMPACT ON TRANSPORT ARRANGEMENTS 

       3.1 Location of the alternative school 

       3.2 Free transport option 

       3.3. Financial impact 

        4. CONCLUSION 

Page 176



1. INT RODUCTION

Ysgol Felinwnda Primary School is located near the villages of Saron and Dinas on the outskirts of 

Caernarfon and serves the nearby villages and areas. The situation at Ysgol Felinwnda has been 

brought to the attention of the Education Department as according to the September 2022 Census, 

this is the school with the lowest numbers of learners in Gwynedd. There has been a significant 

reduction in the number of learners at Ysgol Felinwnda over the past 10 years, from 31 pupils in 2012 

down to 8 pupils by today, and this leads to concerns regarding the school's future.  

As part of the process of developing a proposal(s) for school reorganisation, the Authority must carry 
out an assessment of the likely impact on different travel arrangements, in accordance with the 
School Organisation Code (011/2018).  

Due to the low numbers and other matters of concern regarding the school, an appraisal of several 
options that would respond to these was undertaken before coming to the decision that the 
preferred option was to close Ysgol Felinwnda on 31 August 2023 and offer a place for the pupils at 
Ysgol Bontnewydd from 1 September 2023 onwards. 

1.1 Cyngor Gwynedd Transport Policy 

The 'Excellent Primary Education for the Children of Gwynedd Strategy' aims to restrict travel from 

home to school to a one-way journey of no more than 30 minutes.   

Cyngor Gwynedd provides free transport for learners who live two or more miles from the school in 

their catchment area, or the nearest school (not including nursery pupils). Learners who receive 

primary education are expected (except for learners with additional learning needs or disabilities), to 

walk up to two miles to meet any modes of transport provided by Cyngor Gwynedd. The transport 

policy can be seen in the parents' handbook: 

(https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Residents/Documents-Residents/Schools-and-learning-

documents/School-Admissions/Guide-Book.pdf)  

1.2 Context of Ysgol  Fel inwnda 

Ysgol Felinwnda Primary School is located near the villages of Saron and Dinas on the outskirts of 
Caernarfon and serves the nearby villages and area. It provides education for pupils aged between 3 
and 11 years and has capacity for 61 (N-Yr6).   

In September 2022, 48 learners aged between 3-11 lived in the Ysgol Felinwnda catchment area with 

three of those pupils attending Ysgol Felinwnda.  This means that 45 learners in the catchment area 

(between 3-11) attend out-of-catchment schools, with 31 of these attending Ysgol Bontnewydd.  

Page 177



2. THE PROPOSAL IN QUESTION  

Closure of Ysgol Felinwnda on 31 August 2023 and offer a place for the learners in the Felinwnda 
catchment area at Ysgol Bontnewydd from 1 September 2023 onwards.  

Ysgol Bontnewydd is located approximately two miles from Ysgol Felinwnda. In accordance with the 
Cyngor Gwynedd transport policy, the authority would offer transport to the learners of the current 
Ysgol Felinwnda catchment area choosing to attend Ysgol Bontnewydd and living more than two miles 
from the school.  

In addition, in terms of the learners who would choose to attend Ysgol Bontnewydd but who live less 
than two miles away from the school and therefore not entitled to free transport, but as a result of 
the fact that they would travel to school along a road considered by the Council to be very dangerous, 
then free transport will be provided to those learners. 

3. ASSESSMENT OF THE IMPACT ON TRANSPORT ARRANGEMENTS 

3.1. Location of the alternative school  

Ysgol Bontnewydd is in the village of Bontnewydd, approximately 1.1 miles down the road from the 
village of Llanwnda and 2 miles from Ysgol Felinwnda.    

3.2. Free transport options 

In line with Cyngor Gwynedd transport policy, learners who receive primary or secondary education 

(with the exception of learners with additional learning needs or disabilities), are expected to walk up 

to two miles to meet any modes of transport provided by Cyngor Gwynedd along the shortest route.   

The shortest route available is the route which is not deemed by the Council to be especially 

dangerous, after assessing the other routes available for the journey, and these routes would be 

assessed in line with Cyngor Gwynedd's transport policy. 

As the route to Ysgol Felinwnda is considered dangerous to some learners, the authority already 

provides a free taxi to two of the three learners eligible from the catchment area. 

Having considered all the learners who live in the Ysgol Felinwnda catchment area, it is anticipated 

that it will be necessary to continue to offer a taxi or bus to the 2 existing Ysgol Felinwnda learners 

and offer transport to up to 21 learners who live in the Felinwnda catchment area but attend Ysgol 

Bontnewydd, with 25 of the remaining learners living less than 2 miles from Ysgol Bontnewydd with a 

safe route to school.    

3.3. Financial  impact  

The cost of undertaking this would be reliant on the number of learners who will require transport.  

Page 178



Based on the September 2022 prices, a bus to transport eligible learners would cost between 

£45,000 - £55,000 a year, and a three-seater taxi would cost £40-£60 a day and would therefore 

cost approximately £7,400 - £11,100 a year.   

The following summary indicates the possible financial impact of the different scenarios in the context 

of the travel arrangements:  

Taxi or bus The probable annual financial impact 

on travel arrangements for the Author-

ity  

Closure of Ysgol Felinwnda and of-

fer a place for the two learners 

who already get transport to Ysgol 

Felinwnda 

Taxi 1 taxi @ £7,400 - £11,100 a year 

Providing transport to half the 3-

11 year old learners in the Ysgol 

Felinwnda catchment area who 

are eligible (12 learners) 

Taxi

Bus 

4 taxi @ £7,400 - £11,100 a year = 

£29,600 -£44,400

1 bus @ £45,000 - £55,000 a year 

Providing transport for all 3-11

year old learners in the Ysgol 

Felinwnda catchment area who 

are eligible (23 learners) 

Bus 1 bus @ £45,000 - £55,000 a year

It is important to note that 31 learners from the Felinwnda catchment area already travel to Ysgol 

Bontnewydd for their education and the Council does not organise transport for them.  

4. CONCLUSION 

Should the proposal be implemented, learners living within the Ysgol Felinwnda catchment area 
would receive transport to Ysgol Bontnewydd in accordance with the County's School Transport 
Policy. 

Should the proposal to close Ysgol Felinwnda be implemented, and the learners offered a place in 
Ysgol Bontnewydd, it is anticipated that two of the learners receiving free transport to Ysgol Felinwnda 
at present will continue to be eligible for transport to Ysgol Bontnewydd and, subject to parents' 
choice, 21 additional learners may require transport. 

Should all 3-11 year old learners in the Ysgol Felinwnda catchment area who are eligible need 
transport to Ysgol Bontnewydd, it is anticipated that there would be a need to arrange a bus to 

transport them at a cost of around £45,000-£55,000 a year. 

Page 179



Quality and Standards of Education 
Assessment Report - Ysgol Felinwnda 

- March 2023 

Page 180



Contents 

1. INTRODUCTION 

2. SUMMARY 

3. ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT ON STANDARDS AND QUALITY OF EDUCATION  

4. CONCLUSION 

Page 181



1. INTRODUCTION  

Ysgol Felinwnda Primary School is located near the villages of Saron and Dinas on the outskirts of Caernarfon 

and serves the nearby villages and area. The situation at Ysgol Felinwnda has been brought to the attention 

of the Education Department as according to the September 2022 Census, this is the school with the lowest 

numbers of learners in Gwynedd. There has been a significant reduction in the number of learners at Ysgol 

Felinwnda over the past 10 years, from 31 pupils in 2012 down to 8 pupils by today, and this leads to concern 

regarding the school's future.  

As part of the process of developing a proposal(s) for school reorganisation, the Authority must assess the 
likely impact on the quality and standards of education, in accordance with the School Organisation Code 
(011/2018).  
Since there are fewer than 10 registered learners in the school a final decision.   

Due to the low numbers and other matters of concern regarding the school, an appraisal of the number of 
options that would respond to these was undertaken coming to the decision that the preferred option was 
to close Ysgol Felinwnda on 31 August 2023 and offer a place for the pupils at Ysgol Bontnewydd from 1 
September 2023 onwards. 

The Council is committed to providing an education of the highest possible quality that will give the 
County’s children the experiences, skills and confidence that would enable them to develop to be bilingual, 
successful and well-rounded citizens. 

It continues to be a high priority to provide the best possible learning experiences for every learner within 
the County, and ensuring an exciting and broad curriculum, as well as extra-curricular activities that 
motivate them to learn and understand, that will lead to improving standards. 

2. SUMMARY  

Following the last Estyn inspection in 2017, it was concluded that the performance of the current Ysgol 

Felinwnda was 'Good'.   

See below a summary of the latest inspections of the two schools that are subject to the proposal. 

2.1 Ysgol Felinwnda 

Ysgol Felinwnda Primary School is located near the villages of Saron and Dinas on the outskirts of 
Caernarfon and serves the nearby villages and area. It provides education for pupils aged between 3 and 
11 years and has capacity for 61 (N-Yr6).   

School 
Inspection 

year  

How good are 

the outputs? 

How good is the 

provision? 

How good is the 

leadership and 

management? 

Felinwnda June 2017 Good Good Good 

Page 182



2.2 Ysgol Bontnewydd 

Ysgol Bontnewydd is located approximately 2 miles from Ysgol Felinwnda in the direction of Caernarfon. It 

provides education for pupils aged between 3 and 11 years and has capacity for 208 (N-Yr6).  

School 
Inspection 

year  

How good are 

the outputs? 

How good is the 

provision? 

How good is the 

leadership and 

management? 

Bontnewydd February 2017 Good Good Excellent 

3.    THE OPTION IN QUESTION 

• Close Ysgol Felinwnda and offer a place for the learners at Ysgol Bontnewydd  

This option means that Ysgol Felinwnda would close, and current learners would be offered a place at Ysgol 
Bontnewydd (the alternative school). 

Page 183



CLOSE YSGOL FELINWNDA AND OFFER LEARNERS A PLACE AT YSGOL BONTNEWYDD –  
ASSESSMENT OF THE IMPACT ON QUALITY AND EDUCATION STANDARDS 

Impact Criteria  Description 

Status of the 

impact and the 

work 

Standards and general 

progress of specific groups 

and in terms of skills  

'Good' was the outcome of the Estyn inspection for the standards 

indicators at Ysgol Felinwnda, whilst Ysgol Bontnewydd was 

'Excellent'. Therefore, based on the outcome of these inspections, it 

is concluded that there would be a positive impact on the teaching 

standards should learners be transferred from Ysgol Felinwnda to 

Ysgol Bontnewydd.    

Positive 

Well-being and attitudes to 

learning 

'Good' was the outcome of the 'Well-being' indicator at Ysgol 

Felinwnda and Ysgol Bontnewydd in their previous inspections in 

2017. Therefore, based on the outcomes of these inspections, it is 

concluded that no impact is anticipated on this field by transferring 

learners to Ysgol Bontnewydd.   

Neutral  

Teaching and learning 

experiences 

'Good' was the outcome of the 'Learning Experiences' indicator at 

Ysgol Felinwnda and Ysgol Bontnewydd in their last inspections in 

2017. However, due to the size of classes, Ysgol Bontnewydd can 

offer an opportunity to learn in larger groups with age-relevant peers 

in order to expand their experiences. Therefore, based on this, it is 

concluded that there would be a positive impact on the teaching and 

learning experiences by transferring learners from Ysgol Felinwnda to 

Ysgol Bontnewydd.     

Positive 

Care, support and guidance  

'Good' was the outcome of the Estyn inspection for the 'Care Support 

and Guidance' indicator at Ysgol Felinwnda in their last inspection in 

2017, whilst the outcome at Ysgol Bontnewydd was 'Excellent'.  

Consequently, it is deemed that the option would have a positive 

impact on the care support and guidance to transfer Ysgol Felinwnda 

learners to Ysgol Bontnewydd.   

Positive 

Leadership and management 

In the previous Estyn report for Ysgol Felinwnda it was noted that the 

leadership and management of the school was 'Good', while it was 

judged that leadership and management at Ysgol Bontnewydd was 

'Excellent'. Therefore, based on the outcome of these inspections, it 

is concluded that there would be a positive impact on leadership and 

management by transferring learners from Ysgol Felinwnda to Ysgol 

Bontnewydd.     

Positive 

Vulnerable groups, including 

children with Additional 

Learning Needs (ALN)  

Support is provided to vulnerable groups, including children with 

additional learning needs, in accordance with the Authority's policy 

and the requirements of the Additional Learning Needs and 

Education (Wales) Act 2018 as in every school in Gwynedd.    

Neutral 

A provision that at least 

equates to what is available to 

learners at the time (including 

those with ALN) 

'Good' was the outcome of the Estyn inspection for the 'Standards' 

indicators at Ysgol Felinwnda, the same as Ysgol Bontnewydd.   

Therefore, based on this, it is concluded that there would be no 

impact on the standards of learners by transferring learners from 

Ysgol Felinwnda to Ysgol Bontnewydd.   

Neutral 

Positive Neutral  Negative 

Page 184



The above assessment has been carried out based on information in the Ysgol Felinwnda Estyn report, 
June 2017 and Ysgol Bontnewydd, February 2017.  

4. CONCLUSION 

Based on the conclusion of the above assessment, it is concluded that the standard of 
education provided at Ysgol Bontnewydd is higher than the standard of education at Ysgol 
Felinwnda. Consequently, it is anticipated that there would be a positive impact in terms of 
the quality and standards of education deriving from the proposal to close Ysgol Felinwnda 
and transferring the learners to Ysgol Bontnewydd. 

Page 185



 

CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET  

 

Report to a meeting of the Cabinet 
 

Date of meeting:  28 March 2023 

Cabinet Member:  Councillor Menna Jones 

Contact Officer: Gwenllian Williams and Llywela Haf Owain 

Contact Email: iaith@gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

Title of Item: Gwynedd Language Strategy 2023 

 
THE DECISION SOUGHT 

1. Approve the decision to hold a public consultation on the draft language strategy. 

 

2. Delegate responsibility to the Corporate Support Head, in consultation with the 

Corporate Support Cabinet Member, to prepare and undertake the consultation 

process.  

 

REASONS FOR THE NEED FOR A DECISION 

The next language strategy for Gwynedd is expected to be published by the end of 

2023.  In order to meet the timetable, a public consultation must be held on the draft 

strategy at the beginning of April.  

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

1. INTRODUCTION  

1.1 This draft strategy has been created as a continuation of the work of the current 

strategy (Welsh Language Promotion Plan for Gwynedd 2018-23) in order to 

reflect the Council's commitment to promote the language across the county and 

to meet the statutory requirements set within the Welsh Language Standards. The 

vision is to create an inclusive strategy that increases the use of the Welsh 

language in various contexts.  During January, sessions were held with Cabinet 

members, Language Committee members and members of the Gwynedd 

Language Forum, in order to gain their input regarding the possible content of the 

draft strategy.  

Page 187

Agenda Item 9

mailto:iaith@gwynedd.llyw.cymru


 
1.2  Action areas  

The draft strategy is a follow-up to the existing strategy, which also shows how 

we intend to work in line with the priorities of Cymraeg 2050, and therefore the 

following priority areas have been included: 

 

 Increase the number of speakers 

 Increasing the use as a Language of the family  

 Increasing the use as a Language of Learning  

 Increasing the use as a Language of the community  

 Increasing the use as a Language of work and services 

 Developing Research and Technology  

 

The draft strategy includes information about specific plans that the Council has 

to respond to these areas, and possible future actions. 

 

1.2 Length of the next strategy 

It was decided that it would make sense to adopt a 10 year strategy.  This means 

that the strategy's period will correspond with the publication of census data, 

providing us with a more efficient measuring method. 

 

1.3 Target 

Standard 145 requires us to set a target in the strategy for increasing or 

maintaining the number of Welsh-speakers in the county.  This is the wording of 

the target in the draft strategy:  

 

We will set a general target to see an increase in the regular use of Welsh. 

We also want to see 100% of Gwynedd children receiving the opportunity 

to speak Welsh and to use the language regularly.  

 

1.4 Scope of the strategy 

The draft strategy sets a vision to increase the use of Welsh across the whole 

county, but the schemes or projects that are proposed focus on those areas 

where the Council has the power and influence to take action. We will continue to 

Page 188



 
work with other partners within the county that have also made commitments to 

promote the Welsh language.   

 

1.5      Monitoring and measuring 

The strategy will be reviewed regularly, and formally at the end of the fifth year.   

This will give us an opportunity to adapt and add projects and respond to 

circumstances and needs that may arise. The proposed measures are: 

 

Measures 

Increase the number of speakers 

 Number of children receiving Welsh-medium education. 

 Number of children receiving support through the immersion system of the 

education department. 

 Number of Council employees receiving Learn Welsh lessons. 

 

Increase the use of the Welsh language 

Language of the early years action area 

 The reach data of WESP in terms of the number of childcare settings and the 

number of children receiving Welsh-medium education. 

 Number of Ti a Fi groups, Parent and Child groups that are 

supported/maintained. 

 Number of activities specifically targeted towards young families/parents and 

infants by Council services. 

 Number of family activities arranged by the language initiative. 

 Number of campaigns to share resources and information. 

 

Language of Learning action areas 

 WESP monitoring statistics 

 Number of Council staff receiving training to improve skills 

 Number of apprenticeships being offered by the Council 

 Number of training/accreditation opportunities being offered by the youth service. 

 

 

 

Page 189



 
The Language of Work and Services action area 

 Number of businesses that have received financial support through the Arfor 

Scheme 

 Number of staff that have received support to learn Welsh or develop skills 

 Number of staff participating in buddy schemes 

 

Language of the Community action area 

 Number of activities held by Council services and the language enterprise for 

different groups 

 Number of community enterprises supported by means of Regeneration and 

Economy schemes 

 

Technology and Research action area 

 Number of research projects undertaken by the Council, or commissioned by the 

Council 

 

1.5 Funding to implement the strategy  

The Welsh Language Commissioner has stated that they expects to see projects 

or activities that derive directly from the priorities that have been identified in the 

strategy. The existing commitments in relation to project funding will end at the 

end of 2024, as will the funding to employ a project officer.  The Council's 

contribution to the menter Iaith/language initiative (by funding a chief Officer) will 

also end in 2026. There will need to be a considered about what commitment will 

be made to ensure that sufficient resources are available to effectively implement 

the strategy.  

 

2. THE RATIONALE AND JUSTIFICATION FOR RECOMMENDING THE 

DECISION  

2.1 Prior to any further work on the strategy, we are eager to seek the views of others, 

particularly the residents of Gwynedd, on the draft strategy and to consider their 

observations.   

 

 

 

Page 190



 
 

3.       NEXT STEPS AND TIMETABLE 

3.1      If the Cabinet gives its approval to the public consultation, it is intended to 

undertake it between 4 April and 14 May. The next step will be to submit an 

analysis of the consultation outcomes to the Language Committee to be held on 

27 June, and request their input to help form a recommendation for the Cabinet 

on the final Strategy. It is hoped that the final strategy will be submitted to a 

Cabinet meeting in October, and then to the full Council for final adoption on 7 

December. 

 

Impact Assessment 

An initial impact assessment has been written for the strategy which identifies a 

positive effect on the people of Gwynedd.  The assessment acknowledges the 

possibility that some resident might feel that they are proving a negative effect, 

particularly relating to race and disability characteristics, and it also notes how 

the strategy tries to ensure an equal opportunity for all residents of Gwynedd to 

see, learn and use the Welsh language.  The assessment notes that there are 

some gaps in the evidence base, mainly as a result of no impact assessments 

being available on some of the projects included in the Council Plan, and 

because the 2021 Census data has not yet been fully analysed.   The 

assessment, and the content of the strategy will be reviewed again to consider 

any comments that will be received as part of the consultation process, and as a 

result of strengthening the evidence base.  

 

Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is about improving the 

social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. The Act places 

a ‘well-being duty’on public bodies aimed at achieving 7 national well-being goals 

for Wales - a Wales that is prosperous, resilient, healthier, more equal, has 

cohesive communities, a vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language and is 

globally responsible. The recommendations have been prepared having regard 

to these requirements and in accordance with the 5 ways of working. 

 

 

 

Page 191



 
Equalities Act 2010 

The Council is subject to public sector duties under the Equalities Act 2010 

(including specific Welsh public sector duties). Pursuant to these legal duties 

Councils must in making decisions have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate 

unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good 

relations on the basis of protected characteristics and having due regard to the 

socio economic duty under Section 1 of the Act. An equalities impact 

assessment has been prepared and is appended at Appendix 1. The Cabinet will 

need to have regard to its findings when coming to a decision. The assessment 

does not identify any particular negative impacts stemming from the decision.  

 

 

8. VIEWS OF STATUTORY OFFICERS:  

 

i. The Monitoring Officer:  

I’m satisfied with the propriety of the report and the intention to hold a 

consultation and report back.  

 

ii. Head of Finance Department:  

I have no comment on the content of the Strategy from the perspective of 
financial proprietary. 
 
Paragraph 1.6 of the report refers to the resources available in the future to 
support the Strategy; specific arrangements are in place at the Council to submit 
bids for additional resources and I expect that any requests for resources to 
support the Language Strategy will be submitted in accordance with those 
arrangements. 

 

Appendices attached to this report: 

 

Appendix A: Draft Language Strategy 2023  

Appendix B: Impact Assessment – March 2023 

 

 

 

Page 192



1 
 

Consultation draft of the 

Gwynedd Language Strategy 2023 – 2033 

1. Introduction 

This draft strategy has been created as a continuation of the work of the current strategy (Welsh 

Language Promotion Plan for Gwynedd 2018-23) in order to reflect the Council's commitment to 

promoting the language across the county and to meet the statutory requirements set within the 

Welsh Language Standards.  It demonstrates some of the projects and work that are currently being 

undertaken by the Council, and some of the matters we wish to address over the next few years. 

We have had initial discussions with the Council's Cabinet Members, the Language Committee and 

members of the Gwynedd Language Forum, in order to gather ideas about the challenges and 

opportunities that exist in terms of promoting the Welsh language in Gwynedd.  

One of the outcomes of those discussions was that we consider creating a strategy for a 10 year 

period.  This will mean that the strategy's period will correspond with the publication of census 

results, and provide us with a more efficient measuring method.  

This draft strategy therefore sets a vision to increase the use of Welsh across the whole county, and 

the schemes or projects that are proposed focus on areas where the Council has the power and 

influence to take action.   

 

2. Vision Statement 

 

3. The broader context 

It is important to note that the Council have strategic plans in a number of national policy and 

statutory fields, and that they implement schemes on a local level that affect the community and the 

Welsh language, or are involved in some way with efforts to maintain and promote the Welsh 

language.   

These include: 

 Welsh in Education Strategic Plan   

 Gwynedd Housing Action Plan   

We intend to create an inclusive strategy with the primary aim of increasing opportunities for 

all Gwynedd residents to see and use the Welsh language in various contexts.  

By working on raising the status and increasing people's use of the language in every part of 

their life, we will also hopefully increase the motivation for others to learn the language.  

We intend to put a specific focus on young people's use of language over the next few years, 

which includes their use of the Welsh Language with technology, showing them the value of the 

language as a skill for the workplace, and trying to increase the informal opportunities for them 

to use the Welsh language in their daily lives.  

Page 193



2 
 

 Local Development Plan 

 Sustainable Visitor Economy Plan  

 Our Area Regeneration Schemes 

A number of these schemes go beyond national guidance in those fields and seek to address the 

specific challenges facing Gwynedd communities and population and, as a result, affect the 

prosperity of the Welsh language.  

Although delivering on these schemes will be key to realise the general aims of the strategy, the 

main emphasis of this consultation document looks beyond these policies and strategies, and the 

work that is currently afoot, and looks at identifying the new opportunities that are available to go 

beyond service provision requirements, and to promote the use of the Welsh language.  

It must also be recognised that we are operating in a very challenging period on a financial level, and 

that the financial constraints will not allow us to do everything we wish to do, or to do everything at 

once.  We will need to be careful and realistic about what can be delivered within the resources that 

are available to us, to make the most of collaboration opportunities in order to share resources, and 

to review the work programme and projects when the financial situation changes. 

 

Cymraeg 2050 

This is the long-term strategy of the Welsh Government, which outlines how they intend to promote 

the Welsh language and work towards reaching the aim of a million Welsh speakers by 2050.  A five-

year Action Plan was published for 2021 to 2026, which places a strong emphasis on increasing the 

number of Welsh speakers through the education system, but the strategy also includes aims and 

targets to increase the use of the language in every part of life.   There are three main themes or 

aims for the Government's work, namely:  

 Increase the number of Welsh speakers 

 Increase the use of the Welsh language and 

 Create favourable conditions 

Although the work of Gwynedd's strategy has been divided into five main areas of action, we have 

also noted how all the work outlined contributes to the three areas of action in the Cymraeg 2050 

strategy.  

 

4. Current situation - summary of the statistical position and challenges 

4.1 Statistical position 
 

The 2021 census results noted a small reduction in the number and percentage of Welsh 
speakers in the county.  
 

On the day of the 2021 Census, 73,560 people (aged 3 and over) were able to speak Welsh in  
Gwynedd, which equates to  64.4%.  
 
In 2011, the number of speakers in Gwynedd was 77,000 and the corresponding percentage 
was 65.4%, therefore, the proportion has reduced by 1%.  

Page 194



3 
 

[Link to the Research team's report] 
 
The other evidence base we have is the national Language Use Survey, which is undertaken by 
the Welsh Government.  The latest survey was carried out during 2012-22 and it notes 
Gwynedd's general situation as follows:  

 

It must be noted that the Language Use Survey is a survey with a specific sample of people, and that 

the Census, in comparison, is a survey that includes the whole population. Therefore, we need to be 

cautious when making any comparison between the different figures.  It is interesting, however, to 

note that the percentage appears higher in the use survey, and it suggests that the statistical picture 

is very dependent on the question that is asked in both surveys.  

StatsCymru Language Use Survey 

Use of the Welsh Language in Wales. July 2019 to March 2020 LLYW.CYMRU 

Although time is needed to accurately analyse the figures (at the time of writing this consultation 
version, it was not yet possible to compare the different data sets from the census in order to 
obtain detailed interpretations and investigate the reasons why there has been a change) these 
statistics provide us with an evidence base to work on.  
 

4.2 Challenges  
 
In order for us to be able to find opportunities to increase the use of the Welsh language and to 
increase the number of speakers, we also need to be able to identify the challenges and obstacles 
that prevent it. We need to be able to identify the socio-economic factors that affect our 
communities and understand how these have a direct and indirect impact on the status and use 
of the language, and on attitudes towards the Welsh language.  We must also examine the 
situations and circumstances where people use less of the language in their daily lives, and 
understand what factors can affect an individual's personal use of the language. 
 

Certainly, getting people to use the skills and ability they have to speak Welsh, and doing this in 
as many contexts as possible, is the most important factor for the success of the language in 
Gwynedd.  
 

In terms of linguistic planning, there are several key factors to consider when discussing what affects 

the language use of individuals.  These have been described as follows by the Welsh Language 

Commissioner:  (Point 3.36 Best practice guide WLC Promotion Standards ) 

 continuity - the continuation of experiences and opportunities from primary to secondary 

education; from secondary education to further or higher education; from education to the 

workplace, leisure, raising families, as well as social and community experiences, together 

with continuity between learning Welsh and becoming fluent.  

The percentage of people from Gwynedd who participated in the survey, who said they were 

able to speak Welsh, was 64% for 2019-20 and it increased to 69% for 2021-22.  

The proportion who noted they were able to speak Welsh daily, and more than a few words, 
was 61% in 2019-20 and 60% for 2021-22. 

Page 195

https://statscymru.llyw.cymru/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Culture-and-Welsh-Language
https://www.llyw.cymru/y-defnydd-or-gymraeg-yng-nghymru-canfyddiadau-cychwynnol-gorffennaf-2019-i-fawrth-2020-diwygiedig
https://www.comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru/media/tz5jfy1u/20181031-gc-safonau-ynghylch-hybur-gymraeg-cymraeg-terfynol.pdf


4 
 

 opportunity – the quality and convenience of opportunities can greatly affect the use of the  

language and supporting future use of the language.  

 attitudes - it's important to consider how Welsh speakers feel about their ability and 

language use and the way in which they act on this, and how non-Welsh speakers feel about 

the language and how this is articulated and perceived.  

 confidence – the confidence of Welsh speakers can vary according to the situation (e.g. 

formal and informal) and therefore consideration must be given as to how and where to 

target support effectively. 

In terms of the challenges identified in Gwynedd, these are some of the main challenges at present:  

 Transferring the language within the family:  
Families not transferring the language to their children, leading to the loss of the Welsh 
language as the language of the home.  
 

 Young people's use of language:  
Language use does not seem to reflect the number of speakers among the younger 
generation, and there is concern that we are "losing" a number of regular speakers as they 
leave formal education.  There is a need for young people to view the language as an asset 
and a relevant skill in order to continue to use it as they move on to the workplace and to 
their social lives as adults.  

 

 The status of the Welsh language in the community:  
The status of the Welsh language is affected by the lack of visibility and use in the private 
and public sectors.  There is a need to increase the status of the language as a working 
language, and find ways to convince more businesses to use Welsh when dealing with the 
public.   

 

 Opportunities for people to use the Welsh language in the community:  
The nature of society and communities has been changing constantly over the past few 
decades, with the balance between the use of the Welsh and English languages gradually 
changing.  More social activities are held bilingually or in English.  Although these changes 
have not happened rapidly, the changes seen as a result of the pandemic lockdowns, which 
saw a number of opportunities to socialise and communicate on a face-to-face level 
disappear overnight, have certainly left their mark.  There is a need to ensure that a number 
of varied activities are held across the county, and that community groups are supported to 
extend opportunities and ensure that people from all linguistic and social backgrounds are 
included in community activities.  

 

 Creating new speakers:  
There are many residents and newcomers within the county who are eager and enthusiastic 

to learn Welsh, but there is a need to ensure that varied, timely and convenient 

opportunities are available for them, not only to learn but to practise their Welsh in order to 

become confident speakers. 

 The influence of technology:  
Technology plays an increasingly prominent role in people's lives, socially and in their 

working lives, and this influence has intensified since the lockdown.  The lack of Welsh-

medium resources and developments mean that the influence of the English language on 

day-to-day lives is increasing.  Changes in people's habits, once again intensified by changes 

Page 196



5 
 

in how services have been provided in recent years, present specific challenges in terms of 

people's use of Welsh-medium services. 

 Evidence base:  
It becomes increasingly important that we can assess the impact of schemes on the Welsh 
language, but that we can also measure impact, and measure the success of our schemes 
and interventions.  Although much research has been undertaken on the Welsh language, 
there is also a number of gaps in the current evidence we have to prove the link and impact 
of specific factors, such as the economy and tourism, on the language.   
 

 Demographic and geographical challenges:  
A number of other, more complex challenges, affect the prosperity of the language and our 
communities, and in areas where the Council's influence alone is more limited or is 
prevented by other factors.  These include the challenges posed by outwards and inwards 
migration, along with changes in the age of the population and the major differences in the 
nature of communities from one area to another, which makes planning interventions based 
on county level difficult. 
 

  

Page 197



6 
 

5. Next steps  

The work that is outlined below looks beyond the areas of policy and statutory responsibilities, 

and seeks to identify the opportunities available to facilitate and promote the use of the Welsh 

language on a broader level. 

The main focus will be on increasing the use of the Welsh language, and on ensuring that everyone 

who is able to speak the language can do so in as many situations and as often as possible.   As a 

result, the main activities of the strategy come under Theme 2 of the Cymraeg 2050 Strategy, 

namely Increasing the Use of the Welsh Language.  But we also note what is the intention in terms of 

increasing numbers of Welsh speakers - Theme 1 Cymraeg 2050 - and what we intend to do in terms 

of laying firm and correct foundations to develop the use of the Welsh language in the county - 

Theme 3 Cymraeg 2050, Creating favourable conditions. 

5.1 Target: 

We will set a general target to see an increase in the regular use of Welsh.  We also want 

to see 100% of Gwynedd children receiving the opportunity to speak Welsh and to use the 

language regularly. 

5.2 Taking Action:  

Theme 1: Increase the number of speakers 

How will we increase the number of speakers?  How will we measure on a local level, 
and during the period of the strategy? 

Provide opportunities for children and young 
people who are not yet Welsh speakers, to learn 
and become confident Welsh speakers. 
 

Number of children receiving Welsh-
medium education.  
Number of children receiving support 
through the immersion system of the 
education department.   

Provide opportunities for adults to become new 
speakers via the Council's learner support schemes 
and community provision of partners. 
 

Number of Council employees receiving 
lessons to learn Welsh.  
 
 

 

 

Theme 2: Increase the Use of the Welsh language 

Area of action 1: Language of the early years 

Evidence base 
- On what basis do we see the need to take action? What are the challenges? What are we trying to 
achieve?  

 
Providing the best start for families and children in terms of using Welsh is essential. 
 
There is also a need to ensure that parents transfer the language to the next generation, and that every 
encouragement and support is provided to enable parents and prospective parents to learn Welsh. 

Page 198



7 
 

We are aware that the pandemic has had a substantial impact on the language use of families and 
young children, with the lack of opportunities to socialise outside the home meaning that a number of 
families have lost that crucial opportunity for an early introduction to the Welsh language.  
 
The challenges we are facing in terms of living costs also mean that it is possible that some families 
have been missing out on opportunities to introduce the Welsh language early due to the cost of 
resources and travelling to activities. 
 
The Welsh Government has set a target of opening 60 new Welsh-medium nursery groups across Wales 
by 2026 (Cymraeg 2050 Plan - 2012 to 2026) and we hope to see some of those new groups in 
Gwynedd.  
 
Therefore, a special effort is now needed, not only to rebuild those community networks - increase the 
number of children attending Cylchoedd Meithrin and Ti a Fi groups - but also to nurture confidence 
among parents, Welsh speakers, learners, and those who have not yet taken the step to start learning, 
to use the Welsh language and to transfer Welsh to their children.  
 
 

What is already being done?  
- projects or plans that are part of the Council or partners' work, that are already being implemented, 
and will carry on to the period of the next strategy.  

 
Policies and strategic work that are relevant to this field:   
This subject has a specific place in the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP):  
"It is ensured that every Early Years setting sets a strong foundation for Welsh, ensuring that every 
child is given a Language, Literacy and Communication skills assessment in Welsh on entry and at the 
end of part-time nursery education, and at the end of the Foundation Phase." 
 
Other projects and schemes:  
The Council and other partners organises a number of activities that have been specifically aimed 
towards offering informal experiences to parents and infants. The libraries service, for example, hold a 
number of regular story and song sessions.  
 
The local language initiative (menter iaith) also organise activities for families, and have held workshops 
in the past for activity and care providers in order to promote the advantages of bilingualism.  
 
The work of Mudiad Meithrin and pre-school care providers is crucial here.   
 

What else needs to addressed?  
- what will we work on or hope to address during the period of the next strategy?  

 
There is a need to increase the awareness of parents of the Welsh-medium education system and 
highlight the opportunities available for them to get an introduction to the Welsh language before the 
children reach school age. 
 
There is also a need to ensure that every family can obtain resources - books, posters, Welsh music and 
information about apps and activities – so that they can introduce the Welsh language as soon as 
possible. 
 
There is reason to believe that the position of Ti a Fi groups and cylchoedd meithrin are not as healthy 
as they used to be, and that this could be due in part to the impact of the pandemic period.  The 

Page 199



8 
 

Council and Mudiad Meithrin will need to work together to assess the situation carefully and consider 
which steps need to be taken to ensure that as many children as possible in the county take advantage 
of these pre-school education opportunities, and to ensure that Ti a Fi groups and Cylchoedd Meithrin 
receive the appropriate support to grow and thrive. 
 
We need to consider the informal opportunities that are available to parents to practise and gain 
confidence in their use of the Welsh language. One idea that has been mentioned is to create 
opportunities that correspond with a family's busy life - such as providing chat/learning sessions while 
the children are in after-school lessons and clubs. 
 
Continuing to ensure a variety of activities for young families will be crucial, by Council services and 
other partners in the public and community sectors.  There is also a need to look at opportunities for 
families to be involved in activities together (activities are too often aimed towards the children, rather 
than being activities that include the whole family) to encourage communication and speaking amongst 
the whole family.  
 
 

What will we measure? 

1. The attainment data of WESP in terms of the number of childcare placements and the number 
of children receiving Welsh-medium education.  

 
2. Number of Ti a Fi groups, Parent and Child groups that are supported/maintained.  

 
3. Number of activities specifically targeted towards young families/parents and infants by 

Council services. 
 

4. Number of family activities arranged by the local language initiative.  
 

5. Number of campaigns to share resources and information. 

 

 

Area of action 2: Language of Learning 

Evidence base 
- On what basis do we see the need to take action? What are the challenges? What do we seek to 
achieve? 

 
A number of challenges have been identified in terms of Welsh-medium education in the county, 
including the need to ensure consistency in the implementation of the policy, the need to ensure that 
sufficient opportunities and encouragement are offered to pupils to follow Welsh-medium courses, 
and to further develop the immersion service.  Ensuring study opportunities through the medium of 
Welsh in Post-16 education is also a specific challenge, including the need to improve the situation 
regarding assessment and observation through the medium of Welsh.  These elements are already 
addressed by the Council and targets for development in these fields have been identified in the 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan, that was published in 2022 (Welsh-in-Education-Strategic-Plan.pdf 
(llyw.cymru)).  
 
Ensuring various and suitable opportunities for people of all ages to learn Welsh is key, and the 
Council has an important role to play in this by encouraging any members of the workforce who do 
not meet the language designation of their posts to improve their skills or to learn Welsh.  During 

Page 200

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Documents---Council/Strategies-and-policies/Welsh-in-Education-Strategic-Plan.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Documents---Council/Strategies-and-policies/Welsh-in-Education-Strategic-Plan.pdf


9 
 

2022-23, 29 staff members received the Council's support to learn Welsh through courses that had 
been specifically commissioned to fit around work circumstances, and a total of 83 individuals were 
given access to language training during the year.  
 
We are also very aware that there is a need to develop the informal learning opportunities, alongside 
the formal education.  Therefore, this section also encompasses informal learning opportunities, 
including community training opportunities and those more informal learning opportunities that take 
place as part of the Council and partners' work, such as qualifications and training for young people.   
 
One clear challenge is the lack of Welsh language provision from national qualification and 
accreditation providers. We can see that the youth services and partners often have to adapt or 
campaign for a long time to receive provision in Welsh, instead of there being a wider understanding 
about the need and demand for these opportunities in Welsh.  
 
We recognise that there is a large number of community training opportunities, especially sport clubs 
such as football, rugby, hockey, karate etc., that are held in Welsh, and provide completely natural 
and immeasurable opportunities for young people to use the Welsh language and hear it outside the 
classroom and formal education, but a number of these opportunities are also under threat, and a 
number of activities are not held through the medium of Welsh, or bilingually, due to the lack of 
volunteers to conduct the activities or due to leaders' lack of confidence to conduct activities in 
Welsh.  
 
Schemes such as the Council's Apprenticeships Scheme, which provide learning opportunities that are 
associated with work, are also relevant to this field, and is an area where there have been recent 
challenges.  A lack of Welsh-medium, or bilingual, training provision has been identified as a barrier 
for the apprenticeships scheme, and particularly therefore advanced apprenticeships, and is 
something the Council is currently seeking to address.  
 

 
What is already being done?  
- projects or schemes that are part of the Council or partners' work, that are already being 
implemented, and will carry on to the period of the next strategy. 

 
Policies and strategic work that are relevant to this field:   
The Welsh in Education Strategic Plan is implemented by the Council's Education Department, and 

corresponds with the priorities of the Welsh Government to develop Welsh-medium education (in 

accordance with Cymraeg 2050 targets). Seven priorities, or outcomes, which have been noted below, 

will work on increasing the number of children receiving Welsh-medium education in the county, 

ensuring that pupils continue to improve skills when transferring between key stages, and increasing 

provision and the number of pupils who follow Welsh-medium subjects. 
The Scheme's 7 outcomes:  

1. More nursery/3 year-old children receiving Welsh-medium education 
2. More reception class/5 year-old children receiving Welsh-medium education 
3. More children continuing to improve skills when transferring from one key stage to the next. 
4. More learners studying Welsh as a subject and subjects through the medium of Welsh. 
6. Increase opportunities to use the Welsh language in various contexts. 
7. Improve Welsh-medium education provision for ALN pupils.  
8. Increase the number of staff members who can speak Welsh. 

 
One specific project has also been noted in the Council Plan, namely Modernising the Post-16 
Learning Environment Project.   

Page 201



10 
 

 
Other projects and schemes:  
The Learning and Development service offers a variety of opportunities to improve skills, and they 
arrange courses and training to learn Welsh, to ensure that all Council staff meet, or work towards, 
the language designation of their posts.  
 
The Council's Youth Service offers opportunities to gain occupational qualifications. 
 
The Council's Apprenticeships Scheme, which provide opportunities for young people to receive work 
experience and nurture skills alongside the opportunity to gain qualifications in their fields.  
 

What else requires attention?  
- what will we work on or hope to address during the period of the next strategy? 

 
As a result of the barrier identified regarding the provision of qualifications, Council officers have 
been attempting to persuade and encourage apprenticeship providers to offer as much of their 
provision as possible through the medium of Welsh.  Work is under way to assess and understand the 
exact situation in terms of the language medium of the provision on offer, with the aim of working 
with providers to identify opportunities to improve the provision, to identify additional resources to 
offer in Welsh as well as further opportunities to promote the Welsh language. 
 
We will encourage more Council staff to learn Welsh and to improve their verbal and writing skills.  
 
We will continue to offer informal Welsh-medium learning opportunities for young people via the 
youth service work, and work to ensure that more accreditations are available for them through the 
medium of Welsh.   
 
We will look at opportunities to support volunteers who are responsible for community learning and 
training opportunities, by working with partners such as the Urdd and sharing information about 
resources such as the Sport Vocabulary App by the Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol.   We will discuss 
further collaboration opportunities with the Coleg Cymraeg and consider opportunities to develop 
language robustness skills (how not to switch to the English language by default and how to influence 
the use of other languages). 
 
In terms of supporting the work of the education department and work carried out in schools:  
There is a need to consider how to raise the awareness of young people, and their parents, of the 
value and demand for skills in Welsh in the world of work, in order to increase the incentive to study 
through the medium of Welsh and continue to develop robust skills in both languages.  
 
There is also a need to consider how we can support non-Welsh speaking parents to improve their 
confidence in supporting their children through Welsh-medium education, and how we get rid of 
assumptions about "more Anglicised" education and schools. 
 

What will we measure? 

1. WESP monitoring statistics 
2. Number of Council staff receiving training to improve skills 
3. Number of apprenticeships being offered by the Council 
4. Number of training/accreditation opportunities being offered by the youth service.  

 

Page 202



11 
 

Area of action 3: The Language of Work and Services 
 

Evidence base 
- On what basis do we see the need to take action? What are the challenges? What do we seek to 
achieve? 

 
The Welsh language standards place a requirement on the authority and other public bodies to offer 
services through the medium of Welsh.  
 
However, evidence shows that the number of the population who use Welsh when dealing with the 
Council is much lower than the recorded number of speakers.   
 
Despite imposing the Welsh Language Standards on more public bodies in recent years, as well as a 
wider understanding for the need to provide services in Welsh, there is still a big inconsistency in 
terms of the public services that are available to residents, and Cyngor Gwynedd often leads the way 
and stands alone when calling on others to increase and improve their Welsh language services.   
 
The aim of the Council in this area is to look beyond service provision and examine ways to encourage 
the use of Welsh-medium services by the public. 
 
We also recognise that continuous work is needed to maintain and develop the language skills of the 
workforce, so we can ensure that we have the suitable workforce to offer the necessary services.  
A number of services are currently facing exceptional recruitment challenges and it will be essentially 
important that the Welsh language is addressed fairly when developing any recruitment/ workforce 
development plans. 
 
Beyond the Council, obstacles still remain with the public and private sectors.  A lack of use of the 
Welsh language by businesses and customers is having an impact on the status of the Welsh language 
in the community.   
 

What is already being done?  
- projects or schemes that are part of the Council or partners' work, that are already being 
implemented, and will carry on to the period of the next strategy. 

 
Policies and strategic work that are relevant to this field:   
More Than Just Words - improving Welsh language services in care and social services. 
 
Other projects and schemes: 
Care Plans - projects that have been identifies in the Council Plan for 2023 – 2028 that will look at 
improving and redesigning the Council's care services.  Ensuring effective bilingual services and 
implementing the principle of the "proactive offer” is a key part of any work to improve this very 
important field.   
 
Workforce Planning Project - this project has been included in the Council Plan for 2023 – 2028 in 
response to recent recruitment challenges, and again, ensuring that the workforce and the services 
have the necessary linguistic skills to offer the best service to the public will be a key part of the work.  
 
The Learning and Development service offers a number of opportunities for staff to learn and develop 
their linguistic skills, verbally and writing skills.  We have also been part of the Arfer research scheme 
by Bangor University, which looks at trying to change the linguistic practices of teams. 

Page 203



12 
 

 
A project has also been identified by the Economy department, which aims to provide support to 
businesses and community enterprises to thrive and support the people of Gwynedd into work. The 
Arfor scheme also offers financial support for businesses to grow and develop, with an emphasis on 
businesses operating through the medium of Welsh, that want to develop their use of the Welsh 
language and that offer work opportunities to the local population.  
 
The Council is also part of the Gwynedd and Anglesey Public Services Board - working with other 
public bodies to improve the experience of the public when using services through the medium of 
Welsh.  
 
 

What else requires attention?  
- what will we work on or hope to address during the period of the next strategy? 

 
We need to look at the Welsh language as a skill, and develop the understanding of people of all ages 
about the demand in the world of work for Welsh language skills, both oral and written.  
 
We need to see more public bodies following the Council's example in terms of applying the proactive 
offer, making effective use of translation facilities in meetings and operating internally through the 
medium of Welsh.  
 
We will continue to work with partners in the public sector (via the Services Board), as well as the 
Commissioner and the Welsh Government to see how some of these good practices can be transfered 
to other organisations, and also to work together to improve users' experiences.  
 
We will trial schemes within the Council to encourage more people to use the Welsh language when 
using the Council’s on-line services. 
 
A number of services are currently facing exceptional recruitment challenges and it will be crucial that 
the Welsh language is addressed fairly when developing any recruitment/ workforce development 
plans.  
 
Work to support learners and to develop the skills of the workforce will continue within the Council, 
with the intention of ensuring that every staff member works towards achieving the language level of 
their posts, and that they have appropriate writing skills to ensure that clear, standard and easy-to-
read language is used when communicating and delivering services to the publis. We will also 
continue to participate in the Arfer scheme, by introducing the intervention in more teams and will 
also developing buddy schemes.  
 
We also see that we need to re-examine the support and encouragement given to businesses to use 
the Welsh language, in order to ensure as much opportunities as possible for residents to use Welsh 
as part of their daily lives.  This is an area that has prved difficult to see results over the years; and 
identifying the most current external support sources (such as the Welsh Language Commissioner and 
the Helo Blod scheme) will be important to move things forward.   
 
We will use any opportunities that are available to the Council, such as awarding procurement 
contracts and offering financial support, to influence and impose linguistic conditions.  Specific 
support will be provided to businesses and community groups through the grants of the second phase 
of the Arfor scheme, and conditions on developing language use will be imposed within the 
application process and grant conditions.   The Arfor scheme will focus on businesses operating 

Page 204



13 
 

through the medium of Welsh, that want to develop their use of the Welsh language and that offer 
work opportunities to the local population. 
 

What will we measure? 

1. Number of businesses that received financial support through the Arfor scheme  
2. Number of staff that receive support to learn Welsh or develop skills 
3. Number of staff participating in buddy schemes  

 
 

Area of action 4: The Language of the Community 

Evidence base 
- On what basis do we see the need to take action? What are the challenges? What do we seek to 
achieve? 

 
There have been a number of changes in recent years that have had a major impact on Gwynedd 
communities. We are still trying to understand the effects of the pandemic for one thing, and we also 
need to consider that people's habits in terms of socialising and involvement in their communities 
have changed.   
 
The gradual movement over the past decade or two of direct involvement in geographical 
communities (villages and towns) to socialising more in communities of interest, or based on 
children's activities, means that we are looking at "community" in a very broad manner.  
 
There are also substantial challenges to the viability of geographical communities due to lack of varied 
employment opportunities and pressures on the housing market, which mean that people have to 
move to other communities to live and work. The housing situation and outward migration are not 
new problems but there is a feeling that they have intensified as a result of the pandemic.   
 
There are concerns among the population about these matters and the increasing pressures on 
communities as a result of the tourism industry and the visitor accommodation economy, which 
means that the Council has had to take action to try to control the situation and has developed 
strategic plans to address these issues.  
 
This strategy seeks to look beyond those interventions and consider what else we can do to support 
the language in our communities and to encourage more people to use the language in different 
contexts.  
 
 

What is already being done?  
- projects or schemes that are part of the Council or partners' work, that are already being 
implemented, and will carry on to the period of the next strategy. 

 
Policies and strategic work that are relevant to this field:   

 Sustainable Visitor Economy Plan 

 Gwynedd Housing Action Plan 2020/21 - 2026/27 - a plan that addresses the different 
challenges in terms of housing in Gwynedd, with specific attention given to help Gwynedd 
residents to own a home in their community. 

 Ardal Ni 2035 - extensive consultation and engagement work was undertaken with Gwynedd 
communities during 2022 and 13 local regeneration plans are currently being developed to 
equip and support Gwynedd communities over the next 15 years.  

Page 205



14 
 

 
Other projects and schemes: 

 Primary Schools Welsh Language Charter  

 Secondary Schools Welsh Language Strategy 
These two projects deal in particular with trying to increase pupils’ use of the language within the 
school community and look beyond the formal education.  
 
The local language initiative, Hunaniaith, is a part of the Council’s Languag Unit at present, and 
implements a number of projects that aims to increase the use of the Welsh language on a 
community level.  They also organise a number of activities aimed specifically at supporting Welsh 
learners.  
 
Some of the other projects by the Council that contribute to this area are:  

 Arfor - a project that works specifically to develop economic opportunities in the four 
counties that are deemed the "strongholds" of the Welsh language.  

 Place Names Project - a project that examines opportunities to promote the use of Welsh 
names within our communities and seeks to ensure that those names are protected.  

 Gwynedd Activities Map - an interactive map that has been developed to easily and 
conveniently share information about Welsh-medium activities in the county.  

 Various activities of services - Libraries, Youth service, LleCHI,  

 The Welcome to Gwynedd Pack – which gives an introduction to the Welsh language to 
people moving into the area.  

 

What else requires attention?  
- what will we work on or hope to address during the period of the next strategy? 

 
As the work on analysing the census data continues, we will also need to look at the information that 
we can collect from different consultations, and from the county's well-being assessment work, in 
order to develop an understanding of what is meant by "community" in the modern Gwynedd.  
Understanding our communities is key in order for us to be able to plan inclusive projects.  
  
We will look at ways of measuring language use on a community level in order to be able to prioritise 
and plan interventions.  
 
Developing opportunities for young people to use the Welsh language in various contexts will be 
crucial, and especially as part of the digital communities.  
 
We will work with our partners in the Gwynedd Language Forum - Young Farmers, the Urdd, and 
representatives of community enterprises, for example - to identify opportunities to increase the 
number of opportunities to socialise through the medium of Welsh, and to ensure that resources are 
targeted in any areas where there is currently a lack of opportunities.  
 
We will also need to see more buddy schemes and chat sessions to help and develop learners' 
confidence, so that they can take the step from learning in lessons to using the language in the 
community.  
 
Through schemes such as Arfor, we will seek to support more community enterprises to create 
activities and economic plans that will benefit the communities themselves.  There are a number of 
very successful community enterprises in Gwynedd and the Council has a key role to play in ensuring 
that opportunities are dispersed equally across the county, and that other communities are also 
supported to develop enterprises.  

Page 206



15 
 

 

What will we measure? 

1. Number of activities held by Council services and the language enterprise for different groups  
2. Number of community enterprises supported by means of Regeneration and Economy 

schemes 

 

Theme 3: Creating favourable conditions 

Area of action 5: Technology and Research 

Evidence base 
- On what basis do we see the need to take action? What are the challenges? What do we seek to 
achieve??  

 
These two fields are intentionally placed together as any developments in the field of technology 
depend to some extent on results of research work to understand people’s language use habits. 
 
Technology plays an increasingly prominent part in all our lives and develops rapidly. 
It represents a substantial challenge for the Welsh language, as any minority language, to keep up 
with the continuous developments, and to find its place in this world that has so much influence on 
everyone's lives.  
 
There is room to believe that people's language practices are very different when using technology as 
opposed to their verbal and face-to-face language use.  This is due to a number of factors, including:  

 technology, the internet and apps have generally been developed in English first and that 
people have got used to dealing with technology through the medium of English. 

 the algorithms of search engines and social media often go against language choice and mean 
that people see the English option first, even if a Welsh language option is available.  

 obstacles when developing apps often mean that people have to take additional steps to 
receive the Welsh service.  

 
According to the 2021 census, the percentage of people noting that they are able to speak Welsh, but 
unable to read or write in Welsh, is 5.4% in Gwynedd, which is higher than the proportion of 2.3% for 
the whole of Wales.  The percentage increases up to 10% in some areas of the county, which suggests 
that a great difference can exist between verbal use and written use.   
 
Different influences on people's use of language, and specifically the increase in the influence of 
technology on people’s lives, as well as additional factor such as the changes in people's habits due to 
the pandemic and the current financial downturn, mean that the picture can change in a short period 
of time.  We need to bear this in mind when planning any interventions and when looking at the 
evidence base.   
 
Although considerable research work has been undertaken in the context of the Welsh language in 
recent years, there are also numerous gaps, and specifically so current research into language use in 
different contexts and research that helps us understand the nature of the “Welsh communities”, and 
how factors such as the economy and tourism have a direct and indirect effect on language viability.  
 
 

What is already being done?  

Page 207



16 
 

- projects or schemes that are part of the Council or partners' work, that are already being 
implemented, and will carry on to the period of the next strategy. 

 
Policies and strategic work that are relevant to this field:   
Other projects and schemes: 

 The Council's Digital Scheme Priority Project 

 Project 15 - a project seeking to create digital content in Welsh, led by the Language Unit.  

 Research work in collaboration with Bangor University: 

 A PhD has started to examine people's habits when dealing with services - in order to 
understand what affects choices and use 

 Seed funding has been secured in order to undertake a piece of work to examine the link 
between language and economy/tourism  

  

What else requires attention?  
- what will we work on or hope to address during the period of the next strategy? 

The projects noted above will continue to the period of the next strategy.  
 
In the current strategy it was noted that the Council needs to examine projects that will encourage 
more people to use the Welsh language on-line and when using the Council's digital services, and 
consider the best ways of introducing Welsh in those contexts in order to influence use.  This work 
had a slow start but schemes and research work are now in the pipeline by the Council in this field.  
The pandemic has certainly increased this challenge and has led to changes in people's habits and use 
of technology, and has led the Council to develop new digital services, such as systems to order 
services.  
 
We will continue to develop the relationship with the academic world in order to identify research 
projects that will strengthen our evidence base and help us plan work that will promote and protect 
the Welsh language in the future.  
 
We will consider how we can work with others to establish a central information and research fund to 
be, where it is possible to easily obtain relevant research work.  
 
We will also continue to raise awareness of the Welsh-medium apps that are available, to encourage 
people to use more Welsh on-line.  
 

What will we measure? 

1. Number of research projects undertaken by the Council, or commissioned by the Council.  

 

5.3 Monitoring and measuring 

The activities outlined above will draw up the initial work programme for the strategy.  The strategy 

will be reviewed regularly, and formally, at the end of the fifth year, and this will give us an 

opportunity to adapt and add projects when responding to circumstances and needs that may arise.  

Annual data gathering arrangements have been established during the current strategy, which 

enable us to gather information about events and activities being held by Council services.  

The Language Committee has a responsibility to monitor how Council departments implement the 

requirements of the Welsh Language Standards, and to contribute towards this strategy.  We will 

also monitor the implementation of the strategy on an annual basis and submit an annual report to 

the Council Cabinet.  

Page 208



                     

 

 

 

 

 

 

Please see the sheet How to Make an Equality Impact Assessment for assistance to complete this 

form.  You are also welcome to contact Delyth Williams, Policy and Equality Officer on ext. 

32708, or DelythGadlysWilliams@gwynedd.llyw.cymru , for further assistance. 

 

The Council is required (under the Equality Act 2010) to consider the impact that any change 

in any policy or procedure (or the creation of a new policy or procedure) will have on people 

with protected equality characteristics.  The Council also has additional general duties to 

ensure fairness and to foster good relationships.  Therefore, a timely assessment should be 
made before any decision is taken on any relevant change (i.e. that affects people with 

protected equality characteristics).  

 

The Council is also required, under the requirements of the Welsh Language Standards 

(Section 44 of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011), to consider the impact that any 

change in policy or procedure (or the creation of a new policy or procedure), will have on 

opportunities for people to use the Welsh language and to ensure that the Welsh language is 

not treated less favourably than English. This document therefore ensures that these decisions 

safeguard and promote the use made of the Welsh language. 

 

From 1 April 2021, the Council has a duty to give due attention to addressing socio-economic 

disadvantage in strategic decisions. 

 

 

1) Details  
 

1.1 What is the name of the policy / service in question?  

 

 

Gwynedd Welsh Language Strategy 2023 - 2033 
 

      

 
1.2 What is the purpose of the policy / service that is being created or amended?  

What changes are being considered?  

 

 
There is a statutory requirement on the Council, as a part of the Welsh Language Standards, Welsh 
Language Measure (Wales) 2011, to create a 5-year strategy outlining the Council's vision for promoting 
the use of the language in the county.  
 
A new Language Strategy is being written 2023, as a follow-up to the first strategy published under the 
requirements of the Standards in 2018.  The strategy will identify specific projects and work streams to 
promote the use of the Welsh language by the residents of Gwynedd.  
 
The work has been divided under the following headings: 

 

Assessing the Impact on Equality 

Characteristics, the Welsh language and the 

Socio-Economic Disadvantage  
 

Page 209

mailto:DelythGadlysWilliams@gwynedd.llyw.cymru


Increase the number of speakers; 
Language of the early years; 
The Language of Learning; 
The Language of Work and Services; 
The Language of the Community, and; 
Research and Technology 
 
A number of plans and projects have been identified under each heading, which are mainly based on 
the work that the Council itself is responsible for, but also include joint work with some key partners. 
 
The intention is to look beyond providing bilingual services, and also beyond the interventions being 
implemented in associated policy and strategic fields, and to find opportunities to promote the Welsh 
language, and contribute to the national objectives (Cymraeg 2050) of increasing the number of Welsh 
speakers and the day-to-day use of the Welsh language.  
 
As this strategy is a continuation and review of the previous strategy, some of the projects and plans 
mentioned are already being implemented, but we now need to carry out a consultation process to 
gather ideas about what should be added to the final strategy in order to strengthen it.  
 
The changes made in the draft version of the strategy are therefore based on plans that have already 
been approved and which are operational (a number of them have been the subject of individual impact 
assessments) and any further changes being included as a result of the consultation will need to be 
approved in the final version.   
 

          

 

1.3 Who is responsible for this assessment?  

 

Gwenllian Williams, Language Advisor, Language and Scrutiny Unit, Cyngor Gwynedd  

 

 

 

 

 

1.4 When did you commence the assessment?   Which version is this? 

 

 
Version 1 - Pre-consultation version, March 2023 

 

     

 

2) Action 
 

2.1 Who are the stakeholders or partners whom we will have to work with to 

carry out this assessment?  

 

 
Council's Cabinet Members  
Officers and Heads of Departments, Cyngor Gwynedd  
Language Committee  
Residents  
Members of the Gwynedd Language Forum  

 

 

Page 210



 

2.2 What steps have you taken to engage with people with protected 

characteristics, regarding the Welsh language or with communities (either 

due to location or due to need), who are living with a socio-economic 

disadvantage? 

 

 
 
No steps have been taken to consult with specific groups yet. 
It is intended to hold a public consultation process (on-line) in April and May 2023, and we are 
considering holding some specific focus groups to ensure that we gather the views of a broad range of 
people.  
 
In terms of the Welsh language, we have held initial discussions with the Council's Language Plan and 
with members of the Gwynedd Language Forum (representatives of partner organisations that 
implement Welsh language promotion plans and which collaborate with the Council on specific plans).  

 

 

 

 

2.3 What was the outcome of the engagement? 

 

 
Some priorities have been identified as a result of the initial discussions with the Language Committee 
and the Gwynedd Language Forum, and those have been incorporated into the consultation draft of the 
strategy. 
These include the need to give specific attention to young people's use of language, and try to increase 
their use of the language outside the classroom and while using social media.  

 

 

 
2.4 On the basis of what other evidence are you acting? 

 
 
The challenges and objectives of the draft strategy are based on an understanding of linguistic planning 
principles and the factors affecting language use.  A good understanding exists of the socio-economic 
challenges that affect Welsh in the communities, and the actions are based on the officers' awareness of 
the work that the Council is doing to address the different factors and challenges.  
 
The different operational fields are ones that have been identified by experts on a national level as key 
fields to sustain and promote the language.  
 
We also have some evidence from the Council's other consultations which gives us an idea of the 
challenges that exist in terms of trying to promote the use of Welsh, as well as some attitudes towards 
the Welsh language.   
 
Complaints received by the Language and Scrutiny Unit, and comments received in other Council 
consultations (consultations of the Equality Unit and Ardal Ni and Council Plan consultations are such 
examples during the past year), e.g. have highlighted negative attitudes towards the language and a 
view that the Council discriminates against individuals who do not speak Welsh or individuals who have 
moved to the area.  By creating an inclusive strategy, that tries to secure a chance for all residents of 
Gwynedd to have a positive experience of the Welsh language, we hope to have a chance to tackle 
some of these attitudes.  
 

 

 

Page 211



 

2.5 Are there any gaps in the evidence that needs to be collected?  

 

 
It is likely that the consultation results will show us whether there are obvious gaps in the evidence base.  
 
We will try to ensure that different views and voices are represented in the consultation, and if we see 
that specific groups are under-represented (such as the voice of young people), we will consider ways to 
gather further views from them.  
 
Many of the new plans that have been identified as ones that contribute to the objectives of the strategy 
are plans proposed in the latest version of the Council Plan, but as no individual impact assessments 
have been carried out on those projects yet, a gap exists in our assessment.  We hope to gather further 
information about these projects in order to fill the gap and identify any opportunities to improve the 
work's positive impacts as we draw-up the final strategy over the summer.  
 
Also, we can not give full statistical evidence to support our views at this time as the full analysis of the 
Cnesus data has not yet been done.  We hope to add to our evidence base over the next months as 
more data sets can be compared.  

.. 

 

 

3)  Identifying the Impact  
 

3.1  The Council must duly address the impact that any changes will have on 

people with the following equality characteristics.  What impact will the 

new policy/service or the proposed changes in the policy or service have on 

people with these characteristics?  There is also a need to consider the 

impact on the socio-economic disadvantage and on the Welsh language. 

 

Characteristics What type 

of impact? 

* 

 

In what way?  What is the evidence? 

 

Race (including 

nationality)  

Positive / 

negative / 

none 

Although language is not a protected equality feature, this is often 
directly linked to the race aspect. 
 
Information gathered from surveys and public consultations by 
the Council shows that some negative attitudes exist regarding 
the Council's language policy and its efforts to promote the Welsh 
language, and there is an assumption that those efforts are 
discriminating against people of a different race or from ethnic 
minorities (i.e. people who are not "native" residents). These 
attitudes have been seen in feedback recently received from 
fellow officers, as a result of a public consultation by the Equality 
Unit, and engagement by the Website Team on public use of the 
website, and from comments received during consultation on the 
Council Plan and Wellbeing plan.  
 
It is possible that we will see the same attitudes as we consult on 
this strategy. 
In the past, some members of the public have accused the 
Council of wasting money when promoting the Welsh language, 
noting that this shows favouritism towards the Welsh speakers 
and having a negative impact on inward migrants and those who 

Page 212



do not speak Welsh.  
 
Similarly, some could consider that the strategy treats other 
languages less favourably, and consequently differentiates 
against residents of ethnic minorities (who possibly speak 
languages apart from Welsh and English), as it does not consider 
opportunities to promote other languages. 
 
As the strategy is drawn-up as a part of the statutory 
requirements of the Welsh Language Measure 2011, it is not 
intended to deal with/address the needs of the population 
regarding other languages. 
 
A number of the strategy's objectives, nevertheless, seek to 
address the need to increase opportunities for people from all 
backgrounds to learn Welsh, and ensure that parents receive 
appropriate support to introduce Welsh to their children and to 
support their children by means of a Welsh medium education.  
Therefore, the objectives of the strategy seek to ensure that 
Welsh is available to all. 
 
The Council also addresses the needs of other languages 
through its Equality responsibilities, and has committed to offer a 
provision where needed, e.g. interpretation needs in well-being 
meetings.   This is underlined in the Equality and Inclusion Policy.   
 
 

Disability  

 

Positive / 

negative / 

none 

We do not consider that anything is included in the strategy that 
would lead to a negative impact on disabled people.  
 
Observations were made about producing bilingual materials and 
the viability of services in general when consulting with the Core 
Equality Group on the new Language Policy in 2022, and 
therefore, some of the work identified under the Language of 
Work and Services section seeks to respond to the need to 
simplify the language being used when communicating with the 
public. 
 
One of the problems raised (more details included in the Policy's 
impact assessment), was that there was a potential negative 
impact on people with cognitive difficulties if the Council does not 
produce materials that follow the principles of Cymraeg Clir. 
   A view was expressed that the Council use language that is too 
formal and jargonistic, and that we needed to consider producing 
more straightforward and clear materials.  
 
As the Council's work under the Welsh Government's More Than 
Just Words Framework also contribute to the Strategy's 
objectives, a positive impact has been identified on groups of 
disabled people also, since the Council's care and social services 
follow the Active Offer principle.  The Council recognises the fact 
that offering services in the first language of individuals can be 
key in the event of illness or disability, that individuals are better 
able to express themselves in their own language, and is 
therefore a key part of offering quality care and service.  The 
internal More Than Just Words forum has been established, 
which will look at opportunities to expand the positive impact.  
 

 

 

Page 213



Gender 

 

Positive / 

negative /  

none 

No impact identified at this time 

Age Positive / 

negative / 

none 

A more detailed analysis of the results of the 2021 census will be 
needed over the next months in order to understand the changes 
that have occurred in terms of language use in different age 
groups, but the Strategy aims to be inclusive and ensure that 
opportunities are offered to people from all ages to use the Welsh 
language across the county.  
 
Language use amongst young people is a specific problem that 
has been identified and therefore particular attention is given 
within the strategy to attempt to address the challenges and have 
a positive impact on language use in the future. This includes 
interventions in the field of education and seeks to address the 
informal and community opportunities for young people to use the 
Welsh language.  
 
As a part of the Council's work and the work of the strategy, we 
will also look at trying to understand the habits of young people 
and seek to gain an understanding of the factors that influence 
their choices and linguistic use in order to be able to plan 
interventions that will have a positive impact in the future.  
 
 

 

Sexual 

orientation 

 

Positive / 

negative /  

none 

No additional impact identified at this time 

Religion or 

belief (or non-
belief) 

Positive / 

negative /  
none 

No additional impact identified at this time 

Gender 

reassignment 

 

Positive / 

negative /  

none 

No additional impact identified at this time 

Pregnancy and 

maternity 

 

Positive / 

negative / 

none 

No negative impact identified at this time. 
Particular attention is given in the strategy to develop the use of 
Welsh in the early years.  This will include trying to influence 
parents, before children reach school age, share information with 
pregnant parents about the advantages of multilingualism, and 
ensure opportunities to introduce Welsh to the family during the 
first months of life. Therefore, there is a specific intention to have 
a positive impact.  
 

Marriage and 

civil 

partnership 

Positive / 

negative /  

none 

No additional impact identified at this time 

The Welsh 

language 

Positive / 

negative / 

none 

.  
The sole intention of the strategy is to find opportunities to have a 
positive impact on the Welsh language and to encourage more 
use of the language amongst the residents of the county.  
 

 

Page 214



Socio-

Economid 

Disadvantage 

Positive / 

negative /  

none 

 
A number of points were raised in the Equality Core Group when 
consulting on the Language Policy last year, about accessibility of 
services and information by the Council in general. It was noted 
that there is a potential impact for some groups in terms of 
access to services as more services go online.  
 
We have also drawn attention in the strategy to the problem that 
some people might be missing out on the opportunity to see and 
use the language because of the cost of resources.  We note that 
we will be considering ways to address this problem.  
 
 

 

* Delete as required 

 

3.2  The Council has a duty under the Equality Act 2010 to contribute positively 
to a fairer society through advancing equality and good relations in its 

activities in the fields of age, gender, sexual orientation, religion, race, 

transgender, disability and pregnancy and maternity. The Council must 

duly address the way any change impacts on these duties.   

 

General Duties 

of the Equality 

Act 

 

Does it have 

an impact?* 

In what way?  What is the evidence? 

Eliminate 
unlawful 

discrimination, 

harassment 

and 

victimisation 

 

Yes / no / 
possible 

 
It is not considered that there is any unlawful discrimination 
because the strategy is being developed under the statutory 
requirements of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 
which notes the need for the Council to provide services 
through the medium of Welsh, and to create a strategy which 
outlines the intentions to promote Welsh within the county. 
 
   
 
 
 

Promote equal 

opportunities 

 

Yes / No / 

possible  

We believe that the actions being outlined in the strategy 
correspond with those requirements and seek to ensure equal 
opportunities to people of all ages and backgrounds to use the 
Welsh language. 
 

Foster good 

relationships 

Yes / No / 

possible  

 
It will be important that we communicate our intentions in 
terms of the strategy clearly in order to foster good 
relationships and ensure that the residents understand why 
we are taking action.  
 
A part of the strategy also addresses the need to raise 
people's awareness to the advantages of bilingualism and the 
importance of offering services through the medium of Welsh. 
We hope that this will foster goodwill and positive attitudes 
towards our work and to the language more generally.  
 
Fostering a good working relationship with partners and other 
organisations will also be key in order to implement the 

Page 215



strategy successfully. 
 
We have created a County language forum, which brings 
together representatives from different organisations and 
community groups, in order to facilitate the work of fostering a 
good relationship (with partners and the public). 

 

* Delete as required 

 

3.3  How does your proposal ensure that you work in accordance with the 

Welsh Language Standards (Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011), to 

ensure that the Welsh language is not treated less favourably than the 

English, and that every opportunity to promote the Welsh language is 

taken (beyond providing bilingual services) and increase opportunities to 

use and learn the language in the community? 

 

The Strategy has been written to reflect the statutory requirements of the Welsh Language Standards 
and the Council's commitment to promote Welsh in the county. 
 
  

 

 
3.4 What other measures or changes could you include to strengthen or 

change the policy / practice so as to have a positive impact on people's 

opportunities to use the Welsh language, and to reduce or prevent any 

detrimental impacts that the policy/practice could have on the Welsh 

language? 

 

None at present. The strategy will be published for public consultation and we will consider any changes 
to strengthen the content and plans as a result of that consultation.     

 

 

 

3.5  How does the proposal show that you have given due regard to the need to 

address inequality due to socio-economic disadvantage? (Please note that 

this relates to closing the inequality gap, rather than improving outcomes 

for everyone only). 

 

The strategy tries to address inequality due to socio-economic disadvantage by trying to ensure that 
every resident oof Gwynedd get adequate opportunities to use the Welsh language.  
We have noted in the draft strategy that the current financial situation (the Council’s operational budget) 
and the cost of living crisis can have an effect on people’s ability to access opportunities and resources 
and to use the Welsh language.  Even though there are no specific plans identified yet to tackle this 
issue, it will be a matter we will need to consider when we review and create yearly work programmes 
for the strategy.  

 

 

 

3.6 What other measures or changes can you include to strengthen or change 

the policy / practice to demonstrate that you have given due regard to the 

need to reduce disproportionate outcomes as a result of socio-economic 

disadvantage, in accordance with the Socio-Economic Act? 

 

Page 216



 
When we have received all the census data from the 2021 Census we will try and identify if there is a 
need for particular support for some communities or groups of people who are experiencing socio-
economic disadvantage to help increase their use of the Welsh language.  
 
As noted above, we will need to consider if the Council needs to implement specific plans during the 
period of the strategy to try and ensure that no one is missing out on opportunities to use the Welsh 
language as a result of socio-economic barriers.  
 

 

 

4) Analysing the results 
 

4.1  Is the policy therefore likely to have a significant, positive impact on any of 

the above?  What is the reason for this? 

 

Positive impact on the Welsh language.   

 

 

 

4.2  Is the policy therefore likely to have a significant, negative impact on any of 

the above?  What is the reason for this? 

 

No 
The strategy reflects a statutory requirement and the need to respond to the linguistic needs of the 

public across the county. 

 

  

 

4.3 What should be done? 

 

Select one of the following: 

 

Continue with the policy/service as it is robust 

 

x 

 

Revise the policy to remove any barriers  

 

 

 

Suspend and abolish the policy as the harmful impacts are too great 

 

 

 

Continue with the policy as any harmful impact can be justified  

 

 

No further steps at present, it is premature to decide, or there is insufficient 

evidence 

 

 

 

 

4.4  If you continue with the plan, what steps will you take to reduce or 

mitigate any negative impacts?  

 

 

 

Page 217



 

 

4.5  If you are not taking any further action to remove or reduce the negative 

impacts, please explain why here.  

 

 

This will be considered further after receiving the results of the consultation.  

 

 

 

5) Monitoring 
 

5.1  What steps will you take to monitor the impact and effectiveness of the 

policy or service (action plan)? 

 

 

 
We will revisit the impact assessment following the consultation period and after we have the results of 
the consultations and changes proposed by the Language Committee.  
An action plan/work programme will be created along side the final strategy, and monitoring 
arrangements will be established which will include reporting on elements through Performance 
Challenging arrangements, departmental reports to the Language Committee and an annual report to 
the Cabinet.  

 
 

Page 218



 

CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

 

Date of meeting:  28 March 2023 

Cabinet Member:  Councillor Nia Jeffreys 

Contact Officer: Anwen Davies, ARFOR Regional Manager 

Sioned Eirian Williams, Head of Economy and 
Community Department 

Contact Telephone 
Number: 

Anwen Davies 32393 

Title of Item: GWYNEDD CIRCULAR ECONOMY 

 

Report to a meeting of the Gwynedd Council Cabinet 
 

 
1.  THE DECISION SOUGHT 

To agree that Cyngor Gwynedd leads on a grant application and programme 
to develop innovative plans in the circular economy field of work.    
 
To authorise the Head of Economy and Community Department and the 
Head of Finance Department to accept a Circular Economy grant offer from 
Welsh Government and establish appropriate arrangements to deliver the 
programme in Gwynedd. 
 
To agree that partnership agreements can be put in place with all Project 
Partners to outline operational details for the projects. 

 
2.  THE REASON FOR THE NEED FOR A DECISION 

The Welsh Government has invited Local Authorities to submit bids for grant 
funding from its Circular Economy Fund. Different Council services have 
collaborated on a bid to fund a package of innovative plans in the circular 
economy field. 

 
Cabinet approval is needed to receive a grant from the Welsh Government 
to fund these interventions, which are a commitment of £5,725,687.73 
 

2023/2024 Expenditure (Capital and 
Revenue) 

£3,470,980.03 

2024/2025 Expenditure (Capital and 
Revenue) 

£2,254,707.70 

 

 

Page 219

Agenda Item 10



 
 
 

3 INTRODUCTION 

3.1      The Circular Economy is a priority by the Welsh Government in 
terms of the work of reusing/recreating/repurposing. The Welsh 
Government's main strategic priorities in the field are: 

• Increasing the efficiency of resources and economic activities 
associated with the circular economy in Wales. 

• Reduction in the waste produced and/or moving up the Waste 
Hierarchy, particularly in terms of increasing re-use and repair; 

• Further increase in recycling rates – including for non-domestic 
properties; 

• Reductions in emissions that relate to the circular economy, 
including de-carbonising waste infrastructure and operations 
and their climate resilience;   

 

3.2     The Economy and Community Department has been coordinating the 
work with different Council Departments and partners over the past 3 
years to develop the Circular Economy in Gwynedd and prepare an 
application to submit to the Welsh Government to fund a package of 
schemes. The schemes will enable Gwynedd to lead within the field, 
and it includes: 

• Interventions for the Food Poverty agenda – creation of food 
hubs; encourage food re-use and school uniform recycling 
campaigns to support vulnerable families in Gwynedd 

• Re-use/Re-create/Re-purpose Interventions – a number of 
projects to develop economic opportunities to create 
opportunities to develop skills in the technology field with Ffiws 
spaces 

• Creation of Repair Cafes in the County 

• Continue to develop Llyfrgell y Pethau in partnership with the 
Council's Libraries Service 

• Develop a Green Shed for Antur Waunfawr to increase 
recycling and recreating. 

• A network of Community Circular Economy Officers to look at 
educating schools; creating plastic-free towns 

• Support developments to recycle occupational health 
equipment. 

• Create a space in Bethesda to serve as business units for 
businesses that follow principles of recycling and re-purposing. 
Maker Space 

• Create a Green Hub to encourage residents to recycle / re-
purpose in Dyffryn Nantlle. 

These projects have been a part of the Circular Economy work over 
the past three years. The intention is to learn from these plans and 
reach out to more partnerships and communities based on the 
success seen over the next few years. It is worth noting that there will 
be more financial opportunities to come from the Welsh Government 

Page 220



 
over the next months. 

 

3.3     We have submitted the bid to the Welsh Government since June 2022. 
It is anticipated that a decision will be made on the bid in March. The 
total value of the bid is £5,725,687.73 and further details about the 
different elements have been included in the table below: 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION LEAD 
BODY 

COST – 
100% 
Grant 

OUTPUTS  

Ffiws 
Spaces/ 
Repair Cafes 

Continue with the 
developments of 
maker/innovation 
spaces and 
develop a 
network of Repair 
Cafes 

Menter Môn 
is the lead 
authority 
with 
support 
from the 
Economy 
Department 

£1,723,110 • Create Ffiws 
Spaces 

• Create Repair 
Cafés  

• Project 
Management 
posts 

• Reduce waste 
sent to landfill 

• Develop 
Innovation in 
spaces and 
support new 
businesses 

Petha/ 
ReMake 
Space 

Continue with the 
development of 
Llyfrgell y Pethau 
in Blaenau 
Ffestiniog/ 
Penygroes/ 
Bethesda.  
Identify 
opportunities to 
expand.  Create a 
ReMake space in 
Bangor 

Economy 
Department 
– Libraries 
Service 
with 
Benthyg 
Cymru 
leading.  In 
terms of the 
ReMake 
space, 
MSParc 
has been 
identified to 
lead with 
Benthyg 
Cymru. 

£890,154 • Increase the 
number of 
items that can 
be borrowed 

• Reduce waste 
sent to landfill 

• Create a multi-
purpose 
creation/re-
purposing 
space  

• Project 
Management 
posts 

• Develop 
Libraries 
services 

Green Hub – 
Siop Griffiths 

Take ownership 
of a building to 
create a Green 
Hub to develop 
schemes in the 
field of 
recycling/re-
purposing 

Siop 
Griffiths 

£249,077 • Convert an 
old building 

• Develop the 
High Street 

• Job Creation 

Yr Hen Bost, 
Bethesda 

Develop High 
Street space into 
a bespoke space 
for 'Green' work 

Partneriaeth 
Ogwen 

£250,000 • Business 
Units 

• Encourage 
businesses 

Page 221



 
Business Units, 
Creation and 
Repair Space 

onto the 
High Street 

• Job Creation 

ALTro Project to re-use 
Occupational 
Health equipment 

BIC 
Innovation
, Antur 
Waunfawr 
and Byw 
Bywyd 
and other 
partnershi
ps 

£350,921 • Create 
bespoke jobs to 
develop the 
scheme further 

• Offer 
occupational 
health 
equipment for 
the people of 
Gwynedd 

• Reduce waste 
sent to landfill 

Green Shed 
Antur 
Waunfawr 

Project to develop 
a new Green 
space at Warws 
Werdd.  
Opportunity to do 
more recycling/re-
purposing work 

Antur 
Waunfawr 

£150,100 • Increase the 
items that 
can be 
reused/re-
created 

• Reduce 
waste sent to 
landfill 

DOLAN Project to create 
3 Circular 
Economy posts in 
Blaenau 
Ffestiniog/ 
Penygroes/ 
Bethesda.  Tie-in 
with Llyfrgell y 
Pethau 

Partneriaeth 
Ogwen 
Siop Griffiths 
Antur Stiniog 

£290,308 • 3 Plastic-free 
Towns 

• Circular 
Economy 
specific 
campaigns 

 

Ar y Lôn A project to take 
MSParc to 
Gwynedd areas, 
take Technology 
and Science to 
rural areas – 
Pwllheli, in 
preparation for 
the Eisteddfod, 
Blaenau 
Ffestiniog; 
Penygroes 

MSParc £124,300 • Six-month 
Pop-Up 
Space 

• Many learning 
about 
Technology 
and Science 

Food Pantry A scheme to 
develop and 
support Food 
Hubs in Gwynedd 
in response to the 
work of 
supporting 
vulnerable 
families and 
communities 

Children 
and 
Supporting 
Families 
Department 

£1,095,889 • Create and 
develop food 
hubs 

• Respond to 
food poverty 
challenges in 
Gwynedd 

• Reduce food 
waste 

 

Page 222



 
Managerial • Monitoring 

and 
Evaluation  

• Project Officer 
in Economy 
and  

• Circular 
Economy 
Project Officer 
in the 
Highways and 
YGC 
Department 
for Clean and 
Tidy 
Communities 

• Behaviour 
Change 
Officers and 
Project 
Manager for 
the 
Environment 
Department 

• Marketing 
work for the 
plan on a 
cross-
departmental 
basis 

• Case study 
work on the 
vision for 
recycling 
centres 

Economy 
Department to 
lead on the 
monitoring and 
evaluation 
work and 
coordinate 
permits for 
Welsh 
Government 
Officer for the 
Highways 
Department to 
correspond 
with the Clean 
and Tidy 
Communities 
work and 
officers from 
the 
Environment 
Department to 
support with 
the creation of 
a new vision 
for the Waste 
and Recycling 
Service 

£682,828 5 Project 
Coordinator/Man
agement Posts 
Marketing 
Campaign for 
Gwynedd 
Support the 
vision to 
increase 
recycling targets 
in the County. 

 

3.4 The Programme contributes to the Council Plan priority as follows:  

Climate and Nature Emergency Plan 

Promoting the circular economy in order to reduce the number of items being 
disposed of and reducing carbon emissions in the supply chain from the 
purchase of new goods 

Supporting People Programme 

Contributing to the food poverty agenda which is a part of the Council's 
response to the cost-of-living crisis. The activity in the bid also contributes to 
the Community Resilience Framework by building on the growing, 
preparation, cooking food, local produce hub provision in the Supporting 
People Hubs. 

Economy and Community 

Page 223



 
Contribute to the broader work of supporting businesses to thrive; 

• Encourage local enterprises to develop and create and sustain jobs 

• Promotion of Town Centres 

Environment 

This bid supports a campaign to increase recycling targets and promote the 
broader principles and work of the circular economy. 

The bid includes resources to appoint Officers to coordinate activities and to 
ensure that we deliver in line with the grant requirements, terms and 
conditions. Work will be done to create an internal structure to ensure that all 
activities across departments are coordinated and that they are fed into the 
Climate Change Plan. 
The outputs of the programme will contribute to the statutory re-use data and 
targets for the Environment Department. 

 
4 THE RATIONALE AND JUSTIFICATION FOR RECOMMENDING THE 

DECISION 

 

This is an opportunity for Cyngor Gwynedd to be pioneering in the Circular 
Economy field.  Also, it is an opportunity to develop projects that will develop 
and consolidate the communities of Gwynedd. By being innovative in their 
responses to community challenges in terms of providing opportunities and 
services for the residents of the County, e.g. training opportunities; 
enterprising opportunities; skills development; new business opportunities; 
creating and protecting jobs; developing and strengthening the supply chain 
and responding to the challenges of tackling poverty in our communities. 

 
5 NEXT STEPS AND TIMETABLE 

 

We expect to receive approval from the Welsh Government in March 2023. 
 
Implementation of managerial arrangements and commission partners 
(March 2023 onwards) with all activity to commence from April 2023 onwards 
until the end of March 2025. 

 
6 ANY CONSULTATIONS UNDERTAKEN PRIOR TO RECOMMENDING 

THE DECISION 

The Statutory Officers’ observations: 

 

Chief Finance Officer  

“I have no objection to the decision sought.  As the report makes clear, the grant proposed 
will give Cyngor Gwynedd the opportunity to support a range of social enterprises.  I can 
confirm that Finance officers will support the Economy and Community Department in 
administering any grant money we receive from the Circular Economy Fund.” 

 

Page 224



 
Monitoring Officer 

“It is important that arrangements for appropriate funding agreements are put in 

place once that point is reached”. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 225



CYNGOR GWYNEDD CABINET 

Report to a meeting of Cyngor Gwynedd Cabinet 

Date of meeting:  28 March, 2023 

Cabinet Member:  Councillor Dyfrig Siencyn  

 

Contact officer: Sian Jones, Tourism, Marketing and Events Manager 

Gareth Jones, Assistant Head of Environment 
Department  

Contact details: sianjones@gwynedd.llyw.cymru  

garethjones3@gwynedd.llyw.cymru  

Title of Item: Cyngor Gwynedd’s response to the Welsh 

Government’s consultation on establishing a 
statutory licensing scheme in Wales for holiday 
accommodation   

1       DECISION SOUGHT  

Support for Gwynedd Council’s response to the Visit Wales consultation on 
establishing a statutory licensing scheme in Wales for holiday accommodation.   

2       THE REASON FOR THE NEED FOR A DECISION  

2.1       On 16 December 2022, the Welsh Government announced a consultation to establish 
a statutory licensing scheme for visitor accommodation providers in Wales and the 
closing date for a response was 17 March 2023.   

The consultation is seeking feedback on the possible options for introducing a 
statutory licensing scheme for all types of visitor accommodation, including short-
term holiday lets that would make a licence mandatory with the aim of raising 
standards in the Tourism industry. They are seeking opinion on the scheme's form, 
nature and implementation in addition to the requirements for creating a statutory 
licensing system here in Wales.  

A cross-departmental discussion was held before forming the feedback to the 27 
questions that form part of Visit Wales' opinion finding questionnaire. We are seeking 
the Cabinet's support of Cyngor Gwynedd's viewpoint which is stated in the response 
to the questionnaire.  

 

Page 225

Agenda Item 11

mailto:garethjones3@gwynedd.llyw.cymru


 

3.   BACKGROUND 

3.1    The visitor economy is changing rapidly, and the role of visitor accommodation  
presents major challenges for communities across Wales. In July 2022, the Welsh 
Government committed to establishing a statutory licensing scheme for holiday 
accommodation as part of a package of measures to address the negative impact of 
second homes and short-term holiday lets on the availability and affordability of 
housing for local people in our communities.  The proposed statutory licensing system 
could be used to facilitate the process of collecting the levy and help ensure that there 
is accurate intelligence on all providers of visitor accommodation so that the levy can 
be applied fairly. Visit Wales already operates a voluntary and free of charge quality 
grading scheme for visitor accommodation.  

3.2        During the last year, the Welsh Government has been engaging with stakeholders and 
has been considering how such a scheme could work in Wales. Stakeholders who 
participated in the initial scoping exercise and the research for this proposal raised 
concerns that certain parts of the sector do not meet or comply with their statutory 
obligations. 

3.3       A statutory licensing scheme is intended to provide the mechanism to address this by 
requiring all providers to evidence that they have met certain requirements in order 
to operate, such as having the correct insurance for accommodation providers, 
confirmation of planning permission to allow the premises to be let, evidence of a fire 
risk assessment, gas safety certificate, and proof of electrical safety, to list a few 
examples. 

3.4        This scheme will ensure there is a consistent standard (in terms of submitting evidence 
of those requirements) that all operators must meet.  

3.5       A statutory licensing scheme would also provide better data and a comprehensive 
register for the Welsh Government and relevant authorities, which is not currently 
available. Understanding the scale and nature of the sector will be an important tool 
in the deployment and development of policies and services, either at a local or 
national level. 

3.6      It is proposed that all types of visitor accommodation should be included under this 
scheme and enforcement steps would include inspections, mainly of documentation 
and the original evidence to ensure they are valid and accurate. It is recommended 
that the register of licensed providers should be made public and available to 
prospective visitors to confirm the compliance of the premises they wish to stay at. 

3.7      The Council's Planning Policy Service submitted a report accompanied by research on 
holiday homes to the Cabinet on 15 December 2020. One of the recommendations of 
that paper was that the Welsh Government should consider setting up a statutory 
licensing system for holiday accommodation in Wales to ensure better regulation of 
parts of the sector that are currently unregulated. 

 

 

 

Page 226



 

3.8       The consultation asks for opinion on the Welsh Government's intention to establish a 
statutory licensing scheme for visitor accommodation providers in Wales.  

 3.9     The Council supports the principle of developing a mandatory registration scheme for 
holiday accommodation, however it should be noted that some within the sector have 
voiced concerns regarding creating additional processes for tourism businesses that 
are already facing challenges in rebuilding their business due to Brexit, Covid and the 
cost-of-living challenges. Any new registration processes and arrangements must be 
as simple as possible. 

 

 
Response 
3.10   As part of the consultation process, 27 specific questions are asked to facilitate the 

process of responding. The draft prepared in response to these questions can be seen 
in Appendix 1. The following is a summary of the main points made in the draft 
response to the consultation: 

3.11 The Council supports the principle of establishing a statutory licensing scheme for 
accommodation providers in Wales. The mandatory system will offer a fair system for all 

accommodation providers. It is considered that the licensing scheme is one of a range 
of necessary mechanisms needed to seek control over the use made of houses as 
holiday accommodation. Therefore, the Council fully supports the principle of the 
proposal and its obvious related advantages.  

3.12 It is emphasised that it will be necessary to ensure that appropriate training and 
resources are available to ensure the success of this control measure. If there are plans 
to transfer the responsibilities for enforcement and ensure standards related to this 
this licensing scheme to Local Government, there is significant concern regarding the 
resources required to complete and ensure the success of any scheme.   

3.13 It is believed that a mandatory licensing procedure is required as a means of regulating 
the sector. There is currently a lack of a regulatory mechanism along with a mechanism 
to ensure that the expected standards are met and complied with (health and safety). 
Furthermore, a mandatory licensing system would have the added advantage of being 
a pool of information (type, quality and location) that will assist in getting a better 
understanding of the current provision. 

3.14 It is believed that operating a licensing system would ensure that everyone who 
provides holiday accommodation operates to the same requirements therefore 
ensuring a level playing field and consistency. 

3.15 There would be a need to agree on the evidence required and the standards needed 
to be achieved as this may entail significant work.  

3.16 We emphasise the need for the Welsh Government to create a national list of visitor 
accommodation to ascertain who is operating in the industry. This is of crucial 
importance to improve an understanding of the tourism sector's performance locally 
and to assist in forming relevant strategies and policies in the future ensuring an 
effective platform of communication between the Welsh Government and local 
Authorities and visitor accommodation providers in Wales.  

 
 
 

Page 227



 
3.17 Due to the cost implications, the Council disagrees with the question of processing on 

a national level and enforcing locally through Local Authorities. The Council does not 
have the capacity to operate the enforcement element. Many additional resources 
will be needed to deliver this especially in the areas where there is a higher level of 
holiday accommodation such as in Gwynedd. There is a need to ensure that licensing 
arrangements etc. are used rather than duplicating for mandatory licensing. 

3.18     We draw attention to the consideration of obtaining a restricted licence for one-off or 
annual events. There is concern that the requirements linked with letting holiday 
accommodation for this type of use, thus having to correspond with all the associated 
requirements, may be a burden given the provision period. Is there a more flexible 
and less burdensome approach that could be taken?   

3.19 It is agreed that visitor accommodation providers should provide the information / 
documentation and that they should be required to provide evidence/confirmation 
that they are compliant with the requirements. 

3.20 We concur with the principle that non-compliant visitor accommodation providers 
should face enforcement measures. Without appropriate enforcement measures in 
place, the exercise and the requirements will be worthless, but this will require 
significant additional resources, and this should be implemented on a national level. 

3.21 The Authority agrees with the need to set a standard fee. We concur with the principle 
subject to the level of the intended fee. That is, if the cost related to the fee is small in 
comparison, it may be easier and acceptable to set the same fee. It is also believed 
that it is contingent on the implications of potential inspections of visitor 
accommodation. 

3.22     In terms of the frequency of renewal it is recommended that renewal should be based 
on the frequency needed to renew associated documents and that the licence number 
be displayed by the accommodation provider and on any third party digital 
promotional platform. 

3.23 It is recommended that an element of the licensing fee or visitor levy be used to 
highlight and promote the Welsh language and culture within different areas.  

 

4. THE RATIONALE AND JUSTIFICATION FOR RECOMMENDING THE 

DECISION 

4.1 We welcome the desire and motivation that has prompted the Government to 
undertake this consultation to establish a statutory licensing system for visitor 
accommodation providers in Wales.   It is intended to submit the Council's feedback 
for the Welsh Government's further consideration in developing structures to 
introduce a statutory licensing system for holiday accommodation providers in Wales. 

 

5. NEXT STEPS AND TIMETABLE  

 
5.1  Cyngor Gwynedd's response to the consultation will be confirmed with Visit Wales.   

ANY CONSULTATIONS UNDERTAKEN PRIOR TO RECOMMENDING THE 

DECISION 

Page 228



Monitoring Officer’s Observations: 

“No observations to add in relation to propriety” 

Observations of the Head of Finance Department:  

“The decision sought does not create a financial commitment.  I have no objection to the  
 contents of the response from the perspective of financial proprietary.” 

 

 

Page 229



Consultation on Statutory licensing scheme for all visitor accommodation providers in Wales – 
response deadline 17/3/23 

 

Summary of consultation questions  

Q1 Do you agree or disagree with establishing a licensing scheme for all visitor 
accommodation in Wales? 

• Agree 

• Disagree 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answers? What impact, positive or negative, do you think a 
statutory licensing scheme for all visitor accommodation will have? 

AGREE:     The Authority agrees that a mandatory licensing system needs to be in place as a 

means to regulate the sector. Currently there is a lack of a regulatory mechanism as well as a 
mechanism that will ensure that the expected standards are reached and maintained (health 

and safety).  
Furthermore, a mandatory licensing system would have the added advantage of being a pool of 

information (type, quality and location) that will assist to get a better understanding of the current 

provision together with identifying future needs (when forming strategies and relevant policies). It is 

also an information tool to improve contact and communication with the sector.    

Q2  If you disagree with the proposal to establish a licensing scheme, do you agree with the 
creation of a registration scheme for all visitor accommodation in Wales? 

• Agree 

• Disagree – I do not want a licensing scheme or a registration scheme 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answers? What impact, positive or negative, do you think 
a registration scheme for all visitor accommodation will have? 

 

NOT RELEVANT REF TO QUESTION 1. 

 

Q3 Do you agree or disagree that introducing a statutory licensing scheme will ensure a level 

playing field? 

• Agree 

• Disagree 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answers? 
AGREE: It is deemed that a licensing system would ensure that everyone who provides holiday 

accommodation would operate to the same requirements and therefore ensure fairness and 

consistency.  

Furthermore, a licensing system rather than registration would ensure that specific requirements 

would need to be reached and to submit evidence to support their validity to be holiday 

accommodation providers.  

Page 229



There would be a need to agree on the evidence required and the standards needed to be achieved 

as this may entail significant work.  

Q4 Do you agree or disagree that the Welsh Government needs a register of accommodation 

providers in Wales to know who is operating in the industry? 

• Agree 

• Disagree 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answers? 
AGREE:  Vitally important to get a better understanding of the performance of the local tourism 

sector as well as assisting when drafting future relevant Strategies and Policies.  

Sustainable Visitor Economy + ownership + marketing the Gwynedd offer.  

Q4A   Do you agree or disagree that local authorities need a register of visitor accommodation 

providers in Wales to know who is operating in the industry? 

• Agree 

• Disagree 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answers? 

• DISAGREE  : See question 4 above. Cyngor Gwynedd believes that this should be a national 

process in terms of the consistency of data collection and operates to national standards and 

supervision.     

 

Q5 Do you agree or disagree that introducing a statutory licensing scheme will ensure an 

effective platform for communication between the Welsh Government and local authorities and 

providers of visitor accommodation in Wales? 

• Agree 

• Disagree 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answers? 
AGREE: Dependent on ensuring that the correct process is followed and that appropriate resources are 

available. Current deficiency in terms of communicating the locations that have not been graded - this 

would allow communication and promote the whole offer fairly. It would also improve the availability 

of information to enable timely communication with all accommodation providers. This was highlighted 

as a challenge during COVID  

Q6 Do you agree or disagree that introducing a statutory licensing scheme will ensure 

enhanced confidence in the visitor accommodation in Wales and accommodation providers in 

Wales? 

• Agree 

Page 230



• Disagree 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answers? 
AGREE: Having a communication strategy and a period to raise awareness is an inevitable part of the 

success of the prospective Licensing Scheme. By raising public awareness of the aim of the Licensing 

Scheme it is likely to ensure that individuals who are looking for holiday accommodation providers will 

have more confidence that the essential requirements (health and safety) are evidenced by the 

holiday accommodation and will therefore confirm the validity and credibility of the providers.    

There are now many independent reviews for providers via digital platforms - but this could be a 

consistent way of ensuring standards.    

Q7  It is our view that a statutory scheme should be delivered on a hybrid basis, taking a 

national approach to core elements such as registering providers and processing applications, 

with enforcement to be undertaken by local authorities as required. Do you agree or disagree 

with this? 

• Agree – scheme should be delivered nationally 

• Disagree – If you disagree, how best do you think the scheme should be administered 

and enforced? Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answers? 
DISAGREE: Cyngor Gwynedd does not have the capacity or the staff to be able to undertake this 

requirement. It would be unreasonable to expect Local Authorities to enforce this field and this needs 

to be identified as a national scheme that marries into the promotion and marketing aims of the Wales 

holiday accommodation offer.   

Need to ensure that it is possible to get information from the national register to a local authority 

level, together with ensuring that it is possible to get local information about provision in different 

areas.    

Q8 It is proposed that all visitor accommodation is considered within the 

scope of a statutory scheme. Do you agree or disagree with this? 

• Agree 

• Disagree 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answer? 
AGREE: To create a fair system all types of accommodation need to be included within the scope of a 

statutory scheme. A mechanism should be created to manage accommodation not currently managed 

and no additional burden should be placed on those managed via systems such as e.g., licensing. Is 

there a threat that this would duplicate procedures that already exist. I.e., are there similar 

requirements by Visit Wales or by caravan site licensing?    

There are systems in place for a variety of holiday accommodation e.g. licensing for caravan sites and 

relevant legislation, Visit Wales / AA etc. 'voluntary' Holiday Accommodation grading. 

Page 231



A system should be developed that allows permitting current management systems of some types of 

accommodation e.g., caravans, and that this element is a tier of the management system / recording 

wider evidence.   

Q9 Can you identify any visitor accommodation that should be exempt from a statutory 

scheme and what are the reasons for your answer (e.g. accommodation that is used solely for 

education purposes or vulnerable groups)? 
COMMENT: Arrangements need to be considered for holiday accommodation sectors that are 

already under supervision e.g. licensed so that there is no duplication.  

Q10 We are proposing that whoever is responsible for the letting of the accommodation for 

holiday purposes on caravan and/or camping sites (i.e. the park owner or individual 

owner) should be required to obtain a licence. Do you agree or disagree with this 

proposal? 

• Agree 

• Disagree 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answer? 

AGREE It is important that the person responsible for the letting arrangements ensures that the 

essential standards are reached. Power and responsibility is in their hands.  There is a need to ensure 

that licensing arrangements etc. are used rather than duplication for mandatory licensing.    

Q10a   Do you have any other comments relating to a statutory scheme and the caravan and 

camping sector? 
         None to note. 

Q11 We are proposing that a licence is required even if the visitor accommodation is operating 

infrequently (including one night per year). Do you agree or disagree with this proposal? 

• Agree 

• Disagree 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answer? 
AGREE: The letting frequency should not affect the need to receive a licence especially if there is a 

need to test standard competence in terms of health and safety and quality for prospective 

customers. It is therefore vitally important that all the providers are included.  

Different definitions may need to be considered for holiday accommodation (e.g. definitions for 

planning purposes) when considering this aspect it may of course mean that use requires a licence 

and perhaps not planning consent.   

Q12 Do you agree with the need for a limited license for one-off or annual events? 

• Agree 

Page 232



• Disagree If you disagree, do you have any suggestions for how providers of 
accommodation who operate on a temporary basis for one-off events could be 
regulated to ensure visitor safety and fairness? Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answer? 
NEITHER AGREE OR DISAGREE: Licensing arrangements are in place for one-off events such as the 

Eisteddfod that may satisfy this need and therefore it is important not to duplicate.    

In Wales the Eisteddfod/Agricultural Shows are examples of annual festivals that lead to an increase 

in the demand for occasional provision of holiday accommodation in a specific area. In some areas 

where the demand is higher than provision, examples/occasions arise when property owners decide 

to let their own property for a specific period in response to the demand. This provision can often be 

an affordable provision and an easy way of satisfying the need.    

We are concerned about the requirements linked with letting holiday accommodation for this type of 

use, and in so doing would correspond with all the associated requirements that may be a burden for 

the provision period. It is questioned if there is a more flexible and less burdensome approach that 

could be taken?     

Q13 We are proposing that a provider of visitor accommodation should supply the above 

information / documentation and be required to provide evidence/confirmation that they 

comply with the requirements as detailed above. Do you agree or disagree with this proposal? 

• Agree 

• Disagree. If you disagree, what information / documentation / evidence should 

providers have to produce in order to apply for a licence? 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answer? 

AGREE:  What is requested appears to be essential information to ensure that the holiday 

accommodation provision reaches the requirements in terms of standards and health and safety.  

 

Q14   We are proposing that inspections are carried out on a 1:50 ratio using a risk-based approach 

and additional inspections in response to customer complaints or other concerns brought 

to the attention of the licensing authority. Do you agree or disagree with this proposal? 

• Agree 

• Disagree If you disagree, what would you propose doing instead to ensure licence 
holders meet the relevant criteria? 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answer? 

DISAGREE: 
Frequency of inspections are not clear. I.e., is the intention to conduct an inspection at a rate of 1:50 

annually for providers?  Although the Authority  does not object to the principle of using a 

rate/percentage, it should be borne in mind that there is a wide range in terms of the type and number 

of holiday accommodation across the whole of Wales. Therefore, it would be necessary to ensure that 

Page 233



the appropriate resources are available to undertake the inspections especially if this is a burden on 

the Local Authority. Furthermore, it is noted that it is not clear from the consultation document who 

would be responsible for undertaking the inspections.    

Would it be more prudent to ensure that the inspections are held occasionally over a period of time, 

e.g. every two years. This will ensure consistency.  

Furthermore, it is deemed that conducting a percentage of the inspections based on complaints is 

unwise. It is considered (when appropriate and relevant) that every complaint should lead to an 

inspection, with the principle of conducting occasional inspections relevant to all other operators.     

Q15 Do you agree with the principle that visitor accommodation providers that do not 

comply should be subject to enforcement measures? 

• Agree If you agree, which enforcement measures do you think should / 
should not be used? 

• Disagree. If you disagree, what alternative measures would you suggest to 
ensure compliance? 

• Neither agree or disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answer? 
AGREE:  Unless there are appropriate enforcement measures in place, the exercise and 

requirements are worthless, however this will require significant additional resources and it should 

be implemented at a national level.  

Considering that no relevant Legislation exists in this field regarding safety, new Legislation will need 

to be developed and implemented to ensure standards with significant resources provision. The 

provision to ensure compliance will vary from Authority to Authority in accordance with the number 

of visitor accommodation that exists in each County.   

Q16.   Do you agree that a fit and proper person test or similar should be included as part 

of the scheme requirements for all visitor accommodation providers? 

• Agree 

• Disagree. If you disagree, what other ways do you think could be used to 
establish that providers are suitable people to let accommodation to visitors? 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answer? What matters do you think should or 
should not be considered by the licensing authority when deciding if a person is 
fit and proper to be granted a licence? 

AGREE: This is a consideration with licensing arrangements usually and is fine in principle, to ensure 

that the individual is eligible and to give the person staying in the accommodation confidence in its 

competence. It is also considered important that there are specific criteria for the fit and proper 

person test set out clearly to ensure consistency in the process.   

Q17 We would like your views on whether all visitor accommodation 

providers should pay the same standard fee or should the fees be scaled (i.e. based on the type 

and size of the visitor accommodation)? 

Page 234



COMMENT:  The Authority agrees with the principle that all accommodation providers should pay a 
fee. Agreeing to this principle is subject to the level of fee  to be adopted. The fee would also have to 
be subject to the relevant costs associated with the task - i.e number of lets / bedspaces the fee 
should reflect the implications due to size of the operation 

17a   Do you agree that all visitor accommodation providers should pay the same fee? 
o Agree 

o Disagree 

o Neither Agree or Disagree 

o What are the reasons for your answer? 
 REF TO QUESTION 17   

17b Do you agree that fees should be scaled based on the size of the visitor accommodation? 

o Agree 

o Disagree 
o Neither Agree or Disagree 

o What are the reasons for your answer? 

 
Ref to Q17 

 

Q18 In Question 12, we asked about Limited licences for one-off or annual events. Do 
you agree or disagree that providers could apply for a one-off licence at a reduced cost. 

• Agree 

• Disagree 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answer? 
NEITHER AGREE OR DISAGREE: If undertaking inspections is part of the cost of the fee, and if 

inspections are not undertaken for one-off providers, then it will not be appropriate for these 

providers to pay the standard fee.  

Q19 How often should a visitor accommodation provider be required to renew their 

licence? 

• Annually 

• Every 2 years 

• Every 3 years 

• Every 4 years 

• Every 5 years 

• What are the reasons for your answer? 
COMMENTS: Should the renewal frequency be based on how often the associated documents 

should be renewed? I.e., for example, should it be a requirement to submit a Gas Safety Test 

Certificate, how often should this test be renewed (together with other tests)?  Either the renewal 

Page 235



period is in line with other essential requirements or there is a system in place where the Authority 

has to be notified of this latest information.    

Q20 If the frequency of renewal is less often than annual, do you agree or disagree that 

visitor accommodation providers be required to do an annual review i.e. upload up-to-date 

evidence/confirmation that they comply with their license requirements? 

• Agree 

• Disagree 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answer? 
AGREE: See the justification to question 19 above.    

 

Q21 We are proposing that as part of the licence application process, accommodation 

providers are asked to give their consent to the information they supply being shared 

between key authorities and partners for the purposes of communication, safety, 

compliance, enforcement and implementation of a visitor levy. Do you agree or disagree 

with this proposal? 

• Agree 

• Disagree. If you disagree, can you say which information (if any) you do consider 
should be shared between key authorities and partners? 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answer? 
AGREE: This is essential and key to ensure that the requirements on the operators are not too 

burdensome and avoid duplication.  

Q22   Do you agree or disagree with the proposal that all visitor accommodation providers 

should be required to display their licence number on all advertising/marketing materials and 

at their visitor accommodation? 

• Agree 

• Disagree 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answer? 
AGREE: This appears to be a reasonable requirement and gives peace of mind/confidence in an easy 

way (visual) that the operators comply with the essential requirements, namely that they have 

reached the essential requirements and are eligible to receive a licence.  

Q23    Do you agree or disagree with the proposal that all online travel agents (OTAs), travel trade 

organisations, other booking and social media channels, marketing platforms and self-catering 

agencies SHOULD BE REQUIRED to display the licence number of the visitor accommodation they 

are promoting on their listings and/or adverts and be subject to sanctions if they deliberately or 

negligently advertise unlicensed visitor accommodation? 

Page 236



• Agree – Which Sanctions do you think should be imposed in these circumstances ? 

• Disagree – Are there any sanctions in particular that you do not consider 
should be imposed in these circumstances ? 

• Neither Agree or Disagree 

• What are the reasons for your answer? 
AGREE:  It is taken that the first step should be a financial penalty, then if the situation does not 

change it would then be appropriate to consider further measures, for example revoking the licence.    

Q24 We would like to know your views on the effects that a statutory licensing scheme for 

all visitor accommodation would have on the Welsh language, specifically on opportunities for 
people to use Welsh and on treating the Welsh language no less favorably than 
English. What effects do you think there may be? How could positive effects be increased, or 
negative effects be mitigated? 
COMMENT: Can an element of the licensing fee or visitor levy be used to highlight and promote the 

Welsh Language and culture within different areas.   

The provision and support available for business in terms of use of the Welsh language and a Sense 

of Place can be highlighted e.g. Helo Blod and Visit Wales Sense of Place Guidance. 

Q25 Do you have any insight or evidence on the impact of any different type of schemes that 
are already running, or approaches taken elsewhere in the world that you think the Welsh 
Government could learn from or implement? 
COMMENT: Believe that it is worthwhile referring to the arrangements that are operated in 

Northern Ireland and perhaps we need something similar here? 

https://www.tourismni.com/business-guidance/sector/accommodation/accommodation-getting-

started/what-do-you-need-to-consider/ 

Q26   Do you have any other comments on a statutory licencing scheme for all visitor 
accommodation not covered in your answers to the above? 

COMMENT: It is considered that the Licensing Scheme is one of a range of essential mechanisms 

that need to be implemented to try and get control over the use made of housing as holiday 

accommodation. Therefore, the principle of the proposal is fully supported, and it is considered that 

there are obvious associated advantages.  

It is emphasised that it will be necessary to ensure that appropriate training and resources are 

available to ensure the success of this control measure.   

If there are plans to transfer the responsibilities for enforcement and ensure attached standard with 

this licensing scheme to Local Government, there is significant concern regarding the resources 

required to complete and ensure the success of any scheme.  

Even though the Authority supports the principle of setting up a Statutory registration scheme in 

Wales for holiday accommodation, it must be noted that some businesses within the sector have 

raised concerns about the creation of further processes the tourism industry will have to complete. 

Businesses whom are facing challenges to re-establish their business following Brexit, the Covid 

pandemic and the cost-of-living situation. It is vital therefore that the system to be rolled out is as 

simple and less onerous as possible. 

Q27 Is there anything else you wish to say which you think would help the Welsh Government 

proceed with their proposals. NO FURTHER COMMENTS 

Page 237

https://www.tourismni.com/business-guidance/sector/accommodation/accommodation-getting-started/what-do-you-need-to-consider/
https://www.tourismni.com/business-guidance/sector/accommodation/accommodation-getting-started/what-do-you-need-to-consider/


 

Page 238


	Agenda
	5 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 7 MARCH
	6 PENYBERTH, PENRHOS CARE HOME BUSINESS CASE
	Strategic Outline Business Case
	Appendix A - Penrhos Risk Register
	Appendix D - FINAL EQIA Screening Template - Penrhos Care Home 10 Feb 23
	Appendix E - HIA Penrhos 10.02.2022 FINAL V0.03

	7 ONE-OFF BIDS 2023-24
	Appendix 1 v2- One-off Bids 23-24 - Cabinet 28.03.23
	Appendix 2 v2- One-off Bids 23-24 - Cabinet 28.03.23
	Appendix 3 v2- One-off Bids 23-24 - Cabinet 28.03.23

	8 YSGOL FELINWNDA
	Appendix A - Local Member's Comments
	Appendix B - Options Appraisal Table
	Appendix C - Impact Assessments
	Equality Impact Assessment interim
	Saesneg Asesiad Effaith Llesiant  
	Saesneg Asesiad Effaith Cymunedol
	Saesneg Asesiad Effaith ar Drefniadau Teithio 
	Saesneg Asesiad Effaith ar Ansawdd a Safonau_Addysg 


	9 GWYNEDD LANGUAGE STRATEGY 2023
	Strategy Consultation Draft 2023-2033
	Impact Assessment March 2023

	10 GWYNEDD CIRCULAR ECONOMY
	11 CYNGOR GWYNEDD'S RESPONSE TO THE WELSH GOVERNMENT'S CONSULTATION ON ESTABLISHING A STATUTORY LICENSING SCHEME IN WALES FOR HOLIDAY ACCOMMODATION
	Response to Questions


